

International Committee for Future Accelerators

Sponsored by the Particles and Fields Commission of IUPAP

# Beam Dynamics Newsletter

**No. 56** 

# Issue Editors: W. Leemans, W. Chou, M. Uesaka

Editor in Chief: W. Chou

December 2011

# Contents

1 I	OREWORD	7
1.1	FROM THE INCOMING ICFA CHAIR	7
1.2	FROM THE ICUIL CHAIR	8
1.3	FROM THE EDITORS	9
2	WHITE PAPER OF THE ICFA-ICUIL JOINT TASK FORCE – HIGH POWER LASER TECHNOLOGY FOR ACCELERATORS	10
E	XECUTIVE SUMMARY	10
2.1	LASER APPLICATIONS FOR FUTURE HIGH-ENERGY AND HIGH-INTENSITY ACCELERATORS	13
	<ul> <li>2.1.1 Introduction</li></ul>	13 14 14 18 21 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 32 32 32 33 33 34 35 26
	<ul> <li>2.1.7 Laser Stripping of H<sup>-</sup> Particles in High-Intensity Proton Accelerators</li> <li>2.1.7.1 Laser Stripping of H<sup>-</sup> Particles for SNS</li> <li>2.1.7.2 Laser Stripping of H<sup>-</sup> Particles for Project X</li> <li>2.1.7.2.1 Direct Laser Ionization</li></ul>	36 36 39 39 39 40
2.2	LASER APPLICATIONS FOR LIGHT SOURCES	40
	<ul> <li>2.2.1 Lasers for RF Accelerator-Based Light Sources</li> <li>2.2.1.1 Guns and Heaters</li> <li>2.2.1.2 FEL Seeding</li> <li>2.2.1.3 Lasers for Users</li> </ul>	41 41 43 48

	2.2.2 Lasers for Laser Plasma Accelerator Driven FELs	49
	2.2.3 Thomson Scattering Sources for X-ray and Gamma-ray Production	50
2.3	LASER APPLICATIONS FOR MEDICAL PARTICLE BEAM THERAPY	51
	2.3.1 Introduction	51
	2.3.2 Laser Particle Beams for Medical Applications	52
	2.3.2.1 Ion Beam Production Mechanisms (including Targets)	52
	2.3.2.2 Ion Beam Parameters to Treatment Area	55
	2.3.2.3 Reproducibility and Reliability	56
	2.3.2.4 Electron Beams for Radiotherapy	57
	2.3.3 Requirements for Lasers for Ion Acceleration	57
	2.3.4 Needed Roadmap for Laser Development	58
	2.3.4.1 Required Developments on Laser and Target Side	58
	2.3.4.2 Clinical Development	59
	2.3.4.3 Laboratories Involved, Their Status and Plans	59
2.4	LASER TECHNOLOGY DEVELOPMENT ROADMAPS	60
	2.4.1 Introduction	60
	2.4.2 Fiber Lasers for Laser Based Particle Acceleration	61
	2.4.2.1 Fiber Laser State-of-the-Art	61
	2.4.2.1 Fiber Laser Technology Challenges	64
	2423 Roadman	67
	2.4.3 Solid-State Laser Technology Development Plan	70
	2.4.4 High Average Power OPCPA for Laser Plasma Accelerator Application	ns. 72
	2.4.4.1 Optical Chirped Pulse Amplification	72
	2.4.4.2 High Average Power OPCPA	73
	2.4.4.3 OPCPA for Laser Plasma Accelerator Applications	74
	2.4.4.4 OPCPA Development Roadmap	74
	2.4.5 CO <sub>2</sub> Laser Technology for Accelerator Applications	75
	2.4.5.1 Applications of CO <sub>2</sub> Laser Technology	75
	2.4.5.2 Current State-of-the-Art, Challenges, Identifying Path of	
	Technological Solution	76
	2.4.6 Facility Class Lasers for Particle Accelerator Applications	78
	2.4.6.1 Introduction and State-of-the-Art	78
	2.4.6.2 <i>R&amp;D</i> Challenges	80
	2.4.6.3 Summary and Applicability to Particle Acceleration	81
2.5	References	82
<b>3</b> A	ACTIVITY REPORTS	88
3.1	SIXTH INTERNATIONAL ACCELERATOR SCHOOL FOR LINEAR COLLIDERS	88
4	WORKSHOP AND CONFERENCE REPORTS	01
	2011 Differential agen Acceleration Workshop (DLA2011)	
4.1	2011 DIELECTRIC LASER ACCELERATION WORKSHOP (DLA2011)	91
	4.1.1 Introduction	91
	4.1.2 Accelerator Application	92 02
	4.1.2.1 Fign-Energy Conners	93

	4.1.2.2 X-ray Light Sources	94
	4.1.2.3 Medical Devices	94
	4.1.2.4 Summary and Outlook for DLA Applications	95
	4.1.3 Photonic Accelerator Structures and Optical Materials	95
	4.1.3.1 Current State of the Art in PBG Accelerator Design and Fabrication	96
	4.1.3.2 Short-Term Roadmap for Development of Photonic Crystal	DLA
	Structures	<i>9</i> 8
	4.1.3.3 Summary and Outlook for Photonic Structures	99
	4.1.4 Lasers for Dielectric Particle Accelerators	99
	4.1.4.1 Laser Requirements for a DLA Based Collider	100
	4.1.4.2 State-of-the-Art in Fiber Lasers	100
	4.1.4.3 Baseline Design and Options	101
	4.1.4.4 <i>R&amp;D Challenges and Opportunities</i>	102
	4.1.4.5 Potential Game-Changers	103
	4.1.4.6 Laser Technology Outlook	104
	4.1.5 Conclusion	104
	4.1.6 Acknowledgments	105
	4.1.7 References	105
4.2	50 <sup>TH</sup> ICFA ADVANCED BEAM DYNAMICS WORKSHOP ON ENERGY RECOVER	RY
	LINACS (ERL2011)	108
4.3	FFAG 2011	110
4.4	INTERNATIONAL WORKSHOP ON BEAM COOLING AND RELATED TOPICS	
	(COOL2011)	112
5	RECENT DOCTORAL THESES	113
5.1	HIGH CURRENT PROTON FIXED-FIELD ALTERNATING-GRADIENT ACCELERA DESIGNS	ATOR 113
5 7	NOVEL EEAC CANTER AND TRANSBORT I DIE DESIGNS FOR CHARGED BAR	
5.2	THERAPY	11CLE
6	FORTHCOMING REAM DVNAMICS EVENTS	115
U		
6.1	51 <sup>31</sup> ICFA ADVANCED BEAM DYNAMICS WORKSHOP ON FUTURE LIGHT SOU (FLS2012)	URCES
6.2	52 <sup>nd</sup> ICFA Advanced Beam Dynamics Workshop on High Intensity a High Brightness Hadron Beams (HB2012)	ND 115
6.3	XXIII RUSSIAN PARTICLE ACCELERATOR CONFERENCE (RUPAC2012)	116
6.4	$15^{\text{TH}}$ Beam Instrumentation Workshop (BIW2012)	117
7	ANNOUNCEMENTS OF THE BEAM DYNAMICS PANEL	118

7.1	ICFA BEAM DYNAMICS NEWSLETTER	118
	7.1.1 Aim of the Newsletter	
	7.1.2 Categories of Articles	
	7.1.3 How to Prepare a Manuscript	
	7.1.4 Distribution	119
	7.1.5 Regular Correspondents	119
7.2	ICFA BEAM DYNAMICS PANEL MEMBERS	

# **1** Foreword

# **1.1 From the Incoming ICFA Chair**

# Pier Oddone, Fermilab Mail to: <u>pjoddone@fnal.gov</u>

First of all I would like to thank Atsuto Suzuki for his leadership of ICFA during the last three years. We have made considerable progress as a global community during that time, with the sponsorship of ILC R&D on a global basis, the completion of the astoundingly successful Tevatron program, and the fantastic first data run of the LHC. As the chair-elect I look forward to my tenure during these very exciting times for particle physics and for accelerators in general.

The LHC discoveries will give us the guidance we need to choose the best direction for the exploration of the energy frontier. It may lead us to electron-positron colliders like the ILC or CLIC, or perhaps to muon colliders. The ILC R&D has been very successful and we have high confidence that we could build such a machine in short order. CLIC needs further development and demonstration and the muon collider even more. Both CLIC and the muon collider present great challenges and rich opportunities for accelerator research. But before we get to the next machine, we need to upgrade the LHC, first by bringing it to the designed energy, then to high luminosity and later perhaps to a doubling of its energy depending on the physics needs.

At the intensity frontier the next few years will bring us the next generation Bfactories to explore rare b-quark and c-quark processes, and proton super-beams for exploring the nature of neutrinos, rare processes in kaons and muons and electron dipole moments. Along with these new facilities, the tau-charm factory in Beijing will continue to increase its luminosity and bring us many new results. Further in the future is the development of neutrino factories, which will advance the studies of neutrinos well beyond superbeams and will be necessary if neutrinos keep serving us unexpected results. As I write this short note I am at the *Intensity Frontier Workshop* in Washington DC, where over 500 scientists are discussing the rich opportunities at this frontier.

Beyond the accelerators that we envision in the next two decades, our field has an exciting program to explore new concepts in acceleration using novel dielectric structures, lasers and plasma wakes. There are great challenges in achieving accelerating gradients several orders of magnitude greater than in present machines. One thing is to achieve these gradients in the laboratory and a much more difficult task is to scale these experiments to realistic machines at the energy frontier.

The development of technologies needed for ILC, CLIC, muon colliders, quarkfactories, superconducting proton linacs and the advances in novel accelerator techniques place our field in a position to make important contributions to society beyond the creation of knowledge and the understanding of nature. Already accelerators are widely used in medicine, national security and many industrial processes. Learning to make these accelerators more intense, more precise and more economic can further increase our impact on the economy and on society. We do have exciting times ahead with many new opportunities for advances in the science and technology of accelerators. Because we share a global vision and we collaborate broadly we can advance even in the most complex endeavors. ICFA has articulated this global vision in the booklet distributed at the ICFA Symposium at CERN last October: *Beacons of Discovery* (http://www.interactions.org/beacons/). ICFA will continue to play a critical role in bringing us together across borders to address the development of future accelerators.

# **1.2 From the ICUIL Chair**

Toshiki Tajima, Ludwig-Maximilians University, Germany Mail to: toshiki.tajima@physik.uni-muenchen.de

In November 2008, I spoke with then ICFA Chair, Prof. A. Wagner, and the present Chair, Prof. A. Suzuki, on the initiation of a ICFA-ICUIL collaboration. Since then we have been on a path of working together ever closer to explore future accelerators using lasers. This ICFA-ICUIL Joint Task Force (JTF) has been approved by both ICFA and ICUIL and was launched in September 2009 with Dr. Wim Leemans as Chair. In April 2010 we held the first and inaugurating JTF Workshop at Darmstadt, followed with a second one in Berkeley in September of this year. In-depth discussions were held at these workshops on the status of the science of laser acceleration, its applications, technologies to drive it and the future course of action. At the beginning we needed to find a common language for the discussions. Through our joint work we have achieved mutual and constructive understanding. More importantly, we became more able to identify the scientific significance of this joint endeavor as well as its challenges. New vistas have developed. The collaboration between the two communities has culminated in the creation of a substantial White Paper as part of this ICFA Beam Dynamics Newsletter (Section 2). This White Paper has both short-range milestones as well as a long-range vision. It describes both immediate applications and a difficult road(s) toward the high energy frontier. As we all know, attainment of the highest energy is a noble but extremely challenging task. I am very grateful to all who contributed with their wisdom and labor.

From the activities of ICUIL, let me report to you that our community is still rapidly growing and increasing its sophistication and power (literally). See the world map of ICUIL as of 2010 (see also <u>www.icuil.org</u>). Since we began our collaboration in 2008, the ICUIL community has achieved a major step by obtaining the EU's Extreme Light Infrastructure (ELI) approved (<u>http://www.extreme-light-infrastructure.eu/</u>). This establishes intensity frontier exploration bases in Czech Republic, Hungary, and Romania. We are also embarking even a step beyond this with the Exawatt and Zettawatt science perspective called IZEST (see <u>www.int-zest.com/</u>). We are pleased that ICFA often expresses that it values our joint work as it has evolved and increased over the years.



# **1.3 From the Editors**

Wim Leemans (LBNL), Weiren Chou (Fermilab) and Mitsuru Uesaka (Tokyo U.) Mail to: wpleemans@lbl.gov, chou@fnal.gov, uesaka@mbk.nifty.com

This newsletter is a special joint edition by two ICFA panels – the Beam Dynamics Panel (chaired by Weiren Chou) and the Advanced and Novel Accelerators Panel (chaired by Mitsuru Uesaka). The newsletter theme is a White Paper from the ICFA-ICUIL Joint Task Force (chaired by Wim Leemans) entitled *"High power laser technology for accelerators."* The use of lasers is a promising new technology for particle acceleration as an alternative to the traditional RF technology. Its main advantage is very high accelerating gradient (tens of GeV per meter, compared to tens of MeV per meter for RF). Laser-based acceleration can be applied to colliders, light sources and medical accelerators. Although there is still a long way to go to bring this technology from the laboratory to real accelerators, this White Paper produced by a formal collaboration between two scientific communities is an important milestone. It summarizes the discussions at two joint workshops organized by the ICFA-ICUIL Joint Task Force, one at GSI, Germany in 2010, and another at LBNL, USA in 2011.

Pier Oddone, Director of Fermilab and the incoming Chair of ICFA in this newsletter gives his view of the future of particle physics. Toshiki Tajima, Chair of ICUIL wrote an article on ICUIL and the newly formed ICFA-ICUIL collaboration. There are also one activity report (the 6<sup>th</sup> International Accelerator School for Linear Colliders), four workshop reports (ERL2011, DLA2011, FFAG2011 and COOL2011), two recent doctoral theses abstracts (Sam Tygier of Univ. of Manchester, Richard Fenning of Brunel Univ.) and four workshop announcements (FLS2012, HB2012, RuPAC2012 and BIW2012). We hope you will find this issue informative and useful.

# 2 White Paper of the ICFA-ICUIL Joint Task Force – High Power Laser Technology for Accelerators

Wim Leemans, LBNL

Chair of the ICFA-ICUIL Joint Task Force and Editor of the White Paper Mail to: <u>wpleemans@lbl.gov</u>

# **Executive Summary**

Particle accelerators and lasers have made fundamental contributions to science and society, and are poised to continue making great strides in the 21st century. Lasers are essential to modern high performance accelerator facilities that support fundamental science and applications, and to the development of advanced accelerators. In accelerator and radiation science, which aims at developing advanced acceleration and radiation source concepts, lasers provide the power for laser plasma accelerators or dielectric-structure-based direct-laser accelerators. For present-day light sources they are used to drive photocathodes in high-brightness electron guns; to control and measure beam properties; and to seed the amplification process in the latest generation of light sources that rely on electron-beam-based free-electron lasers. (At the user beamlines of light sources, they are also widely used in pump-probe experiments.) Lasers are also used in radiation sources, such as those producing high harmonics in gases, or those producing intense gamma-ray beams via inverse Compton or Thomson scattering against relativistic electron beams. Medical applications are emerging that rely on laser produced particle and radiation beams that offer the potential to be compact and cost effective.

The demand for high average laser power even in near-future accelerator applications is already outpacing the state of the art in lasers. A class of more-futuristic accelerators for particle physics, driven entirely by lasers, would require average laser power far exceeding today's state of the art. The performance of lasers has grown in dramatic ways, thanks to inventions such as chirped pulse amplification. Today, lasers can achieve petawatt-level peak power operating at 1 Hz; lower-energy systems (10 mJ) can operate at tens of kHz. These performance improvements have enabled a vast range of scientific opportunities, including proof-of-principle experiments on the most advanced accelerator concepts. As these laser-based techniques mature, the need for higher average power has come to the fore. Higher average power enables laboratorytested concepts to be turned into facilities: light sources that serve a broad range of users; industrial and medical applications; or the most demanding of all, particle colliders.

Developing high average power (tens to hundreds of kilowatts), high peak power (petawatt) lasers is an extremely challenging task that will take several decades of aggressive R&D and, most likely, revolutionary new concepts and ideas.

To ensure that the laser and accelerator communities understand each other's needs and to assist them in enabling vigorous progress, a standing Joint Task Force, was established by ICFA and ICUIL. The JTF has held two international workshops thus far.<sup>1</sup> Four general areas in future accelerator science and technology were considered that will either be driven by lasers or have a need for laser technology beyond today's state of the art : colliders for high-energy physics based on lasers; laser stripping for H<sup>-</sup> sources; light sources (such as X-ray free electron lasers), and medical ion therapy accelerators.

The goals of the workshops were to:

- Establish a comprehensive survey of requirements for colliders, light sources and medical applications, with emphasis on sources that require lasers beyond the state of the art or at least the state of current use. Emphasis was placed on the fact that the workshops were not intended to carry out a down-selection of specific designs or technology choices, but instead, were meant to take an inclusive approach that represents a community consensus.
- Identify future laser system requirements and key technological bottlenecks.
- From projected system requirements, provide visions for technology paths forward to reach the survey goals and outline the laser-technology R&D steps that must be undertaken.

Requirements for laser performance in each of the four areas were established and laser technologies that could meet these requirements were assessed, as detailed in this whitepaper. The following general conclusions for laser development were established:

- *Power*. Improvements in average and peak power are needed for all of the application areas under consideration, especially colliders for high-energy physics. Advances in these parameters made on behalf of the accelerator community will have spinoff benefits for other uses. In turn, accelerators should benefit from laser advancements made for other purposes, though unique requirements indicate that the accelerator community would benefit from a dedicated and tailored R&D effort.
- *Efficiency*. To deploy and continue to advance accelerators and radiation sources, the accelerator field will need not only high average power and high peak power lasers, but also high "wall-plug" efficiency.
- *High Power Optics*. Laser components and optics that can withstand high-average-power operation will be crucial to these advances.
- *Multi-way, interactive R&D cooperation.* Engagement of the national labs, universities and industry will be essential for comprehensive R&D of new materials and new architectures for lasers, as well as for novel concepts in acceleration and radiation generation.
- *Graduate and postdoctoral education.* Innovation in accelerator and laser science and technology can be strengthened by expanding opportunities for students and postdocs. In some areas, better funding will be needed to bring in competition and foster stronger ties with other disciplines. Operating user facilities at national laboratories, with support for university researchers, are excellent for this.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The First and Second Workshops of the Joint ICFA-ICUIL Taskforce on High Average Power Lasers for Future Accelerators were held at GSI (Darmstadt, Germany), from April 8-10, 2010, and at LBNL (Berkeley, USA), from September 20-22, 2011, respectively.

The JTF has identified several promising candidate technologies that could provide a path to the laser parameters required by future accelerator applications. A vigorous R&D program on these technology candidates is needed in the near future. The research should be guided in part by the laboratories that will require these new developments. The collaboration between ICFA and ICUIL could play a crucial role, with the accelerator scientists providing guidance on what is needed, and the laser scientists on what is possible.

The average power and efficiency requirements of HEP applications may be met by some of the identified technologies after a period of development effort. Thus it is important to start a vigorous research program to start and incubate some of these technologies. Considering the size of the gap and the timing of the users' needs, it would be a long-range R&D program, perhaps five to ten years. To assess its potential, we recommend that exploratory-level research on a modest scale be started immediately.

Other applications are less demanding than colliders, but still need high average power and efficiency from their lasers. Their goals might be reached *en route* to the ultimate goal of lasers suitable for colliders, and at a much earlier date. A large scale real-world use of these interim results could provide leverage, scalability, and new technologies that are helpful in achieving the final goal.

This whitepaper is organized by application. Discussed first are lasers for highenergy and high-intensity accelerators, then a discussion of laser stripping for H<sup>-</sup> generation in ion sources. The next section covers lasers for light sources: photocathodes, FELs, etc., including Compton and Thomson scattering against an electron beam, and high-harmonic generation in gases. Laser applications in medical accelerators for proton and heavy-ion therapy are covered next. Finally a draft roadmap for laser development in support of these areas is presented, showing our vision of a long-term R&D program joining the user perspective of the accelerator community with the expertise of laser laboratories. This roadmap will be further developed in upcoming workshops.

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the many colleagues who took the time to help us survey this intersection of complex, fast-moving fields and chart a course toward future progress. Section 2.1, "Laser Applications for Future High-Energy and High-Intensity Accelerators," led by Weiren Chou, had among its authors Ralph Assmann, Andy Bayramian, Joel England, Eric Esarey, Cameron Geddes, Dino Jaroszynski, Thomas Kuehl, Wim Leemans, Yun Liu, Bob Noble, Carl Schroeder, Tor Raubenheimer, Mike Seidel, Toshiki Tajima, Valery Telnov and Kaoru Yokoya. Section 2.2, "Laser Applications for Light Sources," under Bruce Carlsten, incorporated the work of Thomas Kuehl, Siegfried Schreiber, Carl Schroeder, Rahul Shah, Franz Tavella, Bill White, Russell Wilcox, and Arik Willner. For Section 2.3, "Laser Applications for Medical Particle Beam Therapy," Ingo Hofmann, current section chair and Mitsuru Uesaka, the 2010 section chair, would like to thank Jose Alonso, Marcus Babzien, Stepan Bulanov, Charlie Ma, Viktor Malka, Dave Robin, Markus Roth, and Andrew Sessler; and are indebted to Paul Bolton, M. Borghesi, Victor Malka, Ulrich Schramm, and Joerg Schreiber for their contributions and comments. Regarding Section 2.4, "Laser Technology Development Roadmaps," editor and OPCPA-subsection author Almantas Galvanauskas would like to thank Jay Dawson for the subsection on fiber

lasers (with feedback/review by J. Limpert and J. Nillson); Darren Rand and T.Y. Fan on solid-state lasers; M. Babzien regarding  $CO_2$  lasers; and A. Bayramian and Jay Dawson on facility-class lasers.

Joe Chew provided editorial support for both the present effort and the earlier Joint Task Force whitepaper.

# 2.1 Laser Applications for Future High-Energy and High-Intensity Accelerators

#### 2.1.1 Introduction

The consensus in the world high-energy physics community is that the next large collider after the LHC will be a TeV-scale lepton collider. Options currently under study include the ILC (0.5-1 TeV), CLIC (up to 3 TeV) and the muon collider (up to 4 TeV), all using RF technology. On the other hand, the very high gradients (~10 GeV/m) possible with laser acceleration open up new avenues to reach even higher energy and more compact machines. At this workshop participants discussed and set forth a set of beam and laser parameters for a 1-10 TeV  $e^+e^-$  collider based on two different technologies – laser plasma acceleration (LPA) and direct laser acceleration (DLA). Because the effectiveness of a collider is judged by its luminosity, and the cross section for a process creating a large mass M varies as  $1/M^2$ , a high energy machine must also have high luminosity. The luminosity goal for a 10 TeV collider is  $10^{36}$  cm<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>, a factor of 100 higher than for a 1 TeV machine. To reach this goal, the laser system must have high average power (~100 MW) and high repetition rate (kHz to MHz).

Moreover, the laser-based collider must have high wall-plug efficiency in order to keep power consumption at a reasonable level. To set this efficiency goal, the workshop compared the efficiency of a number of large accelerators, either in operation or in a design phase. The results are listed in Table 1. Our goal is 10% for an LPA.

Accelerator	Beam	Beam energy (GeV)	Beam power (MW)	Efficiency AC to beam	Note on AC power
PSI Cyclotron	H+	0.59	1.3	0.18	RF + magnets
SNS Linac	$H^-$	0.92	1.0	0.07	RF + cryo + cooling
TESLA (23.4 MV/m)	e <sup>+</sup> /e <sup>-</sup>	$250 \times 2$	23	0.24	RF + cryo + cooling
ILC (31.5 MV/m)	$e^+/e^-$	$250 \times 2$	21	0.16	RF + cryo + cooling
CLIC	$e^+/e^-$	$1500 \times 2$	29.4	0.09	RF + cooling
LPA	$e^+/e^-$	$500 \times 2$	8.4	0.10	Laser + plasma

**Table 1:** Comparison of wall-plug efficiency of various accelerators.

It is difficult to set a reasonable goal for cost. Ideally, the cost of a collider based on laser technology should be significantly lower than colliders based on conventional RF technology in order to make this new technology attractive. Take the 0.5 TeV ILC as an example. The total estimated cost is about \$8B, of which about 1/3 is the RF cost. This

gives roughly \$5M per GeV for RF. The laser cost of a LPA or DLA collider should be significantly lower in order to be competitive.

The workshop also studied the laser requirements for a  $\gamma\gamma$  collider. This idea, originated at BINP, is based on the consideration that the cross section for Higgs production in a  $\gamma\gamma$  collider is significantly larger than in an  $e^+e^-$  collider of the same energy. In 2008, it was proposed to the ICFA to build a 100-200 GeV  $\gamma\gamma$  collider as the first stage of a full scale ILC in order to lower the construction cost and realize a more rapid start for the project. This proposal went unapproved for a number of reasons: physics potential, cost saving potential, and need for additional laser R&D. This workshop concluded that, as a matter of fact, the required laser systems for an ILC  $\gamma\gamma$  collider may already be within reach of today's technology, whereas for a CLIC or LPA based  $\gamma\gamma$  collider the required laser technology could piggyback on the inertial fusion project LIFE at LLNL or the high power laser project ELI in Europe (see Sec. 2.1.4).

In addition to high-energy colliders, lasers also find application at another frontier – high-intensity accelerators. Lasers have been used in beam diagnostics for some time now, including beam profile monitor ("laser wire") and beam polarization measurement. These require only low power lasers. A challenge, however, is to use a laser for stripping H<sup>-</sup> particles during injection into a high-intensity proton machine, such as the SNS, J-PARC or Project X. In these MW-scale machines, the thin foils made of carbon or diamond that have been used for stripping would experience a severe heating problem and have limited lifetime. Experiments have demonstrated that a laser beam interacting with H<sup>-</sup> particles can convert them to protons. However, to replace foils in real machine operation, the laser must have high average power (kW) and high repetition rate (hundreds of MHz). This workshop investigated the required laser parameters for the SNS and Project X.

## 2.1.2 One- to Ten-TeV e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> Colliders Based on Laser Plasma Acceleration

Advanced acceleration techniques are actively being pursued to expand the energy frontier of future colliders. Although the minimum energy of interest for the next lepton collider will be determined by high-energy physics experiments presently underway, it is anticipated that  $\geq 1$  TeV center-of-mass energy will be required. The laser-plasma accelerator (LPA) is one promising technique for reducing the size and cost of future colliders—if the needed laser technology is developed. LPAs are of great interest because of their ability to sustain extremely large acceleration gradients, resulting in compact accelerating structures [1-3].

#### 2.1.2.1 Principles of the LPA

Laser-plasma acceleration is realized by using a short-pulse, high-intensity laser to ponderomotively drive a large electron plasma wave (or wakefield) in an underdense plasma (see Figure 1). The electron plasma wave has relativistic phase velocity – approximately the group velocity of the laser – and can support large electric fields in the direction of propagation of the laser.



**Figure 1:** Laser-plasma acceleration: An intense laser pulse drives a plasma wave (wake) in a plasma channel, which also guides the laser pulse and prevents diffraction. Plasma background electrons injected with the proper phase can be accelerated and focused by the wake [1].

When the laser pulse is approximately resonant (duration on the order of the plasma period), and the laser intensity is relativistic (with normalized laser vector potential  $a_0 = eA/m_ec^2 \sim 1$ ), the magnitude of the accelerating field is on the order of  $E_0[V/m] = 96(n_0[cm^{-3}])^{1/2}$ , and the wavelength of the accelerating field is on the order of the plasma wavelength  $\lambda_p[mm] = 3.3 \times 10^{10} (n_0[cm^{-3}])^{-1/2}$ , where  $n_0$  is the ambient electron number density. For example,  $E_0 \approx 30$  GeV/m (approximately three orders of magnitude beyond conventional RF technology) and  $l_p \approx 100$  mm for  $n_0 = 10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>.

Rapid progress in laser-plasma accelerator research, and in particular the demonstration of high-quality GeV electron beams over cm-scale plasmas in 2006 at Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory [4], has increased interest in laser-plasma acceleration as a path toward a compact TeV-class linear collider [5]. A conceptual diagram of an LPA-based collider [1] is shown in Figure 2.

In the standard laser wakefield acceleration configuration, the electron plasma wave is driven by a nearly resonant laser (pulse duration on the order of the plasma period) propagating in a neutral, underdense ( $\lambda_p >> 1$ , where 1 is the laser wavelength) plasma. There are several regimes of plasma acceleration that can be accessed with a laser driver. Two regimes that have attracted attention for collider applications are the quasilinear regime [3] and the bubble [6] (or blow-out [7]) regime.

The quasi-linear regime is accessible for parameters such that  $\pi^2 r_L^2 / \lambda_p^2 >> a_0^2 / 2\gamma_L$ , where  $a_0^2$  can be written as a function of the laser intensity  $I_0$ ;  $a_0^2 = 7.3 \times 10^{-19} (1 \text{ [mm]})^2$  $I_0[W/cm^2]$  (linear polarization),  $\gamma_L = (1+a_0^2/2)^{1/2}$ , and  $r_L$  is the laser spot size. The amplitude of the accelerating field of the plasma wave in the quasi-linear regime is  $E_z \approx$  $0.76(a_0^2/2\gamma_L)E_0$ . This regime is characterized by regular plasma wave buckets and nearly-symmetric regions of acceleration-deacceleration and focusing-defocusing (see Fig. 3). In the quasi-linear regime, the accelerating and focusing phase regions for electrons and positrons are symmetric, since the wakefield is approximately sinusoidal.



**Figure 2:** Concept for an LPA-based electron-positron collider. Both the electron and positron arms start with a plasma-based injection-acceleration module where controlled injection techniques are applied to produce a high quality ~10 GeV electron beam. Electrons are then accelerated to 1 TeV using 100 laser-plasma modules, each consisting of a 1-m long preformed plasma channel ( $10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>) driven by a 30 J laser pulse giving a 10 GeV energy gain. A fresh laser pulse is injected into each module. Similarly, positrons are produced from a 10 GeV electron beam through pair creation and then trapped and accelerated in a LPA module to ~10 GeV. Subsequent LPA modules would accelerate positrons to 1 TeV. A luminosity of  $10^{34}$  cm<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> requires  $4 \times 10^9$  particles/bunch at a 13 kHz repetition rate [1].



Figure Wakes 3: generated in the bubble (left column) and quasi-linear (right column) regimes by a laser pulse with  $a_0=4$  (*left*) and  $a_0=1$ (right). Top figures are axial electric field, central figures are density, and bottom figures are transverse electric fields. The black boxes indicate the accelerating/focusing regions for electrons, and the green boxes are for positrons (Courtesy of C. Benedetti et al., LBNL).

The bubble regime of LPA occurs for laser-plasma parameters such that  $\pi^2 r_L^2 / \lambda_p^2 < < a_0^2/2\gamma_L$ . This regime is characterized by complete removal of plasma electrons and creation of an ion cavity (see Fig. 3, *left*). The bubble regime has several attractive features for acceleration of electron beams. Inside the moving ion cavity, the focusing forces for electrons are linear (and attractive) and uniform for all phases and the accelerating field is independent of transverse position with respect to the cavity axis. The major drawback of accessing the highly-nonlinear bubble regime is that acceleration of positrons is problematic because the entire ion cavity is defocusing for positrons, and a positron beam will be scattered transversely. There does exist a small phase region immediately behind the bubble where positrons could be accelerated and focused; however, here some of the attractive properties of the bubble regime (e.g., uniform accelerating and constant linear focusing) are lost.

The amount of charge that can be accelerated in a plasma wave is determined by the plasma density and the size of the accelerating field. The maximum charge that can be loaded is given by the number of charged particles required to cancel the laser excited wake (beam loading limit). A collider will operate with asymmetric shaped particle bunches such that bunches can be loaded with charge near the beam loading limit without a large wake-induced energy spread. The maximum number of loaded charged particles into a small (<<  $\lambda_p = 2\pi/k_p$ ) segment is approximately N ~  $n_0k_p^{-3}$  (E<sub>z</sub>/E<sub>0</sub>).

In general, the energy gain in a single laser-plasma accelerator stage may be limited by laser diffraction effects, dephasing of the electrons with respect to the accelerating field phase velocity (approximately the laser driver group velocity), and laser energy depletion into the plasma wave. Laser diffraction effects can be mitigated by use of a plasma channel (transverse plasma density tailoring), guiding the laser over many Rayleigh ranges. Dephasing can be mitigated by plasma density tapering (longitudinal plasma density tailoring), which can maintain the position of the electron beam at a given phase of the plasma wave. Ultimately, the single-stage energy gain is determined by laser energy depletion. The energy depletion length scales as  $L_d \sim \lambda_p^{3}/\lambda^2 \propto n_0^{-3/2}$ , and the energy gain in a single stage scales with plasma density as  $W_{stage} \approx E_z L_d \propto n_0^{-1}$ .

After a single laser-plasma accelerating stage, the laser energy is depleted and a new laser pulse must be coupled into the plasma for further acceleration. This coupling distance is critical to determining the overall accelerator length (set by the average, or geometric, gradient of the main linac) and the optimal plasma density at which to operate. One major advantage of laser plasma acceleration over beam-driven plasma acceleration is the potential for a short coupling distance between stages, and, therefore, the possibility of a high average (geometric) accelerating gradient and a relatively short main linac length. (Reducing the main linac length requires the coupling length between stages to be on the order of the length of a single plasma acceleration stage.) Although conventional laser optics might require meters of space to focus intense lasers into subsequent LPA stages, plasma mirrors show great promise for use as optics to direct high-intensity laser pulses, requiring only tens of cm to couple a drive laser into a plasma accelerator stage. A plasma mirror uses overdense plasma creation by the intense laser on a renewable surface (e.g., metallic tape or liquid jet) to reflect the laser beam.

#### 2.1.2.2 Experimental Progress on Laser-Plasma Accelerators

Rapid progress in laser-plasma accelerator research has been made over the past decade (see [3] for a review). In particular, the production of high-quality GeV electron beams over cm-scale plasmas was demonstrated in 2006 at Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory [4]. Since that time, LPA research at many facilities worldwide has demonstrated GeV-level energies. This has been enabled by guiding of the laser pulse over cm distances (tens of times the natural diffraction range of the laser) using tailored plasma density channels, which act like optical fibers and which perform self-focusing. The beams have percent level energy spread and estimates of normalized emittance are at the mm-mrad level. To further improve performance, particle injection into the micron-scale accelerator structure is being controlled via several mechanisms including wake phase velocity control using plasma density tailoring, the beat between colliding laser pulses, and ionization of high-Z species to produce electrons near the peak of the laser intensity. This has recently produced beams which are both stable and can be tuned in energy. Continued injector and accelerator structure (guiding, laser mode, etc.) control work is in progress to further reduce energy spread and emittance. A critical technology for a LPA based collider will be staging of several modules in series. Experiments are expected to begin addressing this issue in the coming year, including the use of plasma mirrors or other techniques to minimize distance between stages and maintain geometric gradient. Also in progress are experiments to extend LPAs to 10 GeV using PW laser drivers in meter-scale plasmas.

#### 2.1.2.3 Design Considerations for Laser-Plasma Colliders

The beam-beam interaction at the interaction point (IP) of a collider produces radiation (beamstrahlung) that generates background for the detectors and increases the beam energy spread, resulting in loss of measurement precision. The beam-beam interaction is characterized by the Lorentz-invariant beamstrahlung parameter  $\Upsilon$  (mean field strength in the beam rest frame normalized to the Schwinger critical field). The current generation of linear collider designs based on conventional technology operate in the classical beamstrahlung regime  $\Upsilon \ll 1$ . Next generation linear colliders ( $\geq 1$  TeV) will most likely operate in the quantum beamstrahlung regime with  $\Upsilon \gg 1$ .

In the quantum beamstrahlung regime, the average number of emitted photons per electron scales as  $n_{\gamma} \propto \Upsilon^{2/3}$  and the relative energy spread induced scales as  $\delta_E \propto \Upsilon^{2/3}$ . Assuming that the center of mass energy, luminosity, beam power, and beam sizes are fixed,  $n_{\gamma} \propto \delta_E \propto N^{2/3} \sigma_z^{1/3}$ , where  $\sigma_z$  is the particle bunch length [5]. In this regime, beamstrahlung is reduced by using shorter bunches and smaller charge per bunch. Laser-plasma accelerators are intrinsically sources of short (fs) electron bunches, due to shortness of the plasma wavelength  $\lambda_p$ .

Of particular interest is how the various laser and electron beam parameters characterizing a LPA-based collider scale with respect to plasma density and laser wavelength. These scaling laws, originally derived in Ref. [5], are summarized in Table 2.

Parameter	Scaling
accelerating gradient	n <sup>1/2</sup>
LPA stage length	$n^{-3/2}\lambda^{-2}$
LPA stage energy gain	$n^{-1}\lambda^{-2}$
Number of stages	$n \lambda^2$
Total length	n <sup>-1/2</sup>
Number of e/bunch	n <sup>-1/2</sup>
Laser pulse duration	n <sup>-1/2</sup>
Laser spot size	n <sup>-1/2</sup>
Laser peak power	$n^{-1}\lambda^{-2}$
Laser pulse energy	$n^{-3/2}\lambda^{-2}$
Laser rep. rate	n
Beam power	n <sup>1/2</sup>
Laser average power	$n^{-1/2}\lambda^{-2}$
Wall plug power	n <sup>1/2</sup>

Table 2: Basic plasma density and laser wavelength scalings [5].

Using the scaling laws presented in Table 2, the baseline example of a LPA collider presented in Ref. [5] can be scaled to different plasma densities and laser wavelengths. Tables 1-3 and 1-4 show estimates of parameters for electron-positron colliders for four cases: a 1 TeV center-of-mass (CoM) collider with a plasma density of  $n_0 = 10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, a 1 TeV CoM collider using a single-LPA stage with a plasma density of  $n_0 = 2 \times 10^{15}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, a 10 TeV CoM collider with a plasma density of  $n_0 = 10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, and a 10 TeV CoM collider with a plasma density of  $n_0 = 10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, and a 10 TeV CoM collider with a plasma density of  $n_0 = 10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, and a 10 TeV CoM collider with a plasma density of  $n_0 = 2 \times 10^{15}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>. In all these cases a laser wavelength of  $\lambda = 1 \mu m$  and a laser intensity of  $3 \times 10^{18}$  W/cm<sup>2</sup> ( $a_0 = 1.5$ ) are assumed. The laser-plasma accelerator parameters are based on scaling laws for the quasi-linear regime obtained from simulation codes. A mild plasma density taper is assumed. The length of one linac is of order of 0.1 km for the 1 TeV CoM,  $n_0 = 10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> case, and of order 1 km for the 10 TeV CoM,  $n_0 = 10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> case. Using a lower plasma density with a lower accelerating gradient requires a one-linac length of 0.5 km for a 1 TeV CoM collider and 5 km for a 10 TeV CoM collider.

Case: CoM Energy	1 TeV	1 TeV	10 TeV	10 TeV
(Plasma density)	$(10^{17} \mathrm{cm}^{-3})$	$(2 \times 10^{15} \text{ cm}^{-3})$	$(10^{17} \mathrm{cm}^{-3})$	$(2 \times 10^{15} \text{ cm}^{-3})$
Energy per beam (TeV)	0.5	0.5	5	5
Luminosity $(10^{34} \text{ cm}^{-2} \text{s}^{-1})$	2	2	200	200
Electrons per bunch ( $\times 10^{10}$ )	0.4	2.8	0.4	2.8
Bunch repetition rate (kHz)	15	0.3	15	0.3
Horizontal emittance $\gamma \varepsilon_x$ (nm-rad)	100	100	50	50
Vertical emittance $\gamma \varepsilon_y$ (nm-rad)	100	100	50	50
β* (mm)	1	1	0.2	0.2
Horizontal beam size at IP $\sigma_x^*$ (nm)	10	10	1	1
Vertical beam size at IP $\sigma_y^*$ (nm)	10	10	1	1
Disruption parameter	0.12	5.6	1.2	56
Bunch length $\sigma_z$ (µm)	1	7	1	7
Beamstrahlung parameter $\Upsilon$	180	180	18,000	18,000
Beamstrahlung photons per e, $n_{\gamma}$	1.4	10	3.2	22
Beamstrahlung energy loss $\delta_E(\%)$	42	100	95	100
Accelerating gradient (GV/m)	10	1.4	10	1.4
Average beam power (MW)	5	0.7	50	7
Wall plug to beam efficiency (%)	6	6	10	10
One linac length (km)	0.1	0.5	1.0	5

**Table 3:** Beam parameters of 1 TeV and 10 TeV  $e^+e^-$  colliders based on LPA technology.

The conversion efficiencies assumed are 50% for laser to plasma wave and 40% for plasma wave to beam (laser to beam efficiency is 20%). A high laser wall plug efficiency of 50% is also assumed, giving an overall efficiency, wall plug to beam, of 10%. Notice that the laser energy per stage per bunch is on the order of tens of J (for  $n_0 = 10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ ) and the required rep rates are of the order of tens of kHz (for  $n_0=10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3}$ ), clearly indicating the need for the development of laser systems with high average power (hundreds of kW) and high peak power (hundreds of TW). Another set of LPA collider parameters, using a different baseline example, can be found in Ref. [8].

As the plasma density scalings shown in Table 2 indicate, operating at lower density reduces the required wall plug power for fixed luminosity. This is achieved by using more charge/bunch at a lower repetition rate. As discussed in Ref. [5], operating at higher charge/bunch implies more severe beam-beam effects at the IP. Table 3 shows that at  $n_0 = 2 \times 10^{15}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> the beamstrahlung induced energy loss is prohibitively high. Here the beamstrahlung induced fractional energy loss is estimated from  $\delta_E \approx 1.24(\alpha^2 \sigma_z/r_e\gamma)Y^2[1+(3Y/2)^{2/3}]^2$ , and "100%" indicates that this formula predicts energy loss greater than the incoming particle energy, i.e., that the energy loss is so severe that the particle orbit is strongly perturbed during the passage through the counterpropagating bunch.

A process that extracts the energy of the remaining wakefields in the plasma as well as in the bunches has been suggested [9]. Inserting circuitry in the plasma as a passive feedback system extracts the wakefield energy, converts this energy into electricity, and feeds it into an external circuit. The conversion efficiency is on the order of unity. Thus, it would enhance the coupling efficiency of the laser pulse to the wakefield energy by at least a factor of 2 (or even more). Other energy extraction methods may be envisioned, such as using a trailing anti-resonant laser pulse (or a low energy e-beam) to gain energy from the remaining plasma wave and to transport that energy out of the plasma [5].

Case: CoM Energy	1 TeV	1 TeV	10 TeV	10 TeV
(Plasma density)	$(10^{17} \mathrm{cm}^{-3})$	$(2 \times 10^{15} \text{ cm}^{-3})$	$(10^{17} \mathrm{cm}^{-3})$	$(2 \times 10^{15} \text{ cm}^{-3})$
Wavelength (µm)	1	1	1	1
Pulse energy/stage (kJ)	0.032	11	0.032	11
Pulse length (ps)	0.056	0.4	0.056	0.4
Repetition rate (kHz)	15	0.3	15	0.3
Peak power (PW)	0.24	12	0.24	12
Average laser power/stage (MW)	0.48	3.4	0.48	3.4
Energy gain/stage (GeV)	10	500	10	500
Stage length [LPA + in-coupling] (m)	2	500	2	500
Number of stages (one linac)	50	1	500	10
Total laser power (MW)	48	3.4	480	34
Total wall power (MW)	160	23	960	138
Laser to beam efficiency (%) [laser to wake 50% + wake to beam 40%]	20	20	20	20
Wall plug to laser efficiency (%)	30	30	50	50
Laser spot rms radius (µm)	69	490	69	490
Laser intensity (W/cm <sup>2</sup> )	$3 \times 10^{18}$	$3 \times 10^{18}$	$3 \times 10^{18}$	$3 \times 10^{18}$
Laser strength parameter $a_0$	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5
Plasma density (cm <sup>-3</sup> ), with tapering	10 <sup>17</sup>	$2 \times 10^{15}$	10 <sup>17</sup>	$2 \times 10^{15}$
Plasma wavelength (mm)	0.1	0.75	0.1	0.75

**Table 4:** Laser and plasma parameters of 1-10 TeV e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> colliders based on LPA technology.

Table 5 shows the present readiness of the laser systems, plasma and beam generation and other required accelerator components for a laser-plasma linear collider.

#### 2.1.2.4 Post-BELLA Laser-Plasma Accelerator Applications

In 2006, a cm-scale laser-plasma accelerator (LPA) was first demonstrated at LBNL that produced 1 GeV electron beams with a time integrated energy spread of about 2.5%, containing 30 pC of charge, using a 40 TW laser pulse (2 J/pulse) [4]. Presently PW peak power, short-pulse (<100 fs) laser systems are under construction at several laboratories, and it is anticipated that such systems will enable 10 GeV LPA electron beams produced in 1 m of plasma, operating at plasma densities of 10<sup>17</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>. A compact source of 10 GeV LPA beams would potentially have many applications. For example, such beams could be used to power a free-electron laser (FEL), producing femtosecond X-rays for basic science applications (a later section of this whitepaper discusses laser requirements for LPA-driven FELs). A compact source of 1-10 GeV LPA beams also could be used as a beam test facility for beam dynamics studies and high-energy physics detector testing.

**Table 5:** Laser-plasma accelerator technology readiness:  $\sqrt{}$  means presently achievable; — means within one order of magnitude of the required value (or expectation of being there in the near to medium term); X means not presently achievable (requires significant long term R&D).

Laser Properties	
Peak intensity: $\sim 10^{18}$ W/cm <sup>2</sup>	$\checkmark$
Peak Power: $\sim 0.1 \text{ PW} @ n \sim 10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3}$	
~10 PW @ n~10 <sup>15</sup> cm <sup>3</sup>	
Pulse duration: >50 fs	
Pluse energy: $\sim 10 \text{ J}$ @ $n \sim 10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3}$	
$\sim 10 \text{ kJ} @ \text{ n} \sim 10^{13} \text{ cm}^{-3}$	Х
Pulse shaping	
Average Power: ~ MW	Х
Rep. rate: ~ 1 – 10 kHz	Х
Efficiency (wall-to-laser): >10%	Х
Plasma and Beam Properties	
Plasma channel length: $\sim 1 \text{ m} \otimes \text{n} \sim 10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3}$	_
$\sim 300 \text{ m} @ \text{ n} \sim 10^{15} \text{ cm}^{-3}$	Х
Plasma channel tapering: $\sim 1 \text{ m} @ \text{ n} \sim 10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3}$	—
$\sim 300 \text{ m} @ \text{n} \sim 10^{15} \text{ cm}^{-3}$	Х
Stability (pointing for IP)	Х
Shaped bunches	Х
Transverse emittnace (< 0.1 mm mrad)	
Longitudinal emittance (<%)	
Charge (~10 <sup>9</sup> )	
Accelerator Components	
LPA staging	
Laser-plasma coupling (plasma mirrors)	
LPA-compatible injector	
Compact beam cooling	X
Compact final focus (plasma lens)	X

Current PW, short-pulse laser systems under construction (e.g., the BELLA Facility at LBNL, or the ELI-Beamlines in Prague) would operate at low repetition rate (1-10 Hz) and would be low average-power laser systems. Although, for example, a compact, low-repetition rate LPA-driven FEL could provide high-peak brightness light for user experiments, the applicability of this technology for large-scale user facilities requiring high-average brightness would require repetition rates that are beyond today's state of the art in high-peak-power lasers. Table 6 shows an example of a 10 GeV accelerator in a single LPA stage operating at 10<sup>17</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>. Development of kHz, high peak power laser systems would enable a compact source of multi-kW, ultra-short (<10 fs), 10 GeV electron beams for user applications. The single-stage LPA example shown in Table 6 could be staged, using multiple laser systems, to higher electron beam energy.

Parameter	
Plasma density	$10^{17} \mathrm{cm}^{-3}$
Electrons/bunch	4 x10 <sup>9</sup>
Repetition rate	1 Hz – 1 kHz
Laser wavelength	1 um
Laser pulse duration	0.1 ps
Beam energy gain/stage	10 GeV
Stage length	1 m
Average laser power/stage	32 W – 32 kW
Beam power (single stage)	6.4 W – 6.4 kW

Table 6: 10 GeV laser-plasma accelerator with laser driver at 1 Hz to 1 kHz.

#### 2.1.3 Linear Colliders Based on Dielectric Laser Acceleration

#### 2.1.3.1 Dielectric Laser Acceleration: Linear Collider Parameters

Dielectric laser acceleration (DLA) refers to the use of micron-scale dielectric structures driven by lasers operating in the optical to near infrared regime [10-12]. The use of a laser as the drive source for the accelerating field offers several benefits, including the high repetition rates (> 10 MHz) and strong electric fields (> 0.5 GV/m) that modern lasers can provide, combined with improved commercial availability and cost when compared with microwave sources. The use of dielectric structures circumvents the problem of power loss in metallic cavities at optical frequencies; it also allows for an order of magnitude higher accelerating gradients due to the higher breakdown thresholds (1-5 GV/m) of dielectric materials.

Charged particles are accelerated inside a central channel inside a dielectric photonic crystal material. The channel acts as both the vacuum pipe for the beam and as a confining mechanism for an electromagnetic mode. Assuming that the guiding channel's transverse dimensions are of the order of the drive laser wavelength (1 to 10 microns) the power coupling efficiency to the particle bunches can in principle be as high as 40%, with optimal efficiency at bunch charges at the fC level [13]. In order for successive bunches to sit in the accelerating phase of the wave, the requisite bunch durations are on the attosecond scale with intra-bunch spacing equal to the laser wavelength (or an integer multiple thereof). As a result of the various technical requirements just mentioned, the beam parameters for an accelerator based on this technology would be quite different from both traditional machines and other advanced schemes.

DLA offers several compelling potential advantages over traditional microwave cavity accelerators. Accelerating gradient is limited by the breakdown threshold for damage of the confining structure in the presence of intense electromagnetic fields. In the DLA scheme operating at typical laser pulse lengths of 0.1 to 1 ps, the laser damage fluences for dielectric materials such as silicon and glass correspond to peak surface

electric fields of 400 to 2000 MV/m (compared to the breakdown limits of 40 to 100 MV/m for metal cavities). The corresponding gradient enhancement represents a reduction in active length of the accelerator between 1 and 2 orders of magnitude. Power sources for DLA-based accelerators (lasers) are cheaper than microwave sources (klystrons) for equivalent average power levels due to the wider availability of, and private sector investment in, commercial laser sources. The high laser-to-particle coupling efficiency makes required pulse energies are consistent with tabletop microjoule class lasers. Fabrication techniques for constructing three-dimensional dielectric structures with nanometer-level precision are well established in the semiconductor industry and the capillary fiber industry. Once a suitable fabrication recipe is developed, on-chip DLA devices with multiple stages of acceleration and waveguides for coupling power to and from the structure could be manufactured at low per-unit cost on silicon wafers.



**Figure 4:** Three dielectric laser accelerator topologies: (a) a 3D silicon photonic crystal structure, (b) a hollow-core photonic bandgap fiber, and (c) a dual-grating structure, showing conceptual illustration (top) and recently fabricated structures (bottom).

Several DLA topologies are under investigation as part of the SLAC E-163 program, as seen in Fig. 4: (a) a silicon "woodpile" photonic crystal waveguide, (b) a glass photonic bandgap (PBG) hollow-core optical fiber, and (c) a structure where the beam is accelerated by a transversely incident laser beam in the gap between two gratings. Significant progress has been made in the fabrication of partial or full prototypes of these structures with geometries optimized for accelerator use, as seen in the bottom images. Steps required to make these into working prototypes include alignment and bonding of two of the 9-layer half woodpile structures seen in (a), reducing the fiber dimensions in (b) from an operating wavelength of 7 to 2 microns (where lasers and detectors are more readily available), replacing borosilicate with the more radiation-hard silica, and aligning and bonding two of the gratings shown in (c), which are designed for 800-nm laser operation.

To reach 10 TeV center-of-mass energies, a next generation lepton collider based on

traditional RF microwave technology would need to be over 100 km in length and would likely cost tens of billions of dollars to build. Due to the inverse scaling of the interaction cross section with energy, the required luminosity for such a machine would be as much as  $100 \times$  higher than proposed 1-3 TeV machines (ILC and CLIC), producing a luminosity goal of order  $10^{36}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. In attempting to meet these requirements in a smaller cost/size footprint using advanced acceleration schemes, the increased beam energy spread from radiative loss during beam-beam interaction (beamstrahlung) at the interaction point becomes a pressing concern. Since the beamstrahlung parameter is proportional to bunch charge, a straightforward approach to reducing it is to use small bunch charges, with the resulting quadratic decrease in luminosity compensated by higher repetition rates. This is the natural operating regime of the DLA scheme, with the requisite average laser power (>100 MW) and high (>10 MHz) repetition rates to be provided by modern fiber lasers.

 Table 7: Strawman Parameters for 3 DLA Topologies

Parameter	Units	"ILC"	Woodpile	Fiber	Grating
E_cms	GeV	10000	10000	10000	10000
Bunch Charge	е	3.0E+10	1.8E+04	3.8E+04	1.0E+04
# bunches/train	#	2820	136	159	375
train repetition rate	MHz	5.0E-06	25	5	10
macro bunch length	psec	1.00	1.00	0.50	0.33
design wavelength	micron	230609.58	1.55	1.89	0.80
Invariant Emittances	micron	10/0.04	1e-04/1e-04	1e-04/1e-04	1e-04/1e-04
I. P. Spot Size	nm	158/1	0.06/0.06	0.06/0.06	0.06/0.06
Beamstrahlung E-loss	%	16.3	2.4	5.4	3.8
Enhanced Luminosity	/cm^2/s	1.23E+36	2.04E+36	4.09E+36	2.82E+36
Beam Power	MW	338.8	49.0	24.2	30.0
Wall-Plug Power	MW	1040.0	490.2	242.0	300.4
Gradient	MeV/m	30	197	400	830
Total Linac Length	km	333.3	50.8	25.0	12.0

Table 8: Laser Parameter Requirements from DLA 2011 Workshop

Requirement	Woodpile	Fiber	Grating	Resonant Structure
Pulse Energy	200 nJ	1 µJ	10 µJ	1-10 µJ
Average Power	200W	1 kW	10kW	1kW
Wavelength	>2µm	>1µm	>1µm	>1µm
Pulse Widths	1 ps	1 ps	0.1-0.2 ps	1.8-10ps
CEP Locking	< 1°	< 1°	< 1°	< 1°
Repetition Rate (MHz)	100-1000	100-1000	100-1000	100-1000
Wallplug Efficiency	30-40%	30-40%	30-40%	30-40%

Numbers for a 10 TeV collider scenario are shown in Table 7. For comparison, we have extrapolated a corresponding case for traditional RF technology by scaling the parameters for the proposed International Linear Collider (ILC) to 10 TeV. In these examples, DLA meets the desired luminosity, and with a significantly smaller beamstrahlung energy loss. Other advanced collider schemes such as beam-driven plasma and terahertz also rely upon a traditional pulse format for the electron/positron

beam and would therefore compare similarly to laser plasma acceleration in this regard. Although the numbers in Table 7 are merely projections used for illustrative purposes, they highlight the unique operating regime that has DLA poised as a promising technology for future collider applications.

Corresponding laser requirements are summarized in Table 8, which is derived from results of the DLA 2011 ICFA Mini-Workshop at SLAC [14]. The parameters reflect the unusual pulse format of the electron beam: namely very high rep rates with low perpulse energy but high average power. In addition, because each laser pulse can drive an entire bunch train in the DLA scenario, sub-picosecond pulse lengths are not required. Fiber lasers at 1 micron wavelengths and hundreds of watts of average power have already been demonstrated to be capable of meeting most of these parameter requirements and higher power (>1 kW) mode-locked systems at longer wavelengths (e.g., 2 micron thulium-doped lasers) are expected to be commercially available in the near future.

#### 2.1.3.2 Challenges and Opportunities

Although DLA is a promising concept for future accelerators, it is a relatively new field of study, and the demanding requirements of a linear collider pose a variety of challenges. We discuss some of these challenges below to help set the direction and priorities for future research.

#### Demonstration of Gradient

Achievable gradient in DLA structures is limited by the damage threshold of the dielectric material at infrared wavelengths and picosecond pulse durations. Recent progress has been made to characterize a variety of common and exotic materials (quartz, silicon, and oxides of aluminum, hafnium, and zirconium) in both bulk and post-fabrication topologies [15]. Experiments for beam-on demonstrations of the prototypes in Fig. 4 are currently in progress at Stanford and SLAC National Accelerator Laboratory, the initial goals of which are to demonstrate acceleration and measure achievable gradient [16]. The first prototype to be tested will be the dual-grating structure of Fig. 4(c).

#### Detector Resetting at High Repetition Rates

The repetition rates proposed in Table 7 for a future DLA collider are of the same order of magnitude as those currently in use at the ATLAS detector at LHC, which has a maximum crossing rate of 40 MHz. Since the DLA luminosities in Table 7 have been scaled to match that for traditional RF technology at the same center-of-mass energy, but with lower charge per bunch, the total number of events per second has merely been redistributed over a larger number of crossings. At ATLAS, only 200 crossings are recorded per second, using a sophisticated trigger system that selectively filters them [17]. Techniques for filtering and processing large numbers of crossings will continue to improve, and constitute a challenge for HEP generally that is not limited to the DLA concept.

#### Transverse Wakes and Beam Breakup

Preliminary estimates of emittance growth due to transverse wakefields and beambreakup (BBU) instability were performed by Eric Colby for the Report of the 2011 ICFA Mini-Workshop on Dielectric Laser Acceleration [14]. The train of bunches was represented by macroparticles propagating through a simplified BBU model [18] using estimates of the transverse wakes corresponding to a vacuum channel in bulk dielectric. The results indicated approximately 2 nm of emittance growth with 500 GeV of acceleration over 1 km, with tolerances of 30 nm on the transverse co-alignment of the quadrupole and accelerator elements. However, simulation of the transverse wakes for particular structures and more sophisticated modeling of the BBU will be needed to better understand the tolerances required to mitigate these effects.

#### Efficient Coupling and Dissipation of Power

Proper handling of kilowatts of average laser power in micron-scale structures requires the development of integrated couplers with high (near 100%) efficiency. Significant progress has been made recently in simulating such couplers for the woodpile structure using silicon-on-insulator (SOI) waveguides [19]. The power distribution scheme is then envisioned as a fiber-to-SOI coupler that brings a pulse from an external fiber laser onto the integrated chip, distributes it between multiple structures via SOI power splitters, and then recombines the spent laser pulse and extracts it from the chip via a mirror-image SOI-to-fiber output coupler [20], after which the power is either dumped or, for optimal efficiency, recycled [21].

#### Compatible Electron and Positron Sources

As seen in Table 7, the bunch charges for optimal laser-to-beam coupling efficiency are in the range of 1-20 fC. In order for successive bunches to sit in the accelerating phase of the wave, the requisite bunch durations are on the attosecond scale, with intrabunch spacing equal to the laser wavelength. A technique for generating the requisite optically microbunched attosecond scale beams was recently demonstrated at SLAC [22], and recent work in field emission needle-tip emitters demonstrates that electron beams with the requisite charge and emittance requirements are within reach [23]. Development of compatible positron sources remains an important unsolved problem.

#### 2.1.4 yy Colliders

An electron-electron linear collider can be converted to a photon-photon collider by converting the electron beams into photon beams by irradiating laser beams just before the collision point as shown in Figure 5.



**Figure 5:** Illustration of the principle of a  $\gamma\gamma$  collider.

This scheme opens the possibility for investigating different physics from the collider than when it is operating with charged particle beams. The wave length  $\lambda_L$  of the laser should be as short as possible for creating high energy photons from a given electron energy. However, it must satisfy

 $\lambda_L[\mu m] > -4 E_e[TeV]$ 

where  $E_e$  is the electron energy, because, otherwise, the created high-energy photons would be lost by electron-positron pair creation in the same laser beam. To obtain a narrow photon energy spectrum the laser beam should be circularly polarized (and electrons longitudinally polarized). Linear polarization may sometimes be needed depending on the physics processes being studied.

Since the transverse electron beam size at the conversion point is much smaller than the laser spot size, the probability of conversion is almost entirely determined by the laser parameters and is independent of the electron parameters as long as the electrons go through the entire length of the laser pulse. For almost all the electrons to be converted into photons, the required flash energy of the laser pulse is approximately given by

 $A = \omega_L * \sigma_C \! / S_L$ 

where  $\omega_L$  is the laser photon energy,  $\sigma_C$  the cross section of Compton scattering, and  $S_L$  the effective cross section of the laser beam.  $S_L$  cannot be too small due to the Rayleigh length requirement. Thus, in any case A is a few Joules. On the other hand, the required pulse structure of the laser beam, which must match the electron beam, strongly depends on the collider design. In particular, a superconducting collider (e.g. ILC), a normal-conducting collider (e.g., CLIC) or a laser plasma accelerator (LPA) demand very different pulse structures. The pulse structure can be characterized by a few parameters:  $n_b$  the number of bunches in a train,  $t_b$  the interval between bunches,  $n_b^*t_b$  the train length, and  $f_{rep}$  the repetition frequency of the trains. The train length is O(ms) for superconducting colliders but is O( $\mu$ s) or less for a normal-conducting collider.

Table 9 shows examples of the required laser parameters for low-energy (Low-mass Higgs region)  $\gamma\gamma$  colliders based on the ILC, CLIC and LPA parameters. The parameters for the ILC is based on those given by V. Telnov [24] slightly modified according to the

present ILC parameters [25]. The parameters for CLIC are based on the proposal CLICHÉ [26] with the updated parameters of CLIC [27]. V. Telnov made important correction to some of the CLIC parameters as well as provided the laser parameters. [28] (For the ILC a possible use of FEL is proposed [29] but this is irrelevant in the present context.) The parameters for LPAs are scaled versions of those in Section 2.1.2 and [5].

All of these parameters are subject to change depending on the project evolution as well as on the optimization of the interaction region. Owing to the long bunch train (980  $\mu$ s) and large bunch spacing (370 ns) for the ILC it is possible to use an optical cavity for accumulating the laser power (the multiplication factor Q in the table) so that the requirements for the laser are greatly relaxed at the cost of very high precision optical system [30]. This type of optical cavities is similar to that currently under construction for a Compton X-ray source at KEK [31].

For the CLIC it would be difficult to employ an optical cavity because the bunch train is short (177 ns) and the bunch spacing small (0.5 ns). However, the required laser system is similar to a single laser beam line of the Laser Inertial Fusion Energy (LIFE) project at LLNL in the US and can be readily adapted from the existing proposal for the LIFE laser beam.

Figure 6 shows the beam structure of a CLIC-based  $\gamma\gamma$  collider. The laser pulse train for the collider consists of a burst of 354 five-joule, one-picosecond pulses separated by 0.5 ns for a total of 1770 J/burst. These bursts occur at 50 Hz, yielding an average power of 88.5 kW of 1-micron light. The LIFE laser on the other hand is designed to produce over 130 kW of average power with pulse energies of 8.1 kJ at 16 Hz. To make the change to the new pulse format, several changes to the architecture would be required. First, the front end of the laser system would need to be modified to generate the pulse bursts, which is well within current technology capabilities. Due to the low energy of each pulse, only a minimal stretch is needed for the pulses:  $\sim 10\times$ , to 10 ps. This can be accomplished with a very simple stretcher / compressor pair. The diode arrays will need to be triggered at the higher 50 Hz repetition rate. Likewise the Pockels cell in the beam line cavity will have to be modified to enable 50 Hz operation. Since the extracted energy in a burst will only be 1770 J, there is ample margin in the LIFE energetics and extraction design for the laser to perform at this level. Finally, at the output of the laser, the stretched pulses will need to be compressed. Since the energy is low, the beam can be readily expanded to lower the fluence onto moderate aperture gratings and minimize average power effects. After compression, the pulses can be focused by an off-axis parabola onto the intended collider target.

Technology similar to this has also been proposed for the Extreme Light Infrastructure (ELI) project in Europe [32].



Figure 6: CLIC-based yy collider beam structure.

For an LPA-based  $\gamma\gamma$  collider or low-energy  $e^+e^-$  collider, the same accelerator systems tradeoffs apply for efficiency and gradient as in the 0.5 TeV and higher energy LPA cases considered in section 2.1.2. Since luminosity requirements are a modestly less than those for a 1 TeV e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> collider, similar accelerator parameters are appropriate to the 1 TeV column in Table 3, with reduced repetition rate of 4 kHz. While the system tradeoffs remain the same, due to the lower beam energy and repetition rate required wall plug power requirements are several-fold lower. The linac length will also be shorter which makes geometric gradient less critical. Hence while parameters similar to those of section 2.1.2 are suitable for a lower energy machine (by using fewer stages), operation can also be considered at higher plasma density where per-pulse laser energy and electron bunch charge is lower and repetition rate is higher. This may be advantageous for laser development purposes as an intermediate step between present facilities and a TeV-scale machine. For example, operating at density of  $10^{18}$ /cc instead of  $10^{17}$ /cc would increase repetition rate from 4 kHz to 40 kHz, and reduce laser energy per stage from 32 to 1 J. The price for this: the pulse length also falls from 56 fs to 18 fs, which may require special techniques for some laser systems. As for the higher energy options, 2  $\mu$ m lasers can be used in place of 1  $\mu$ m, requiring one-fourth the laser energy per stage and four times as many stages, with other parameters remaining constant.

A key difference from CLIC and ILC based options is that LPAs are expected to produce single bunches rather than bunch trains. Hence the scattering laser should have a repetition rate matched to the accelerator driver, and duration in the range of a few picoseconds. To minimize the required accelerator energy, the laser wavelength should be set by  $\lambda_L$  [µm] ~4 E<sub>e</sub>[TeV], which yields a 0.3 µm laser with a 75 GeV beam to produce the required 120 GeV center of mass. Again, laser alternatives exist, and a 1 µm laser can be used with a 100 GeV electron beam. Table 9 shows the 1 µm laser paired with the LPA operating at 10<sup>18</sup>/cc and the 0.3 µm laser with the LPA at 10<sup>17</sup>/cc, but these options are interchangeable.

Electron Beam Parameters	ILC	CLIC	$\frac{LPA}{n_e=10^{17}/cc}$	$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{LPA} \\ n_{e} = 10^{18} / cc \end{array}$
Energy per electron beam (GeV)	100	100	75	100
Max energy of photons (GeV)	60 (75)	60	60	60
$\gamma\gamma$ luminosity at the high energy peak $(10^{34} \text{ cm}^{-2} \text{s}^{-1})$	0.13	0.19	0.3	0.3
Electrons per bunch ( $\times 10^{10}$ )	2	0.68	0.4	0.13
Number of bunches in a train $(n_b)$	2640	354	1	1
Distance between bunches (t <sub>b</sub> , ns)	370	0.5	n/a	n/a
Length of the train $(n_b^* t_b, \mu s)$	980	0.177	n/a	n/a
Repetition frequency $(f_{rep,} Hz)$	5	50	4	40
Electron bunch length $\sigma_z$ (µm)	300	44	1	0.3
Normalized emittance $\varepsilon_{x/y}$ (mm-mrad)	10/0.035	1.4/0.050	0.1	0.1
Beta-function at IP $\beta_{x/y}$ (mm)	4/0.3	2/0.02	0.15	0.2
Beam size $\sigma_{x/y}$ (nm)	450/7.3	120/2.3	10	10
Distance between conversion point and IP (mm)	~1.5	~0.5	<75	<350
Crossing angle (mrad)	25	25	<50	<50
Laser Parameters				
Wavelength (µm)	1 (0.5)	1	0.3	1
Rayleigh range (mm), f#	~0.5, 20	~0.4,18	0.3	1
Laser pulse energy (J)	~10/Q	5	2	6
Pulse length (r.m.s., ps)	~1.5	~1	2	7
Peak power (TW)	~2.5/Q	2	1	1
Average power (kW)	150/Q	90	8	240
Laser power in a train (MW)	25/Q	10000	n/a	n/a
Cavity enhancement factor	Q~300	1	1	1

Table 9: Beam and laser parameters of yy colliders.

Notes on the ILC and CLIC columns of Table 9:

- 1) Distance between the Compton conversion point (CP) and the interaction point (IP) is  $b = \gamma \sigma_{v_i}$ .
- 2) Thickness of the laser target is equal to 1.2 collision lengths.
- 3) Luminosity in the high energy peak means  $L_{\gamma\gamma}(W > 0.8W_{max})$
- 4) For the ILC, the numbers are given for  $\lambda = 1 \ \mu m$ . Those in ( ) are for  $\lambda = 0.5 \ \mu m$ .
- 5) For the ILC,  $\lambda = 1 \ \mu m$  is OK and  $\lambda = 0.5 \ \mu m$  may be possible. But for CLIC only  $\lambda = 1 \ \mu m$  is allowed because the disruption angle is 1.5 times larger. [The disruption angle is proportional to  $(N/\sigma_z)^{1/2}$ .]
- 6) "Undulator" parameter  $\xi^2 = 0.15$  (0.2) was used for  $\lambda = 1$  (0.5)  $\mu$ m, corresponding to reduction of W<sub>max</sub> by 5%.

Notes on the LPA columns of Table 9:

- 1) Parameters for LPA example at 10<sup>17</sup>/cc and 10<sup>18</sup>/cc are drawn from Section 2.1.2 and Ref. [5].
- 2) Laser parameters for LPA example refer to scattering laser. For drive laser parameters, see Table 3.

#### 2.1.5 Plasma Accelerators as Injectors with the Example of LHeC

#### 2.1.5.1 Introduction

Plasma-based linear accelerators carry the promise to allow feasibility of compact and therefore less expensive linear colliders for high energy physics (HEP). The path to a laser plasma accelerator (LPA) is described elsewhere and parameter tables for linear colliders based on this technology have been worked out. It will still require a significant time until a TeV-class LPA can be constructed. In the meantime it would be important to use laser plasma acceleration with applications for lower beam energies.

One possible use case is a laser-plasma linac as injector for other accelerators. Such an application would allow gaining experience with this technology and developing it into full maturity. As an example we describe an idea for the application of a laserplasma accelerator to LHeC.

#### 2.1.5.2 Example: The Large Hadron Electron Collider (LHeC)

The LHeC is a concept for extending the LHC [33] physics program with collisions of 7 TeV protons and 60 GeV electrons in the interaction region "IR2" of LHC. Its conceptual design is described in [34]. The options of a ring-ring (RR) or linac-ring (LR) layout are presently being considered. In the RR scheme, a second ring accelerator is installed into the LHC tunnel and used for the storage and acceleration of the 60 GeV electrons beam. In the LR scheme an energy recovery linac is used to accelerate electrons to 60 GeV and to bring them into collision with the stored LHC beam. The LR requires a new tunnel for the linac, aiming at IR2 of the LHC. The design parameters for LHeC are listed in Table 10.

#### 2.1.5.2.1 Electron Beam Requirement for LHeC (RR)

The ring-ring option of the LHeC requires that electron bunches are generated, sufficiently pre-accelerated and injected into the LHeC electron ring. The target beam parameters for injection are as follows:

1)	Beam energy:	10 GeV
2)	Bunch population:	$20 \times 10^9 \mathrm{e}^{-1}$
		$(14 \times 10^9 \text{ e}^- \text{ for nom. performance})$
3)	Normalized transverse emittance:	0.29 mm-rad
4)	Pulses for injection:	~5 Hz

This beam would allow filling the required 2808 bunches of the LHC within about 10 minutes. The bunch length is not critical, as long as the transverse-mode coupling instability can be kept under control. Single bunch injection is preferred but accumulation (as was done in LEP) can be envisaged if required. Accumulation is the repeated injection into the same RF bucket of the ring. Several methods exist for this.

Table 10: The main parameters for the LHeC, for electron (left) and proton (right) beams. Both
the ring-ring (RR) and linac-ring (LR) options are listed. This table was copied from the LHeC
conceptual design report [34].

electron beam	RR	LR	LR <sup>*)</sup>	proton beam	RR	LR
e- energy at IP[GeV]	60	60	140	bunch pop. [10 <sup>11</sup> ]	1.7	1.7
luminosity [10 <sup>32</sup> cm <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> ]	13	10	0.4	tr.emit.γε <sub>x.v</sub> [μm]	3.75	3.75
polarization [%]	40	90	90	spot size σ <sub>x.v</sub> [μm]	30, 16	7
bunch population [10 <sup>9</sup> ]	20	1.0	1.5	β* <sub>x,v</sub> [m]	1.8,0.5	0.1
e- bunch length [mm]	10	0.3	0.3	bunch spacing [ns]	25	25
bunch interval [ns]	25	25	50			
transv. emit. γε <sub>x.v</sub> [mm]	0.58, 0.29	0.05	0.1			
rms IP beam size σ <sub>x.v</sub> [μm]	30, 16	7	7			
e- IP beta funct. $\beta_{x,y}^{*}$ [m]	0.18, 0.10	0.12	0.14			
full crossing angle [mrad]	1	0	0			
geometric reduction H <sub>hg</sub>	0.75	0.91	0.94	RR= Ring – Ring LR =Linac –Ring		ing
repetition rate [Hz]	-	-	10			
beam pulse length [ms]	-	-	5	Ring: with 1º as basel	ine · 1 /2	
ER efficiency	-	94%	-	Linac: clearing gap: L*2/3		
average current [mA]	131	6.4	0.27			
tot. wall plug power[MW]	100	100	100	*) pulsed, but high energy ERL not impossible		

#### 2.1.5.2.1 Electron Beam Requirement for LHeC (LR)

The linac-ring option of the LHeC requires generating and delivering to the LHC ring a different kind of electron beam:

1)	Beam energy:	60 GeV
2)	Normalized transverse emittance:	50 µm-rad
3)	Bunch charge:	$2 \times 10^{9}$
4)	Electron current:	6.4 mA
5)	Electron flux:	$3.3 \times 10^{16} \mathrm{Hz}$
6)	Bunch spacing:	50 ns
7)	Mode:	CW

The electron beam power at the IP is 384 MW. The concept of the LR LHeC foresees that most of this power is recouped in energy recovery linacs. Total required power for the electron beam should remain at or below 100 MW. The LR option foresees also a pulsed mode of the linacs for very high beam energies (above 140 GeV).

## 2.1.5.3 Possibilities for a Laser-Plasma Linac and Issues

Laser plasma accelerators have seen tremendous advances over the recent years. The progress cannot be reviewed here in any detail, so we point to the published literature and the references therein. The EuroNNAc workshop in May 2011 provided an interesting overview and slides of the presentations can be accessed in [35]. The

electron beams achieved to date with laser plasma accelerators have the following typical properties:

1)	Beam energy:	0.1 – 1.0 GeV
2)	Normalized transverse emittance:	∼10 µm-rad
3)	Bunch charge:	$\sim 1 \times 10^{9}$
4)	Repetition rate:	0.1 – 10 Hz
5)	RMS energy spread:	$\sim 1\%$
6)	RMS bunch length:	$\sim 0.5~\mu m$ (1.5 fs)

The presently achieved electron beam parameters with laser plasma accelerators do not fit directly into the LHeC requirements. In particular, CW operation as foreseen for the LR option, is not feasible. A laser plasma accelerator for the LR option is also disfavored due to the absence of the energy recovery option, which is required for keeping the power needs of the electron machine below 100 MW.

The use of a laser plasma accelerator for the RR option of LHeC seems to have fewer feasibility challenges compared to the LR option, with the exception of the following issues for injection into the electron ring of the LHeC:

- 1. The **beam energy** of the electron beam must be increased by a factor of 10, to about 10 GeV. The ongoing BELLA project [36] at LBNL is targeted to demonstrate the generation of 10 GeV electron beams from a laser plasma accelerator. Its goal should be achieved within the next 2 years.
- 2. The **bunch population** should be increased by a factor of 10-20 beyond present achievements. Alternatively, accumulation of 10 injections per RF bucket would be required, resulting in a  $10\times$  increase in the required repetition rate. Lasers can be operated at high repetition rates.
- 3. The **bunch length** of the generated bunches is much shorter than required. This is, *a priori*, no problem, as the electron beam will approach its equilibrium distribution once stored. However, fast instabilities must be controlled. In particular, the transverse mode coupled instability could be a problem, as it is worsened by short bunch length.

The first two items are expected to impose no fundamental feasibility issue for a possible use in the RR option of the LHeC. The third item is an interesting problem for further accelerator physics studies that explore the injection and control of ultra-short bunches in storage rings. There is no experimental experience with such bunches and theoretical studies would be required before assessing feasibility limits in this new regime.

#### 2.1.5.4 Conclusion

The electron beams generated today from laser plasma accelerators are approaching parameters that make their usage interesting for new applications. The use of advanced electron accelerators for linear colliders has been discussed in the literature. In this short report we have discussed the possible use of an advanced LPA as injector for the LHeC proposal. The application for the ring-ring option of the LHeC is indeed not fully excluded and could be used to demonstrate gains in size and cost with the new technologies, while developing them to full maturity for linear collider applications. Required R&D studies would involve the study of injection with ultra-short bunches into a storage ring. This is an interesting topic and theoretical studies are required.

It is noted that only one example application has been considered in this short note, namely, the LHeC. However, other applications for high energy physics and photon science ring facilities can be envisaged—for example, top-up of electron storage rings during operation.

#### 2.1.6 Perspectives on Laser Proton Acceleration to the TeV Range

Recently RPA acceleration has been demonstrated with laser intensities in the range just below  $10^{20}$  W/cm<sup>2</sup>. Proton and carbon bunches of about 1 MeV/u with relatively narrow bandwidth energy can be observed [40]. In a paper by Zheng *et al.* [37-38] perspectives are given on extending this to the TeV range. RPA acceleration requires an ultra-high intensity laser with circular polarization to interact with a very thin target. The requirement of well-defined beam quality is very demanding, and a pre-pulse level below  $10^{-10}$  is mandatory to allow for this process.

# RPA(PSA): nm target



**Figure 7:** The process of RPA acceleration. The laser is impinging on the ultra-thin foil, building up a compressed layer of electrons, which in return transfers momentum to all the particles in the foil. [39-40]

efficiency~10%, GeV

The experimentally observed proton energy at ~  $5 \times 10^{19}$  W/cm<sup>2</sup> is approximately 1 MeV. The proton energy scales nearly linearly with the laser intensity, requiring about  $10^{23}$  W/cm<sup>2</sup> to produce 1 GeV proton beams. Starting from this energy level, further acceleration in a plasma wakefield would become possible. In the paper by Zheng *et al.* it is even proposed that this might be achieved by merely adding a region of gas behind the original RPA target.



**Figure 8:** Combined RPA and wakefield acceleration as proposed by Zheng *et al.* [37-38]

The theoretical modelling of this is presently done by 1D calculation, which might not give a full description of the problem. Even if the process were not as favourable in this direct combination, the principle of injecting RPA accelerated protons into a stage using wakefield acceleration would seem applicable. The requirements on the laser driver are mainly driven by the RPA process, where laser intensity close to  $10^{23}$  W/cm<sup>2</sup> has to be reached. The present level reached with sufficient quality does not exceed  $10^{20}$ W/cm<sup>2</sup>. The wakefield acceleration requirement, by itself, will be similar to the case of electron acceleration.

#### 2.1.7 Laser Stripping of H<sup>-</sup> Particles in High-Intensity Proton Accelerators

#### 2.1.7.1 Laser Stripping of H<sup>-</sup> Particles for SNS

The Spallation Neutron Source (SNS) at the Oak Ridge National Laboratory (ORNL) is the world's most powerful short-pulsed, accelerator based neutron scattering facility for scientific research and industrial development. The SNS accelerator complex utilizes charge-exchange injection to "stack" a high-intensity proton beam in the accumulator ring for short-pulse neutron production. In this process, a 1 ms hydrogen ion (H<sup>-</sup>) beam pulse is transported to a carbon stripping foil located at the injection point of the ring. The electrons are stripped and the resulting proton is merged with the previously accumulated beam. This injection scheme is central to the operation of many accelerator facilities including the SNS, J-PARC, ISIS and PSR that use the H<sup>-</sup> beam. When the beam power is increased from the 1 MW to more than 3 MW as envisioned in the SNS Power Upgrade project, the stripping foils become radioactive and produce uncontrolled beam loss, which is one of the main factors limiting beam power in high intensity proton rings.

A "foil-less" charge exchange injection method was first proposed in the 1980s by using a field dissociation process. This scheme requires an impractically large laser power, which is indeed the central difficulty involved in ionizing neutral hydrogen. Danilov et al. proposed a three-step scheme for laser stripping. This scheme works as follows: First, H<sup>-</sup> ions are converted to H<sup>0</sup> by stripping off the first electron in a magnetic field; then H<sup>0</sup> atoms are excited from the ground state (n = 1) to the upper levels (n  $\geq$  3) by a laser, and the excited states H<sup>0\*</sup> are converted to H<sup>+</sup> by stripping the second electron in a second magnetic field.

In a proof-of-principle experiment, a third harmonic beam from a Q-switched laser was used for stripping. The laser generates a 30 Hz, 6 ns pulses with a peak power of ~10 MW at 355 nm. The stripping efficiency reached 90%. A simple multiplication of 10 MW laser peak power and the duty factor of the SNS beam (6%) yields an average laser power of 0.6 MW at 355 nm to strip the entire H beam. Similar numbers are obtained for other proton ring facilities. Obviously, this average power requirement is too large to make the device practical.

## 1) Optimization of H<sup>-</sup> beam parameters

An appropriate dispersion derivative of the  $H^-$  beam will be designed to eliminate the Doppler broadening of the absorption line width and therefore to reduce the required frequency sweep for the laser beam. The vertical size as well as the horizontal angular spread of the  $H^-$  beam will be minimized. The
optimization of the  $H^-$  beam parameters will reduce required peak power of the laser to the 1 MW level. Reduction of the bunch length of the ion beam can further reduce the average laser power requirement.

# 2) <u>Macropulse laser system</u>

The laser parameters are determined by laser-hydrogen interaction physics and the linac operation condition at SNS. First, the energy gap between the ground and excited states in the hydrogen atom, beam energy and the interaction geometry at the accumulation ring requires a laser with UV emission. The peak power of micropulses needs to be ~1 MW to achieve a sufficient stripping efficiency. The temporal structure of the laser system must match the bunch structure of the SNS accelerator which has a pulse width of ~ 50 ps at a repetition rate of 402.5 MHz. The micropulses are further bunched into a macropulse with up to 1 ms duration at a repetition rate of 60 Hz. The ideal (minimum laser power requirement) condition would be that the laser beam has an identical temporal structure with the ion beam. A macropulse mode laser system has been designed by ORNL and Continuum, Inc. to meet the above requirements. A prototype laser has been fabricated by Continuum. The laser adopts a master oscillator power amplifier (MOPA) scheme contains an actively mode-locked fiber laser, three-stage Nd:YAG amplifiers, a wavelength conversion stage that converts the infrared radiation from the laser to the UV beam, and an electronic RF and control system that allows full remote-control of the laser. The macropulse duration of the present laser system is limited to 20 us due to the pumping scheme and the wavelength conversion efficiency. To achieve longer macro-pulse, diode pumping has to be used and the peak power has to be reduced.

# 3) Beam recycling optical resonator

In general, the photon-hydrogen interaction results in a negligible loss to the photon number due to tiny cross sections. Consider, for example, the case of the laser assisted H<sup>-</sup> beam stripping scheme at SNS. According to the theoretical calculation, only 10<sup>-5</sup> of the photons are lost during a single photon-hydrogen interaction even for 100% stripping efficiency. It is therefore expected that the average laser power requirement can be significantly reduced by recycling the laser beam with a power build-up optical cavity and allocating the laser-particle beam interaction inside the cavity. Optical cavity technology has been welldeveloped for low-power, infrared, and often for continuous laser beams. However, in our case, the cavity needs to work on high intensity picosecond UV pulses operating at a macropulse mode with a very small duty factor, which imposes a technical challenge on the cavity stabilization and operation. A power enhancement factor of 50 - 100 will be needed for the final laser assisted stripping experiment. Since our UV beam source is a pulsed laser with a very low repetition rate and a very narrow macro pulse width, it is impossible for the feedback control system to respond and drive the piezo to the cavity resonant position at such a low duty factor. A dual color optical cavity is being developed at SNS to resolve the challenge. Since the UV beam is generated from the infrared seed laser, we expect the cavity that is locked with the infrared beam will also be locked to the 10Hz UV beam.

Table 11 lists the parameters of the SNS H<sup>-</sup> beam, and Table 12 summarizes the required laser parameters with and without the beam recycling optical resonator.

Beam energy (GeV)	1.0 (upgrade: 1.3)
Beam power (MW)	1.4 (upgrade: 3.0)
Beam macropulse length (ms)	1.0
Beam micropulse length (ps)	50
Peak macropulse H- current (mA)	38
Ring accumulation time (turn)	1060
Ring bunch intensity	$1.6 \times 10^{14}$
Vertical size (mm)	0.6
Vertical emittance (mm-mrad)	0.225π
Horizontal size (mm)	3
Vertical emittance (mm-mrad)	0.225π

**Table 11:** SNS H<sup>-</sup> beam parameters.

Method	Macropulse laser	Macropulse laser w/ 20x resonator
Laser wavelength (nm)	355	355
Micropulse length (ps)	50	50
Micropulse energy (µJ)	50	2.5
Micropulse repetition rate (MHz)	402.5	402.5
Macropulse length (ms)	1	1
Macropulse energy (J)	20	1
Macropulse repetition rate (Hz)	60	60
Average power (W)	1200	60
Temporal profile	Flat	Flat
Contrast	N/A	N/A
Efficiency	Normal solid-state lasers	Normal solid-state lasers
Polarization	100/1	100/1
Cost	Multi \$M	Multi \$M
Laser beam quality	$M^2 < 1.2$	$M^2 < 1.2$
Pulse stability	1%	1%
Laser pointing stability (µrad)	1	1
Laser availability	24/7	24/7

 Table 12: Required laser parameters for SNS laser stripping.

## 2.1.7.2 Laser Stripping of H<sup>-</sup> Particles for Project X

Project X would convert H<sup>-</sup> particles to protons at 8 GeV. This has the advantage of using a laser of longer wavelength because the photon energy would be increased by the relativistic  $\gamma$  factor ( $\gamma = 9.526$ ) due to the Doppler shift. The beam parameters are listed in Table 13 and the beam pulse structure is shown in Figure 9.

Kinetic energy (GeV)	8
Relativistic γ	9.526
Micropulse length (ps)	15 ps
Micropulse frequency (MHz)	325
Micropulse period (ns)	3.1
Macropulse length (ms)	1.25
Macropulse current (mA)	20
Macropulse frequency (Hz)	5
No. H <sup>-</sup> per micropulse	$4 \times 10^8$
No. micropulses per macropulse	$4 \times 10^5$
No. H <sup>-</sup> per macropulse	$1.6 \times 10^{14}$
No. H <sup>−</sup> per second	$8 \times 10^{14}$
Vertical beam size (mm)	1.5
Horizontal beam size (mm)	1.5
Beam power (MW)	1

Table 13: Project X H<sup>-</sup> beam parameters.



Figure 9: H<sup>-</sup> pulse structure of Project X.

## 2.1.7.2.1 Direct Laser Ionization

The photoionization of the ground state of the hydrogen atom H(1s) has been studied extensively in the past half century. For low intensity radiation there are exact expressions of this process in terms of the cross section obtained from the perturbation theory [41]. In this approximation, the incident photon flux density is much smaller than 1 atomic unit (a.u.) and the pulse duration is much longer than an optical cycle. However, this approximation is no longer valid when intense laser pulses are employed, since the peak electric fields can be comparable with or larger than 1 a.u. and the pulse may last only a few optical cycles or even a fraction of a cycle. Therefore, perturbative

methods are not applicable, and numerical methods for solving the time-dependent Schrödinger equation (TDSE) are required.

Ionization of hydrogen atoms by intense laser pulses is a complex subject that is still not fully understood [42-44]. Although many theoretical approaches have been proposed, they typically break down at high laser intensities or neglect important aspects of the laser-atom interaction such as long-range Coulomb interaction or realistic pulse shapes. On the other hand, numerical solutions of the TDSE provide accurate predictions, but are extremely computationally intensive and converge slowly at high intensities. Current results show that no simple relationship links ionization rate to pulse duration, frequency and intensity, due to competing ionization mechanisms, evolving energy levels, resonances and stabilization.

Calculations performed for 24.8 nm (50 eV), 2.5 fs (30 periods) pulses suggest that intensities beyond  $10^{17}$  W/cm<sup>2</sup> are required for efficient (> 90%) ionization of hydrogen atoms [45]. From an experimental standpoint, few absolute measurements of the ionization yield are available. An experiment performed with 600 fs, 248 nm laser pulses measured ~0.001% ionization for intensities of the order of  $10^{14}$  W/cm<sup>2</sup> [46].

## 2.1.7.2.2 Three-Step Stripping

Electrons in hydrogen atoms exposed to intense laser radiation can be excited to higher states. For the Project X parameters, the n = 2 transition can be triggered when the hydrogen beam interacts with a 1024 nm laser beam at an angle of ~96 degree. A laser peak power of ~3.5 MW is required for 90% stripping.

It may be possible to reduce the required laser energy by decreasing the incidence angle (Figure 10). However, this approach can only be investigated by performing detailed simulations of the response of hydrogen atoms to the laser field.

Counter-propagating geometry would require a laser at around 1.8  $\mu$ m, which could be achieved using an OPA. However, detailed calculations would be required to establish the power required, the role of Stark shifting, etc.



Figure 10: Wavelength vs. angle and power vs. wavelength required for ionization of hydrogen atoms.

# 2.2 Laser Applications for Light Sources

This section discusses the requirements on performance for lasers that are used in conjunction with RF accelerators; drivers for laser plasma accelerators that in turn power a free electron laser or other advanced radiation source; and for Thomson scattering based gamma-ray sources.

Lasers already play a significant role in existing light source facilities, but face new challenges with future light sources that aim at much higher repetition rates. Ultrafast (femtosecond) lasers reaching 1-10 kW levels will be required for seeding and user driven experiments. Lasers producing a few joules in 30-50 fs pulses at high repetition rate (100-1000 Hz) could be used to drive laser plasma accelerator. Thanks to their ability to produce GeV-class, ultra-short, high peak current electron bunches, these laser plasma accelerators could in turn drive compact free electron lasers operating in the soft X-ray regime. Higher energy per pulse lasers (~40 J) would be needed to drive multi-GeV electron bunches for hard X-ray FELs.

#### 2.2.1 Lasers for RF Accelerator-Based Light Sources

Lasers are widely used in today's RF accelerator based light sources. Uses range from photocathode gun based linacs; to phase space manipulation (heating) or diagnosis of electron beams; seeding FELs with high harmonics from gases, liquids or solids; and user experiments on high-repetition-rate facilities.

#### 2.2.1.1 Guns and Heaters

The requirements for photocathode laser systems are different for various current and future light sources, mainly depending on the foreseen time structure of the electron beam and the foreseen photocathode material. The time structure parameters range from low-duty-cycle, single-shot schemes via microbunch trains (burst mode laser systems) to CW operation. The photocathode materials can be various metals or different types of semiconductors, and thus wavelength requirements can range from the UV (e.g., Cu and  $Cs_2Te$ ) to green (e.g., alkali antimonite) or IR (e.g., GaAs). The laser system has to be synchronized to the RF system with a precision of a small fraction of a degree of the specific RF phase, and almost all projects require temporal and spatial laser pulse shaping.

Besides the requirements for high power laser systems for burst mode and CW operation, two additional fields of research have been identified: 3D shaping of the laser pulses, and alternative cathode material developments.

A key parameter to extend the performance of short wavelength light sources is transverse emittance, which must be reduced. This quantity has a cathode dependent lower limit (thermal emittance). Space charge and RF curvature can cause further emittance growth. To minimize these other sources of emittance growth, 3D electron bunch shaping is promising: simulations for a 1 nC bunch showed a > 25% reduction of the projected emittance and >10% reduction of the central slice emittance in comparison to an optimized "beer can" laser pulse shape.

Smaller transverse emittance will extend the scientific reach of short wavelength FELs by, e.g., lasing at even shorter wavelengths; allowing saturation at lower beam energy or with shorter undulators; two-color lasing; and higher levels of transverse coherence at lower beam energies. In addition, the longitudinal phase space is very linear, enabling smoother bunch compression. At low bunch charges, very short electron bunches can be produced, allowing longitudinally coherent FEL laser pulses (single spike lasing). Additionally, this shaping will reduce the beam halo, reducing the radiation damage to undulator segments and diagnostics components.

Table 14 summarizes the laser requirements for photocathode systems.

**Table 14:** FEL photocathode laser systems requirements. Wavelength given is that applied to the cathode, often harmonics of the laser fundamental. If not otherwise indicated, powers listed assume a conservative quantum efficiency of the cathode of 1% and a factor of 10 for overhead associated with spatial and temporal shaping as well as transport losses. Pulse duration is FWHM. Yellow indicates that some further development is needed; red indicates a need for significant R&D.

	Wave- length	Pulse energy	Pulse duration	Rep rate	P <sub>peak</sub>	Pave	Comments
Nd:YLF	262 nm	10 μJ UV 100 μJ IR	15 ps	1 MHz burst of 0.8 ms with 10 Hz	700 kW UV 7 MW IR	0.1 W UV 1 W IR	FLASH (in operation, large overhead)
Yb fiber	515 nm	2 uJ green 5 μJ IR	10 ps	1 MHz	0.2 MW green 0.5 MW IR	2 W green 4 W IR	NGLS 1% QE green, 40 W IR if UV required
IR quadru- pled	260 nm	10 ען UV 100 או ען IR	20 ps	4.5 MHz burst of 0.65 ms with 10 Hz	500 kW UV 5 MW IR	50 W UV burst, 0.3 W overall 500 W IR burst, 3 W overall	European XFEL (large overhead)
IR doubled	~515 nm	200 nJ green 1.5 μJ IR	10 ps	1.3 GHz	40 kW green 20 kW IR	250 W green 500 W IR	ERL (BerlinPro type, sc gun)
IR 5 <sup>th</sup> har- monic	200 nm	5 μJ UV 50 μJ IR	10 ps	1.3 GHz	0.5 MW UV 5 MW IR	6.5 kW UV 65 kW IR	ERL(scgun,lowQEcathode0.1%)

Another important field of research is the study of different cathode materials. Besides the usual aim of high quantum efficiency at manageable vacuum requirements, cathode development has goals that include:

- Lowering the power requirements and simplifying the photocathode laser system if high quantum efficiency photoemission at longer wavelength (green spectral range) can be used.
- Improving the usability of different cathode materials in superconducting RF cavities. Besides heat deposition by the photocathode laser beam, the RF joint with the cavity and the compatibility with high gradient SC cavities are issues.
- Reducing the thermal emittance. Since the solid state properties of the photocathode also determine the thermal emittance for given laser spot size, a proper choice of cathode material will have increasing proportional importance when the other sources of emittance are reduced further and further.

Laser heater systems are needed in many facilities for increasing the uncorrelated momentum spread of the electron beam from photocathode RF guns (Table 15). Usually, though, they can rely on the residual IR radiation from the photocathode drive laser system.

	Wavelength	Pulse energy	Pulse duration	Rep rate	P <sub>peak</sub>	Pave	Comments
IR	800nm	~ 10 µJ	50 ps (FWHM)	1 MHz	200 kW	10 W	Residual IR from drive laser is typically suitable

Table 15: Laser system requirements for the heater laser for an FEL.

# 2.2.1.2 FEL Seeding

Today's EUV, soft X-ray and hard X-ray free electron lasers are based on the selfamplified spontaneous emission (SASE) principle. While this is a very robust mode of operation, it makes it difficult to generate photon pulse properties tailored to scientific user needs in terms of defined pulse shape and length, longitudinal coherence, and timing stability. The drawbacks in FEL beam quality mainly stem from the SASE process starting up from the spontaneous undulator radiation (shot noise), which results in considerable spectral and energy fluctuations. Seeding the amplification process with external radiation rather than shot noise is a promising method to increase the spectral brilliance and to achieve pulses that are stable in frequency spectrum and in energy [47]. The output power of the seeded FEL is concentrated in a single line, which is many times narrower than the spectrum of the conventional SASE FEL (Fig. 11).

External seeding also makes it possible to synchronize the seeded FEL pulse with an additional pump-probe laser system to better than the pulse length, which is typically 10 fs or less. Synchronization to the fs level opens a wide field for revolutionary ultra-fast physics experiments. Such novel synchronization schemes are being developed at FLASH, Fermi@Elettra and other places [48]. These systems are based on compact ultra-stable fiber laser systems providing a timing reference. Synchronization systems are not yet mature and need considerable R&D.

There are two main classes of seeding: self-seeding [49, 50], where SASE radiation is filtered and used as a seed in a subsequent undulator, and external seeding. In external seeding, a laser co-propagates with the electron beam in a short undulator used as an energy modulator at some point before the final, radiating undulator. The energy modulation can be turned into a density modulation using a wide variety of beam optics and FEL interactions. At this point, there are three classes of externally seeding: direct seeding, where the modulation wavelength is the same as the radiated wavelength [51], compressed harmonic generation (CHG), where the modulation wavelength is directly compressed only with linear beam optics as the bunch length is compressed (like an accordion) [52], and harmonic generation (HG), where higher harmonics of the resulting density modulation are used to drive either an intermediate or the final undulator. This technique often includes multiplication techniques like high gain harmonic generation (HGHG) [53] or echo-enhanced harmonic generation (EEHG) [54].



**Figure 11:** Typical wavelength spectral distribution of a single SASE FEL pulse. Red: calculated for a typical SASE process starting from shot noise. Blue: with external seeding.

The laser power requirement arises from needing significantly more power at the final undulator due to the pre-microbunched electron beam than from the beam's shot noise which drives the SASE amplification (a factor of 100 is typically required). For a wavelength  $\lambda$ , the power in the shot noise is given by  $P_{Shot} \sim 1/(\lambda^{3/2})$  [55]. Also, phase and amplitude noise on the external laser seed (as well as nonlinearities in the beamline optics that generate the harmonic seed if any) lead to a broadening of the radiated X-ray spectrum. Analysis of this process is an active research area [56-59], but it is already clear that these harmonic generation processes lead to tighter requirements and additional power at the fundamental. Spectral bandwidth broadening may scale linearly with harmonic number for CHG processes and as the square root of harmonic number for HG processes [60]. In the following, requirements are established for direct seeding, to provide an overall basis.

Seeding of the amplification process by an external laser pulse has been considered for a long time and was demonstrated in a proof-of-principle experiment at SCSS/Japan [51]. Seeding improves the FEL beam properties considerably and thus extends the range of possible applications. A method of producing the seed radiation is the generation of higher harmonics (HHG) from near-infrared femtosecond laser pulses in rare gas media [62, 63]. Odd harmonics of the laser fundamental are created and used as seeding radiation pulses.

Beyond fundamental issues in the realization of seeding at VUV and X-ray wavelengths, it is particularly challenging to realize a femtosecond laser system for very short pulse lengths. The minimum pulse duration is determined by the bandwidth of the FEL gain process, resulting in a natural coherence time of approximately 4 fs at VUV wavelengths (at FLASH, for example) and below 1 fs at X-ray wavelengths. The seed pulse should be shorter than the electron bunch, thus increasing the impact of longitudinal slippage effects. As an example, simulations show that a seed energy of several nJ (or > 50 kW peak power) with >1 eV bandwidth is required at FLASH to seed a wavelength of 7 nm.

Due to the low conversion efficiency of the HHG process ( $\sim 10^{-6}$  to  $10^{-8}$ ) and transport losses, the energy of the external laser pulse has to be at least 5 mJ, which means close to 1 TW peak power. These power levels are particularly problematic at high repetition rates, where the resulting average power is hundreds to thousands of

watts. Methods for enhancement of the higher order harmonic generation process (i.e., quasi-phase matching) should also be considered as a possibility to reduce the energy requirements for the driver laser.

In Table 16, illustrative parameters for proposed future seeded fourth generation light sources in vastly different regimes are presented, to bracket currently anticipated needs. In Table 17 the respective seed laser parameters for more modest cw FELs and burst mode FELs are shown. As a specific example, a prototype beyond-state-of-the-art seed laser is being developed for FLASH. Presently, several tens of  $\mu$ Js at 7 fs are achieved with a repetition rate of 100 kHz [64]. In the near future, an upgrade to 1 to 3 mJ per pulse as required for the HHG seeding process is planned [65].

Туре	High-rep rate seeded FEL facility (SCRF Linac)	Low-rep rate seeded FEL facility (NCRF Linac)	
E (GeV)	2.5	12	
I (mA)	1	10 <sup>2</sup>	
$\varepsilon_{\rm x}$ ( $\varepsilon_{\rm y}$ ) (mm-mrad)	< 0.8 (norm)	< 0.3 (norm)	
Spectral peak (keV)	1	42	
Peak brightness (ph/s/mm <sup>2</sup> /mrad <sup>2</sup> /0.1% BW @ spectral peak)	$\begin{array}{c} 10^{29} \text{-}10^{33} \text{ (depends on FEL configuration)} \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} 10^{27} \text{-}10^{31} \text{ (depends on fermion)} \\ \end{array}$		
Average brightness (ph/s/mm <sup>2</sup> /mrad <sup>2</sup> /0.1% BW @ spectral peak)	10 <sup>18</sup> -10 <sup>26</sup> (depends on FEL configuration)	10 <sup>14</sup> -10 <sup>22</sup> (depends on FEL configuration)	
Average flux (ph/s)	10 <sup>13</sup> -10 <sup>17</sup>	$10^{10} - 10^{15}$	
Average coherent flux (ph/s)	~ full coherence	~ full coherence	
Photons/pulse	$10^8 - 10^{12}$	10 <sup>10</sup> -10 <sup>11</sup>	
Charge/bunch (pC)	10-1000	100-250	
Beam pulses per second	10 <sup>6</sup>	$10^{4}$	
Beam pulse length (fs)	~ 100	~ 30	
Machine size (m)	700	1000	
Cost and Schedule	\$1B; 10-year construction	\$1B; 7-year construction	
Comments	LBNL design concept	LANL design concept	

 Table 16: Parameters for future FEL light sources

Since it is not at all obvious which of the seeding options will be the most efficient and cost effective path forward, experiments are scheduled in order to investigate all methods. However, the answer may even vary from machine to machine.

For high average brilliance FELs like burst-mode FELs (FLASH and the European XFEL), cw FEL proposals (NGLS and NLS) or Energy Recovery Linacs (Cornell ERL, BerlinPro), the average laser power would have to be in the kW range. As an example, a repetition rate of 1 MHz requries a seed laser with an average power of 5 kW. Repetition rates beyond 1 MHz (e.g. 4.5 MHz for the European XFEL or 1 GHz for the ERL upgrade proposals) need considerable R&D, as they are beyond the reach of present technology. The main problems to be solved are similar in all high power lasers: the removal of heat together with the need for efficient pumping schemes (e.g., for

optical parametric chirped amplification). The requirements for a burst-mode amplifier are different than for continuous operation.

FLASH and XFEL run with a 10 Hz burst with and ~1% duty-cycle. The average power is lower (reduced heat load for the laser amplifier) but the burst average power is higher due to MHz repetition rates. Possible laser approaches are:

- Burst-mode Laser amplifier systems
  - fiber front-end with an Innoslab or/and Thin-Disk booster
- Continuous Laser amplifiers 100 kHz
  - fiber front-endwith an Innoslab or/and Thin-Disk booster
  - Low repetition rate Joule-class Laser amplifiers
    - Ti:Sa, perhaps OPCPA, may be able to scale current laser amplifier designs

In the following, we consider seeding approaches for four different regimes:

- 1) 30 eV to 0.25 keV
- 2) 0.25 keV to 1.5 keV
- 3) 6 keV to 15 keV
- 4) 40 keV to 50 keV

#### 30 eV to 0.25 keV

There are already active seeding efforts in this regime (e.g., the new FEL beamline FLASH2). An 10-40 nm HHG source is needed, with ~10 nJ in single harmonic. This leads to a 0.1 mW HHG laser, with up to 100 nJ per pulse. Current HHG state-of-the-art technology should be satisfactory for HGHG and EEHG harmonic generation. However, they are not yet feasible for direct seeding as can be seen in Figure 12 and Table 17.



**Figure 12:** HHG state-of-the art, with the blue dashed line indicating 100 times the shot noise at that wavelength. The number by the crosses indicate the number of QPM jets needed. The triangles refer to HHG in Ar and Xe and the circles to QPM in capillaries. The squares are achieved with two-colour mixing.

	Laser	Seed	X-ray	η	Rep rate	Pave	Comments
EEHG	0.8 μm 100 GW >10 fsec (mJ)	200 nm up to GW	2 nm	>10 <sup>-1</sup> conv./ 10 losses	100 kHz and MHz burst	10s W 100s W for burst	~10s µJ UV and IR both required CEP (evt.)
HGHG	0.8 μm 10 GW >10 fsec (100 μJ)	200 nm 100 MW	20 nm	>10 <sup>-1</sup> conv./ 10 losses	100 kHz or MHz burst	10s W 100s W for burst	CEP stabilization required for ultrafast pulses
HHG	0.8 μm 1 TW >10 fsec (10 mJ @<10nm)	<10 nm 1 MW >10 nm 100 kW	<10 nm (and > 10 nm)	10 <sup>-5</sup> HHG/ 10 losses	100 kHz or MHz burst	kW 10s kW For burst	R&D CEP (evt.)

**Table 17:** Laser requirements for seeding 30 eV to 0.25 keV FELs. Yellow indicates that some further development is needed; red indicates a need for significant R&D.

## 0.25 keV to 1.5 keV, 6 keV to 15 keV, and 40 keV to 50 keV

These regimes lead to very challenging laser requirements. Seeding FELs at 0.25 keV to 1.5 keV requires laser sources capable of 100 kW at 1 nm ( $10^{-6}$  conversion efficiency limits the repetition rate). This will require significant R&D. Currently, a single line HHG source at ~keV has 1-10 fs duration, with  $10^{-8}$  conversion efficiency. With a net HHG efficiency of  $10^{-9}$  (which includes the  $100 \times$  shot noise requirement and an assumed  $10 \times$  transport loss) and shot noise equivalent power of 1 MW for a 10 fs pulse, a 10 J HHG drive laser is needed.

Seeding laser requirements for the two higher X-ray regimes are even more challenging and will likely require beam-based harmonic generation or self-seeding. 10 kW of SASE noise at 50 keV will require a 1 MW seed power. Laser power enhancement factors from using optical cavities will help [66], but they may not be a viable solution for >MHz repetition rates. Laser requirements for seeding these X-ray regimes are summarized in Table 18.

	Laser	Seed	X-ray	η	Rep rate	Pave	Comments
HHG+ HGHG or EEHG	0.4-4 μm 100 GW 10 fsec (mJ)	20 nm 100 kW	1 nm	10 <sup>-5</sup> HHG/ 10 losses	100 kHz and MHz (burst)	kW	Possible in future - with DPSS laser pumped OPCPA
Direct HHG	>4 μm 1 PW 10 fsec (10 J)	1 nm 1 MW	1 nm	10 <sup>-5</sup> HHG/ 100BW/ 10 losses (100 for narrower bandwidth)	120 Hz	kW	Scalability of current laser amplifiers to higher reprate?
HHG+ HGHG	4 μm 10 PW 10 fs (100 J)	4 nm 10 MW	0.1 nn	10 <sup>-5</sup> HHG/ 100BW/ 10 losses	1 Hz	100 W	New laser amplifier technologies needed
HHG+ EEHG	4 μm 10 PW 10 fs (100 J)	4 nm 10 MW	0.025 nm	10 <sup>-5</sup> HHG/ 100BW/ 10 losses	1 Hz	100 W	New laser amplifier technologies needed

**Table 18**. Laser requirements for seeding 0.25 keV to 50 keV FELs. Yellow indicates that some further development is needed; red indicates a need for significant R&D.

## 2.2.1.3 Lasers for Users

Users of light sources will typically require optical lasers in conjunction with the light source beam to either pump or probe matter (for example, the majority of LCLS experiments are pump-probe). Because many of these experiments will be investigating matter on time scales of the light source X-ray pulses, conventional lasers will need to provide short pulses at the rep-rate of the light source. These conventional pulses will need to be energetic enough to excite states in matter to be probed by the X-rays and will need to have flexibility in wavelength that allows pumping and probing of as many states as possible. Optical lasers can be used while wavelengths from 200 nm to 20 mm will require harmonic generation and/or optical parametric amplifiers (OPAs). Also, experiments will be multi-color. In general, this implies tens of mJ of laser energy with pulse widths that range from <10 fs to picoseconds. Such a laser should also be compatible with harmonic conversion, as well as with pumping of OPAs. For example, current optical pump/probe lasers at LCLS supply 25 mJ of energy with pulse lengths of 35 fs at a 120 Hz rep rate. Scaling these requirements to 100 kHz rep rates will require kW-class short pulse lasers. Considerable R&D efforts will be required to handle the thermal loads for harmonics, OPAs, and even the transport optics.

Pumping and probing of matter with the X-ray source and a conventional laser implicitly requires a high degree of synchronicity between the light source and the optical laser. Pushing this synchronicity to levels to < 10 fs for future experiments will require non-conventional (most likely optical) timing distribution systems. Even with timing distribution systems capable of sub-picosecond drift and jitter, the inherent jitter in many of the light sources will require diagnostics that can measure the relative arrival times of the optical laser and the light source or electron bunch at the femtosecond level. In this case, the data can be post-processed with the temporal resolution of the measurement of the relative arrival times.

#### 2.2.2 Lasers for Laser Plasma Accelerator Driven FELs

Laser-plasma accelerators (LPAs) produce ultra-high accelerating gradients (10-100 GV/m) enabling compact accelerators. In 2006, a cm-scale laser-plasma accelerator was first demonstrated at LBNL that produced 1 GeV electron beams with a time integrated energy spread of about 2.5%, containing 30 pC of charge, using a 40 TW laser pulse (2 J/pulse). Currently, experiments are underway at many institutions to demonstrate that such beams are capable of powering an FEL. Using a conventional undulator with cm-scale period, beams of a few hundreds of MeV would be sufficient to produce extreme ultra-violet radiation. Production of shorter wavelength radiation in the soft X-ray regime would require beams with energy on the order of a few GeV which could be produced from a single LPA by reducing the plasma density and using laser pulses with several J/pulse. Harder X-rays would require yet higher laser pulse energy (order 10 - 30 J) in 100 fs pulses, and plasma structures with length on the order of 1 m and plasma densities of order  $10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>.

In the following we consider the laser requirements for LPA generated electron beams suitable to drive an FEL. We consider FELs delivering light in the photon energy bands (i) 0.25 keV – 1.5 keV, (ii) 6 keV – 15 keV, and (iii) 40 keV – 50 keV. Assuming conventional undulator technology, delivering these photon energies requires electron beam energies of (i) 2 GeV, (ii) 10 GeV, and (iii) 20 GeV, respectively. To produce these beams, the accelerator may operate as a single LPA, or by staging several LPAs. Table 19 shows three possible configurations and the required laser parameters. For each LPA option the laser intensity is a=1.5, where  $a^2=7.3 \times 10^{-19} \, \lambda [\text{um}]^2 \text{I}[\text{W/cm}^2]$  is the normalized vector potential. The use of a parabolic plasma channel for guiding and linear plasma density tapering is also assumed.

Column (I) in Table 19 shows a high plasma density  $(10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3})$  option, requiring 1 J of laser energy in 30 fs to produce 1 GeV electron beams (with  $10^9$  electrons/bunch). Such an LPA could be staged to reach the required 2 GeV for soft X-ray generation in an FEL.

Column (II) in Table 19 shows an LPA operating at a plasma density  $10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, using an 8 J, 100 fs duration, 2 micron wavelength laser (e.g., fiber laser) to generate a 2.5 GeV electron beam for soft X-ray production. Such an LPA could be staged (4 stages) to reach 10 GeV for generation of 6 keV – 15 keV photons.

Column (III) shows a 10 GeV LPA operating at a plasma density of  $10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, using a 1 micron wavelength, 32 J, 100 fs duration, laser pulse. The 10 GeV electron beam can be used for X-ray production in the energy range 6 keV – 15 keV. Two stages would extend the energy range to 20 GeV, enabling hard X-ray production in the energy range 40 keV – 50 keV.

Although a compact, low-repetition rate (1–10 Hz) LPA-driven FEL could provide high-peak brightness light for user experiments, the applicability of this technology for large-scale user facilities requiring high-average brightness would require repetition rates that are beyond the state-of-the-art of today's high-peak power lasers. Operating an FEL at kHz would require lasers with average power in the kW range for soft X-ray FELs and several tens of kW for hard X-ray FELs.

Parameter	I	II	III
Plasma density (cm <sup>-3</sup> )	10 <sup>18</sup>	10 <sup>17</sup>	10 <sup>17</sup>
Electrons/bunch	10 <sup>9</sup>	4 x10 <sup>9</sup>	4 x10 <sup>9</sup>
Repetition rate (kHz)	1 - 1000	10 - 1000	1 - 15
Laser wavelength (µm)	1	2	1
Laser pulse duration (ps)	0.03	0.1	0.1
Beam energy gain/stage (Gev)	1	2.5	10
Stage length (m)	0.03	0.25	1
Laser energy/stage (J)	1	8	32
Average laser power/stage (kW)	1 - 1000	80 - 8000	32 - 480

**Table 19.** Laser requirements for laser-plasma accelerator driven FELs. Significant laser R&D is required for high-average power operation.

# 2.2.3 Thomson Scattering Sources for X-ray and Gamma-ray Production

Thomson scattering can provide quasi-monochromatic, tunable X-ray sources in a narrow divergence beam. Sources based on this principle will likely allow for a new dimension of ultrafast medical and material diagnostics, revolutionize remote material analysis (including homeland security applications), and provide the necessary photons for ultrahigh-resolution scattering microscopy. This concept has already been realized using conventional electron accelerators. As an example, ~10<sup>8</sup> photons per shot at X-ray energies tunable between ~10-50 keV (~10% relative bandwidth) were achieved by a private company originating out of the Vanderbilt FEL. Available commercial short pulse laser systems would allow 10 Hz repetition rate. Proposed advances will augment average photon number by several orders of magnitude. Phenomenal miniaturization can be expected to occur as laser-based electron accelerators are incorporated. Beyond classical Thomson scattering in the incoherent regime, an envisioned scheme of generating a flying "relativistic electron mirror" holds the promise of coherent up-shift of laser light.

Current efforts in conventional accelerator based Thomson source are focused towards achieving a several order of magnitude increase in average photon flux by addressing the gross mismatch between laser and accelerator repetition. As the cross section for the scattering is extremely low, a negligible fraction of the laser light is scattered. Thus a natural solution for generating the high repetition rate and high intensity pulses is constructive addition of multiple pulses in a properly stabilized optical cavity.

Table 20 presents expected performance and required photon requirements specified at the 2011 workshop for both linac (< 5 year timeline) and Energy Recovery Linac (ERL, > 5 years). The laser source is based on a Yb laser with 1 ps, 100 nJ pulses operating at 100 MHz (10 W average power). This light is subsequently amplified with a cryo-cooled Yb multi-pass amplifier with 100× gain under development at MIT's Lincoln Laboratory. The linac version requires development of the enhancement cavity, while the ERL based design will also demand increased laser repetition rate.

Parameter	LINAC (<5 yrs)	ERL (>5 yrs)
Photon energies (keV)	3-12	3-12
Average flux (ph/s in 10% BW)	$10^{14}$	$2x10^{16}$
Repetition rate (MHz)	100	500
Laser average power (kW)	1	5
Laser pulse duration (fsec)	500	500
Storage cavity enhancement	1000	1000

**Table 20:** Parameters and requirements of proposed Thomson sources from the MIT based group at the 2011 workshop. Capabilities that are only marginally satisfied by today's technology are in yellow, while those requiring significant R&D are in red.

A compelling application of Thomson scattering is generation of compact monoenergetic MeV gamma sources. Scattering from electron beams at 200-800 MeV energies can produce photons at 1.7-15 MeV. These photon energies are suitable for NRF or photo-fission interrogation, and are delivered with mrad divergence ideal for remote detection at hundreds-of-meters standoff with low radiation dose. The concept is supported by proof-of-principle experiments at LLNL [20]. Particularly exciting is anticipated miniaturization of such sources by obtaining the electrons from laserwakefield accelerators. For example, a modest 300 MeV electron beam of 0.1 nC and 2% energy spread scattering with a 40 J, ps laser would produce  $\sim 10^8$  gammas at 1.7 MeV matched to the U-235 nuclear resonance fluorescence. Electrons at ~700 MeV would access photo-fission. Electron beams approaching these requirements have already been generated using laser-plasma acceleration (LPA) in cm-scale plasmas. To produce electrons in the GeV range, ~50 TW peak power is required. Such systems are today operational at 10 Hz; future kHz repetition will further benefit the Thomson X-ray source for such applications. The backscattering laser should produce ~10 J with 1-100 ps pulse duration. A laser of this class has similar performance to the pump laser required for an optical-parametric-chirped-pulse-amplification OPCPA based solution for the laser-accelerator driver.

A novel proposal for coherent Thomson scattering in the ~ 1 keV photon range is the "relativistic mirror" concept [67]. For a thin foil of nm scale thickness, a laser with intensity of  $10^{18} - 10^{19}$  W/cm<sup>2</sup> can remove the entire electron population. If the laser rise is single cycle, the entire sheet of electrons will preserve the initial thickness of the foil. A subsequent reflector foil will separate the electrons from the optical field, leaving them with a purely forward and narrow-spread momentum [68]. A counterpropagating laser will coherently backscatter from this "single microbunch" before Coulomb forces blow it apart. Cutting-edge few-cycle, intense lasers such as the Petawatt Field Synthesizer at MPQ Garching will enable first studies of this exciting concept.

# 2.3 Laser Applications for Medical Particle Beam Therapy

#### 2.3.1 Introduction

The medical application of laser acceleration is discussed here primarily in the context of ion beam therapy with protons or carbon beams, with some discussion of the application of electron beams. Worldwide the most common approach to radiation therapy is with photon beams (X-rays generated by electron accelerators), which benefit from the affordable cost and compact size of the devices. The advantage of ion beams lies in their Bragg peak property, which allows predominant and peaked irradiation in depth at the position of the tumor. This unique radiobiological advantage of protons (and, even more, carbon beams) is evidenced by the success of ion beam therapy in the more than 30 facilities in Europe, the USA, and Asia. Numerous proton facilities (primarily cyclotrons) are successfully in operation worldwide [69].

Only a few heavy ion facilities exist. The original site, the Berkeley Bevalac [70] is closed. Sites currently operating include Japan's HIMAC [71] and Germany's recently completed Heidelberg Ion Therapy facility [72]; others are recently finished or in construction. These facilities, with combined use of proton and carbon beams, rely on conventional accelerator technology, where a linear accelerator is used as the injector into a synchrotron. This technology has been developed to extremely high efficiency due to 3D scanning techniques for irradiation, and to proven high reliability (up to 98%). One of the drawbacks of synchrotrons is their large size and cost, which qualifies this approach for larger hospitals with three to five treatment rooms.

Laser acceleration has the potential to replace either cyclotrons or linac-andsynchrotron combinations for medical applications; see, for example, Bulanov and Khoroshkov [73] and Tajima et al. [74]. The benefits could be a significantly reduced system size and cost, possibly combined with further advantages (potentially facilitating gantry design, for example). On the other hand, it is not obvious that the high accuracy of spot scanning delivery by synchrotrons is the right approach for a laser system.

We therefore take for the current parameter study the reference case of the PSI cyclotron, which aims at a 3D scanning technique that has lower resolution (compared with synchrotrons). In particular, we examine the option of a 3D spot and energy scanning with passive formation by spreading the beam over the whole tumor volume and shaping it with adjustable collimators, as is commonly done with cyclotrons or synchrotrons. Specific parameters (like energy spread and total number of voxels) need to be adjusted to the particularities of laser acceleration, which include a much higher production energy spread than in cyclotrons or synchrotrons and a laser pulse rate that is within the reach of foreseeable technology.

#### 2.3.2 Laser Particle Beams for Medical Applications

#### **2.3.2.1** Ion Beam Production Mechanisms (including Targets)

The laser acceleration of ions provides an acceleration gradient many orders of magnitude larger than that of conventional acceleration, of the order of 1 TeV/m. Several options exist in terms of target configurations and acceleration mechanisms [75]. Energetic proton and ion beams with high 6D phase space density have been produced in the last few years from thick metallic foils (e.g., few  $\mu$ m thick aluminum) irradiated by ultra-intense, short laser pulses. The results from most previous experiments are based on the Target Normal Sheath Acceleration [76] model (TNSA). Because these targets are relatively thick, the laser pulse is mostly reflected and the conversion efficiency of laser pulse energy to ion kinetic energy is normally less than 1%.

The dependence of maximum ion energy on laser intensity is a less-than-linear function. The maximum proton energy based on the TNSA mechanism has somewhat improved since its first discovery: from 58 MeV in the year 2008 [77] to, more recently, a 78 MeV cutoff energy for the exponential spectrum, with  $6 \times 10^{13}$  particles. The possibility of accelerating more monoenergetic ion bunches has already been demonstrated within the TNSA regime by restricting the ion source to a small volume, where the sheath field is homogenous. However, a very high laser intensity of  $>10^{22}$  W/cm<sup>2</sup> is required to accelerate protons to 200 MeV or above.

Because of the advantage in accelerating limited mass by laser pressure, experiments producing high-energy ions from sub-micrometer to nanometer targets much thinner than the ones in early experiments, and driven by ultrahigh contrast (UHC) short-pulse lasers have attracted a recent strong interest. A new mechanism for laser-driven ion acceleration was thus proposed, where particles gain energy directly from Radiation Pressure Acceleration or Phase Stable Acceleration (RPA/PSA); see for example Esirkepov et al. [78]. There are two key issues:

- 1) Generation of quasi-monoenergetic ion beams by reduction of the intrinsic energy spread. This is not a "must" as the required energy window must be filtered anyway.
- 2) Accelerating protons or  $C^6$ + ions in laser-foil interactions to 250 MeV or 400 MeV per nucleon, respectively.

By choosing the laser intensity, target thickness, and density such that the radiation pressure equals the restoring force established by the charge separation field, the ions can be bunched in a phase-stable way and efficiently accelerated to a higher energy. In recent years, experiments with quasi-monoenergetic peaks of  $C^{6+}$  at ~30 MeV were observed at MPQ/MBI [79], and beams of  $C^{6+}$  at >500 MeV (exponential) and 100 MeV (quasi-monoenergetic) were observed at LANL [80]. Furthermore, at LANL quasi-monoenergetic protons at ~40 MeV were generated from nm-thin diamond-like carbon foils. Interpretation of these experiments in terms of RPA is, however, not conclusive. Theoretical study shows that the energies and intensities needed for medical proton/carbon applications may be generated from hydrogen/carbon foil (of submicron thickness) with a laser intensity of ~10<sup>21</sup> W/cm<sup>2</sup> with sufficient ion abundance and a monoenergetic (peaked) energy distribution [81].

A step beyond the conventional TNSA mechanism is the so-called Break-Out Afterburner (BOA) mechanism. It was discovered theoretically in 2006. The main difference between TNSA and BOA (or RPA) is the decoupling of the ion acceleration from the driving laser field due to the thickness of the target. In contrast, for the RPA and BOA mechanisms, the electrons that are accelerating the ions are still interacting with the laser field. To use the maximum number of available electrons, the target must be dense enough so that the laser beam does not initially penetrate the target, but rather, couples to the electrons. At some point the target has to become "relativistically transparent" to the laser light. When the target becomes relativistically transparent, the light can directly interact with electrons, co-moving with the ions at the rear surface. Thus the BOA mechanism starts as normal TNSA, but then, during the rising edge of the laser pulse, the intensity couples to the already moving electron-ion front at the rear side of the target [82, 83]. Numerical simulations predict ion energies of hundreds of MeV for existing laser parameters and up to the GeV range for currently planned

systems. Recently, acceleration of protons up to energies of 100 MeV at the TRIDENT laser has been reported [84].

One important difference to TNSA is that in a mixture of target atoms, all of the accelerated ions propagate at the same particle velocity, governed by the slowest, i.e., the heaviest species present. Thus for high energy proton acceleration a pure hydrogen target is the ideal choice. For each laser pulse duration and intensity as well as for each target composition one can determine an optimum target thickness, based on the abovementioned physics.

Recently a mechanism of laser proton acceleration from double layer foils, the Directed Coulomb Explosion (DCE), which is an efficient combination of the RPA and Coulomb Explosion, was suggested [85]. In this regime a high-intensity laser pulse not only expels electrons from the irradiated area of the foil but also accelerates the remaining ion core, which begins to move in the direction of pulse propagation. Then the ion core experiences a Coulomb Explosion due to the excess of positive charges, transforming into a cloud expanding predominantly in the laser propagation direction. A strong one-dimensional longitudinal electric field moves ahead of it, which accelerates protons from the second layer. This mechanism predicts that 220 MeV protons can possibly be generated by a 500 TW laser pulse with the energy spread of about 3%.

An alternative method is laser driven proton acceleration in a hydrogen gas jet with density just above the critical density, which is  $10^{19}$ /cm<sup>3</sup> for a CO<sub>2</sub> laser [86]. This method has the characteristic feature of creating very narrow energy spreads (practically monoenergetic beams). In an experiment at the UCLA Neptune Laboratory, 22 MeV, nearly monoenergetic protons with energy spread of ~1% have recently been achieved [87].

Table 21 summarizes the main proposed mechanisms. Relevance to therapy is signified by + or - based on existing experiments, simulation, and achieved kinetic energy.

	Experiments	Status	Theory	Relevance to Therapy
TNSA	> 1999	>10 <sup>13</sup> ions, ~ 70 MeV, robust, reproducible	Analytical + 2D/3D simulations	+
TNSA/BOA (Break-out- afterburner)	> 2011	100 MeV	2 D/3D simulations	++(+)
RPA	>2008	Experimental evidence not conclusive	2D/3D simulations >GeV	++(+)
Coulomb explosion	-	-	2D simulation	+
Gas Jet - RPA	2011	20 MeV monoenergetic	2D	++

Table 21: Mechanisms of laser proton acceleration and relevance to therapy

#### 2.3.2.2 Ion Beam Parameters to Treatment Area

The distance from the skin to the deepest tumors in the body determines the required particle energy. From the stopping range in water, the necessary energy for reaching deep tumors is calculated to be 250 MeV for protons and 400 MeV/u for carbon. The number of ions is defined by the dose requirements for killing cancer cells. The necessary total number per fraction (a single treatment lasting typically 1-10 minutes) is estimated to be  $\sim 1 \times 10^{11}$  for protons and  $\sim 2.5 \times 10^{9}$  for carbon for a 1 liter tumor volume. With reference to the commonly used hadron therapy schedules, the duration of a fraction is usually below 5 minutes, which we also adopt here as a goal.

For a standard 2 Gy dose and an assumed  $1 \text{ cm}^2$  voxel area, the required number of particles is estimated to be ~10<sup>9</sup> for protons and ~2.5×10<sup>7</sup> for carbon. The total dose on any tumor volume element must be defined with at least 5% accuracy. Due to the yet-unknown pulse intensity definition (intensity fluctuations in present experiments are significant) we consider that the total dose per volume element is delivered by the cumulative effect of (on average) 60 repetitive beams of the same kinetic energy. See the next section for details. In particular, we assume 4 gantry directions (fields) and 15 repetitions per field. In case of spot scanning we assume that  $10\times10$  spots are sufficient for laterally uniform irradiation of a 100 cm<sup>2</sup> area. For passive formation lateral uniformity is assumed to be reached by 10 repetitive density profiles (using different boluses to adjust lateral density profiles).

It is assumed that 10 energy steps are sufficient to reach sufficient depth dose uniformity (similarly to the PSI cyclotron). The energy variation is not done by absorbers as with cyclotrons, but by magnetically filtering the desired energy window out of the usually broader production spectrum. For relatively monoenergetic production spectra, varying the laser intensity, which moves the peak of the spectrum, may be required. For a broad spectrum this may not be necessary.

In order to match approximately to the strongly reduced intensity needs for more proximal depth layers we apply a factor of <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> to the total number of pulses. Results are summarized in Table 22. Note that the laser frequency for spot scanning had to be increased to 30 Hz to keep the duration per fraction below the 5 minute target.

	Spot scanning	Passive formation	Comments
Protons / laser shot	2×10 <sup>7</sup>	2×10 <sup>8</sup>	reach 2 Gy by 15×4 repetitions
# transverse	10×10 spots	10 reps for lateral uniformity	
Energy steps	10	10	$\Delta E/E = \pm 5\%$
Reps specified dose (~30% energy jitter)	60	60	15 reps, 4 gantry directions
Total # shots per fraction	15,000	1500	<sup>1</sup> / <sub>4</sub> applied
Duration of fraction	8 min	2.5 min	
Laser rep rate	30 Hz	10 Hz	

Table 22: Suggested laser and ion parameters at treatment area for two proton reference cases

The number of laser shots is reduced by a factor of 10 for passive formation, which has the advantage that lateral beam profiles can be shaped by boluses intercepting the beam.

In this report, for the purpose of estimating specifications for future laser systems, we assume an extended tumor size. However, for treatment of very early stage tumors that are much smaller in size, the required number of ions can be significantly reduced, as can the required energy range for treatment. We can use current or future imaging resolution limits to estimate the minimum tumor size that can be detected (located) and treated. In this case some laser specifications might also be lower and even present technology allows developing therapy system for animal tests. Also, for such small tumors, spot-scanning is less likely to be an appropriate delivery mode.

These requirements for proton intensities per shot must be compared with what laser acceleration can actually deliver. As experimental data in the energy range of interest are not yet available, we can only refer to theoretical projections. In an RPA-based computational study it was shown that over  $10^{10}$  protons can be expected in an energy window  $\pm 5\%$  and with sufficiently good ability for focusing, provided that protons are collected by a lens (solenoid) [81]. In comparison with numbers for spot or even passive formation in Table 22 there is still a large safety margin to account for surprises in the acceleration mechanism, or for optimization of laser pulse and/or target towards less proton output and possibly higher conversion efficiency (photons into protons).

It appears from present extrapolations of observed and simulated ion abundances that lasers produce more ions than needed—in particular for spot scanning. If reduction cannot be achieved by laser and target optimization, the overproduction needs to be absorbed and shielding of patients against neutrons can become an issue.

For carbon ions we assume the same ion parameters would apply, except that a factor of 1/40 can be applied to the ion numbers per bunch due to the enhanced relative biological effectiveness of carbon.

#### 2.3.2.3 Reproducibility and Reliability

For irradiating tumor cells, very high reproducibility and reliability are required. In the event of exposure error, the ion beam would still deposit the excess energy into healthy cells surrounding the tumor. The total dose per voxel or volume element should be controlled to within  $\pm 3$  to 5%. In this sense, by increasing the number of laser shots (here assumed to be 60 on average), we can control the total dose error) to the required value in spite of relatively large shot-to-shot dose fluctuation of  $<\pm 50\%$ . The accumulated dose has to be controlled after each shot and the repetitions stopped after 95% of the nominal dose is reached.

It is also essential to address the tumor motion problem (attributed to breathing, patient positioning and organ motion, for example). In this case, the total dose error is thought to be within  $\pm 20\%$  at present. For regular predictable motion such as that attributed to respiration, this is typically done with gated irradiation. However, spotscanning delivery combined with tumor tracking can be more efficient and is under development.

Laser plasma accelerators provide electron beams with parameters of interest in many fields and in particular for radiotherapy [88]. The electron beam properties in the range of 150–250 MeV offer advantageous dosimetric characteristics compared with those calculated with conventional radiotherapy with 6 MeV energy photons. It was shown that electron beams produced with laser plasma accelerators are well suited for delivering a high dose peaked on the propagation axis, a sharp and narrow transverse penumbra, combined with deep penetration. Comparison of dose deposition with that of 6 MeV X ray beams showed a significant improvement of a clinically approved prostate treatment plan [89]. Laser plasma systems using commercial laser systems with tens of femtoseconds, few-joule laser pulses, and working at 10 Hz repetition rate can deliver the required dose in a few minutes and compete in size and cost effectiveness with conventional electron accelerators.

#### 2.3.3 Requirements for Lasers for Ion Acceleration

The laser requirements are driven first and foremost by the particle energy requirement of hadron therapy, i.e., 250 MeV for protons and ~ 400 MeV per nucleon for carbon. Achieving these energies will probably require laser-acceleration of ions in the RPA / PSA or BOA regimes. Laser parameters for diode pumped lasers assumed here are based on these mechanisms and summarized in Table 23 for "full energy" ions as required for deep tumors. Ion energies achievable in the TNSA regime do not scale favorably with laser intensity and the spectral yields from targets are typically quasi-exponential, not monoenergetic. While intensities beyond 10<sup>22</sup> W/cm<sup>2</sup> are required to reach the desired carbon energies, simulations indicate that 250 MeV of proton energy might be accessible at  $10^{21}$  W/cm<sup>2</sup> with optimum targets. However the optimal target thickness depends on laser intensity and it is very hard to make a thin, cryogenic liquid or solid hydrogen target, which will be required for efficient proton acceleration. Consequently, the optimal intensity for a proton machine might realistically be the same order of magnitude as for carbon.

Due to the nature of the target (very thin but of very high solid density), laser intensity contrast is one of the key requirements as is shown by the numbers given in Table 23. While the optimum laser pulse duration remains unclear, the newer acceleration mechanisms have been demonstrated at 45 fs and 500 fs, making it clear from both experiments and simulations that pulses with fast rise time are necessary to achieve highest efficiency, stable acceleration and a quasi-monoenergetic spectrum. Shorter rise time can improve the acceleration results. We assume a rise time of  $\leq 20$  fs is sufficient. Similarly a flat-top transverse pulse profile in the focal plane is a necessary requirement that must be developed. Altogether, these requirements equate to energy on target within a 5  $\mu$ m radius and flat-top focus of up to 150 J in the proton case and up to 1500 J in the carbon case.

If the  $CO_2$  laser on gas jets proves feasible for the required energies, it may result in significantly lower laser intensity and power requirements. Suggested values of laser intensities are possibly down by a factor of 100, with 500 fs pulse duration, 25 J pulse energy, 50 TW peak power and frequency range of 30-300 Hz. This requires, however, dedicated laser development beyond what has been established.

For therapy applications these parameters must be obtained at the required rep rate and with  $\leq 1\%$  stability. For future use in hospitals, development of an overall system is needed, which includes a compact laser and devices for imaging and spatial filtering, a transport beam line with appropriate instrumentation, and a sophisticated beam delivery subsystem for treatment.

	laser proton laser carbon					
Den note (an et/massive)	20 H= / 10 H=					
Rep rate (spot/passive)	30 HZ / 10 HZ					
Laser intensity (W/cm <sup>2</sup> )	$1-3 \ 10^{21}$	$1-3 \ 10^{22}$				
Pulse duration (fs)	50-150					
Rise time (fs)	<20					
Contrast (5 ps / 500 ps)	<10 <sup>-8</sup> /10 <sup>-12</sup>	<10 <sup>-9</sup> /10 <sup>-13</sup>				
Laser energy stability	1-5%					
Spot radius $(\Box m)$	5					
Peak power (PW)	1-3	10-30				
Pulse energy (J)	50-150	500-1500				
Average power (kW) 10 Hz						
(30 Hz)	0.5-1.5 (1.5-4.5)	5-15 (15-45)				
Laser cost assumption	<10 M€	~15 M€				
Laser wavelength (nm)	800-1054					
Efficiency	1-10%					
Polarization	lp/cp					
Laser beam quality	diffraction limit					
Pulse stability	0.01					
Laser pointing ( ad)	1-10					
Laser availability	12 h/day (50% duty factor)					
Failure rate	<2%					

Table 23: Laser parameters for ion acceleration aiming at "full energy" ions.

## 2.3.4 Needed Roadmap for Laser Development

Developing laser systems that are adequate for driving medical plasma accelerators with the proposed required parameters will likely take another 10-20 years. There are several ongoing and near-term projects on this subject in the world. Those must have clear quantitative requirements to fulfill the declared and approved targets. Success with these ongoing projects could represent achievements in the specified time windows. Their time structure and the currently envisaged roadmap need to be brought to mutual balance.

The complete integrated accelerator system consists not only of the laser but also targets (sources), beam line instrumentation for diagnostics and control and a sophisticated delivery subsystem. Clearly these companion technologies must be developed in parallel with laser systems.

# 2.3.4.1 Required Developments on Laser and Target Side

- 1) Laser + target specs as outlined in Table 23.
- 2) Robust acceleration mechanisms to required energies.
- 3) Reliability in energy and intensity spectrum.

- 4) Control of center energy for narrow production spectra.
- 5) Transverse emittance + position stability and failsafe control.
- 6) 10-30 Hz target replacement and positioning control.
- 7) An extremely thin but robust film or pneumatic target has to be developed for a carbon system.

# 2.3.4.2 Clinical Development

- 8) Quality assurance of beam parameters to prevent overdose.
- 9) Beam delivery system development providing online dosimetry, field definition (scanning, etc.) and safety.

## 2.3.4.3 Laboratories Involved, Their Status and Plans

The number of laboratories worldwide with programs in laser acceleration of protons or ions is increasing. Some of them have accompanying biophysical or medical programs/experiments, and a few are planning clinical programs based on laser acceleration. In Table 24 we give an overview of such laboratories that have some connection with biophysical or medical applications.

Table 24: Laser acceleration experiments and their therapy relevance (parameters contributed	
by U. Schramm, P. Bolton, Ch. Ma, J. Schreiber, V. Malka, M. Borghesi, M. Babzien)	

	Operating	J facilities					Under or near construction /	
	type of laser	J / fs / Hz	p / ion MeV	e <sup>-</sup> MeV	biophysics experiments	therapy relevant programs	J/fs/Hz (date)	
HZDR and Oncoray (Germany)	DRACO 150 TW Ti:Sapphire	4.5 J / 30 fs / 10Hz (30J upgrade 1Hz 2012/13)	20		Dose controlled cell irradiation and dosimetry development	Depth dose planned, translational research	PENELOPE DPSSL 150J / 150fs 1 Hz (~2015)	
KPSI (Japan)	J-KAREN 250 TW Ti:Sapphire	10 J / 30 fs / 30 min/	23	200	doublestrand breaks (2 MeV) Estimation of RBE with dose controlled cell irradiation	Development of source & beamline, assessment of PET diagnostics		
Fox Chase Center (USA)	150 TW Ti:Sapphire	4.5 J / 30 fs / 3min	6		Physics studies	Prototype studies	Planning an on- campus prototype facility	
MPQ & LMU Munich (Germany)	ATLAS 70 TW Ti:Sa LWS 20TW OPCPA	2 J / 25 fs / 5 Hz 0.1 J / 5fs / 10 Hz	8	600 50	Single shot radiation biology on cell level	Development of source, & beamline	(~2015) 5J/5fs/10Hz(~2015) 0.5J/5fs/1kHz (~2015)	
LOA (France)	Salle Jaune 30 TW Ti:Sapphire	Ile Jaune         1 J / 30 fs / 14         250         I           TW         10 Hz         <		Dosimetric properties Cell irradiation	Depth dose planned SAPHIR	SAPHIR 6 J / 30 fs (2012)		
QUB Belfast (UK)	TARANIS 60 TW, Nd:Glass	15 J (2 beams) /500 fs/ 15 min	12		Cell irradiation: dose dependent effects on single shot basis		Ion beam lines planned	
GSI (Germany)	PHELIX Nd glass	150J / 700 fs /10 <sup>-3</sup>	< 30		Double strand breaks (at 2 MeV)	Beam line collection & energy selection	PHELIX upgrade planned	
BNL (USA)	CO <sub>2</sub>	5 J/5000 fs	5			Source R&D		

# 2.4 Laser Technology Development Roadmaps

# 2.4.1 Introduction

The laser technology roadmaps for future laser-based particle accelerators are defined by the requirements of each specific application, as summarized in Table 25. The main challenge for the laser technology is that the majority of these applications (with only a couple of exceptions) require extraordinarily high average laser driver power, ranging from approximately 10 kW up to ~0.5 MW. Although required pulse energy, duration and other performance characteristics have been met by a variety of existing laser drivers, none of these can currently provide such high average powers. In

fact, the majority of existing LPA drivers cannot even reach such powers by further gradual technology development; it is expected that substantially new technological developments and even breakthroughs will be required. The challenge is further compounded by the need for high electrical-to-optical conversion efficiencies so that the "wall plug" electrical-power requirement for an accelerator facility is acceptable.

Table 25 also summarizes possible candidate laser technologies best suited for each particular application. There follows a detailed review of the five, summarizing current state of the art, anticipated challenges, and required R&D for each.

#### 2.4.2 Fiber Lasers for Laser Based Particle Acceleration

For laser-based accelerators to be broadly accepted for use, they must be robust tools with low maintenance requirements, turnkey operation and high wall-plug efficiency. To date, fiber laser systems offer the most potential to attain the combination of reliability and efficiency ultimately required for a user facility, on a par with RF based accelerators. Further, because they are waveguide based, the beam quality of fiber lasers is (if not perfect) typically superior to that of other lasers of similar power and pulse energy. However, while fiber lasers commonly attain 30% wall plug efficiency in the robust turnkey, low maintenance,  $M^2 < 1.1$ , commercially available form needed for a demanding application, this has been true only of continuous wave lasers to date.

Laser based particle accelerators will in most cases require ultrafast pulses (<100 fs) with high contrast (>10<sup>10</sup>), high pulse energy (>10 J), high average power (~100 kW), and high efficiency (>30% wall-plug), along with excellent beam quality and pointing stability. While fiber lasers are great CW lasers, they simply cannot attain pulse energies greater than a few millijoules with good beam quality. However, once they can make a single pulse of a given energy, the repetition rate and average power will typically scale to quite high values with little to no additional R&D; this is not true of most other laser systems. Further, the primary (but not the only) focus of development to date for fiber laser systems has been on making better CW lasers. Thus, while mJ fiber lasesr with sub-picosecond pulses have been demonstrated, critical issues such as pulse contrast and <100 fs pulse widths have not been adequately addressed. Further, to attain joule-class energies, a fiber laser system will need to be able to combine the outputs of multiple, high-quality individual lasers into a single beam. Thus development of fiber laser beam combination techniques will be critical to the future success of laser based particle accelerators.

#### 2.4.2.1 Fiber Laser State-of-the-Art

In 1985, the University of Southampton rediscovered fiber lasers [90]. Since then, developments in low loss rare earth doped optical fiber technology [91, 92] combined with improved reliability, brightness, efficiency and packaging of diode pump lasers [93-95] has quickly led to very-high-power fiber laser systems [96-98]. These systems leverage the waveguide properties of optical fiber in order to achieve exceptional wall plug efficiencies (>30%) and diffraction limited beam quality with high average output powers (>10 kW).

Table 25: Laser parameters for future accelerator systems

						KEY la	ser parame	ters		
	APPLICATION Topic	Pulse energy, E	Pulse Duration, AT	Repetition rate, R	Average Power, Pave	Peak power, Ppeak	Plug-to- optical efficiency, Eff	Laser wavelength, λ	Other requirements	Candidate technologies
1	Colliders									
1.1	gamma-gamma	same as ICS								CO2, Yb-doped Solid State, Fiber
1.2.1	LPA for LHeC 10 GeV			0.1 Hz		20x charge	than BELLA			
1.2.2	LPA 1 GeV @1kHz	3]	30 fs	1 kHz			not important	0.8-2um		OPCPA, any solid state
1.2.3	LPA 10 GeV -BELLA style	40 J	150 fs	1 kHz			> 5%	0.8-1 um		Yb-fiber CohCom, Solid State w CohCom
1.2.4	LPA 10 GeV -2 um version	10.1	150 fs	>1 kHz			> 50/0	2 um		Tm-fiber CohCom, Solid State w CohCom
1.2.5	LPA 10 GeV -10 um version	320 J	1.5 ps	>1 kHz			> 5%	10 um		C02
1.3 a	1 TeV	32 J	100fs-200fs	15kHz	480kW		>25%	1um	Contrast better than 1e-9-1e-10	Yb-fiber CohCom, Solid State w CohCom
1.3 b		[8	100fs-200fs	15kHz	120kW		>25%	2um		Tm-fiber CohCom, Solid State w CohCom
1.4 a	10 TeV	32 J	100fs-200fs	15kHz	480kW		>25%	Ium		Yb-fiber CohCom, Solid State w CohCom
1.4 b		[8	100fs-200fs	15kHz	120kW		>25%	2um		Tm-fiber CohCom, Solid State W CohCom
2	Light Sources									
2.1	FEL drivers	3]	30 fs	1 kHz			> 5%	1 um	Contrast better than 10e-9-10e-10	
2.2	FEL seeders	1-10 mJ	< 50 fs	0.1-1MHz		>1TW	> 5%	1un possible, 2-3 um preferable		OPCPA, spectrally-broadened fiber, Tm: or Ho: doped solid state
2.3	scattering sources (ICS)	1-10 J	1 ps	0.1-10kHz			> 50/0	1, 10 um	flat top pulse and beam, BL	CO2, Yb-doped Solid State, Fiber
2.4.1	hard X-ray - HHG	1.J	10-30 fs	0.1-10kHz		0.1-1 PW	> 5%	1-2 um		OPCPA
2.4.2	hard X-ray - wakefield	1)	10-30 fs	0.1-10kHz		0.1-1 PW	> 5%	1-2 um	Contrast better than 1e-9-1e-10	
2.4.3	hard X-ray - solid target	1)	10-30 fs	0.1-10kHz		0.1-1 PW	> 5%	1-2 um		
2.5	H- stripping	50 uJ	30 ps	0.2-0.4GHz	10kW	1 MW		0.35,1 um		Fiber, Yb Solid State
0	Medical Applications									
3.1	Proton therapy	150 J	50-150 fs	10 Hz		1PW	1-10%	1 um	Contrast better than 1e-9-1e-10	ICF/Facility class lasers, CO2
3.2	Carbon therapy	1.5 kJ	50-150 fs	10 Hz		10PW	1-10%	1 um		ICF/Facility class lasers, CO2
3.3	60 keV FEL for photon therapy									

Pulsed fiber laser systems with pulse widths of a few nanoseconds are limited to around 4 MW peak power in a single mode due to self focusing [99]. This value has been attained with 1-ns pulses, and high quality beams with >4 mJ output have been demonstrated from 100-µm-class core diameter fiber rods [100]. While the results from fiber rods have been impressive, from the standpoint of compact packaging a more flexible form factor may be desirable in the long run. Furthermore, a bent waveguide may only be useful up to 50 µm mode field diameter, after which the process of bending itself will likely limit further scaling. NKT Photonics currently offers a 40 µm core, 30 µm mode field diameter photonic crystal fiber that has many desirable properties [101]. Further, Galvanauskas et al. [102] have recently demonstrated a "chirally coupled core" fiber with a 55 µm core diameter. Thus, in terms of energy scaling of nano-second pulses, the limits of single aperture fiber lasers may be close to being reached.

Ultrafast fiber lasers have demonstrated significant powers and pulse energies approaching the limits discussed with regards to nanosecond pulses above. Commercial fiber laser systems with up to 100  $\mu$ J pulse energies and sub-picosecond pulses are currently available from a number of vendors [103]. Given the current rate of development, one could reasonably expect to see mJ-class commercial systems with sub-picosecond pulses available in the next 5 years.

On the R&D front, a 1mJ, sub-picosecond chirped pulse amplification (CPA) fiber laser was first demonstrated in 2001 [104]. Recent results with fiber rods have demonstrated 11W of average power with 2.2 mJ pulse energies and <500 fs pulses with the best quality optical pulses from a fiber laser system to date [105]. Similar rods have been employed to amplify non-stretched pulses to the 1  $\mu$ J level [106]. These latter systems experience significant self-phase modulation, which can in turn be used to compress the output pulses to <50 fs, albeit with significant pulse pedestal. Systems with a very small amount of chirp (<100 ps) have been shown to achieve a few hundred nanojoules of pulse energy in <250 fs pulses with excellent pulse fidelity [107]. Low energy pulses have been generated via CPA using chirped volume Bragg gratings (CVBG) and have attained <200 fs pulse width, which is a promising technology for significantly reducing the size of CPA systems [108].

Continuous wave fiber laser beam combination systems have been demonstrated at the multi-kW level. Typically these systems employ either a coherent beam combination scheme with active phase locking [109-112] or a wavelength multiplexing scheme [113-118] or some combination thereof. Up to 64 unit cells have been successfully demonstrated [119]. In the case of coherently combined systems, packing fraction is important to keeping most of the power in the central lobe in the far field, or an additional beam combining optic is required to improve the far field [120, 121].

Development of beam combination schemes for ultrafast fiber lasers is relatively recent with only three research groups reporting results to date [122-124]. So far, most results have employed an active phase control scheme with one demonstration of a passive scheme [125]. To date, 4 channels have been combined with <600 fs pulse width and 93% combining efficiency [122]. The other two groups reporting results have demonstrated combination of two unit cells thus far. However, the use of either a 50% splitter as the recombining element [123] or a polarization beam splitter as the recombining element [124] enabled combination efficiencies as high as 97%. Recent progress of coherent combination of femtosecond fiber CPA systems resulted in 100-W-class average power and 3 mJ pulse energy [125]. These experiments suggest that

coherent combination is feasible at high average power (implying high thermal load) and high nonlinearity (i.e., high B-Integral).

# 2.4.2.2 Fiber Laser Technology Challenges

The critical R&D path needed to bring fiber lasers from their current state of the art to a technology readiness level suitable for most accelerator applications is discussed next. For some applications, such as dielectric laser accelerators, almost no R&D is needed, as the industrial fiber laser base will likely produce the required systems through incremental improvements, or already produces the required systems.

However, most applications will require significantly more pulse energy, pulse quality, and better than any known laser system is presently capable of producing. As fiber lasers are the most likely to be useful from a maintenance and reliability standpoint, and have a high probability of attaining the critical requirement for wall-plug efficiency, it is logical to invest in the R&D required to bridge the gap between present performance and laser particle accelerator system requirements.

It was the assessment of the working group that much of the required R&D is unlikely to be pursued by commercial industry on its own. Further, the nature of much of the needed R&D is such that is it best pursued via collaborations led by universities and national laboratories, with industry being brought into the mix as the technology matures further. R&D issues, in order of critical importance, are:

- Beam combining: schemes for coherently summing the outputs of many fiber lasers.
- Unit cell development: high contrast, ultrafast fiber lasers with <100fs pulse width.
- Wall plug efficiency: demonstrations of high wall plug efficiency in pulsed operation in the range of 10 kHz 25 kHz repetition rate.
- Reliability at high energy and high average power.
- Cost control with simply manufactured unit cells.

<u>Beam Combination Challenge:</u> To attain pulse energies on the order of 50 J – required for laser plasma acceleration, for example – a fiber laser system would need to combine on the order of 50,000 unit cells with 1-mJ energies, 12,500 unit cells with 4-mJ energies, or 5,000 unit cells for 10-mJ energies (which might be attainable with 2-3 ns stretches).

A generic schematic of one way this might be done is shown in Figure 13. A pulse stretcher stretches pulses from a mode-locked oscillator. This stretcher needs to include dispersion control for the amplifier chain that follows it as well as for the output compressor. The pulses are pulse-picked to reduce the repetition rate to the target repetition rate and then amplified in a series of preamplifiers. The amplifiers are assumed to include key components such as isolators, acousto-optic modulators and band-pass filters as needed. The pulses are then split in a splitter and coupled to the unit cells. Each unit cell will include a phase control actuator (assuming phase control is required) and additional power amplifiers to bring the pulses to full energy. The pulses are then recombined into a single output beam and compressed. A portion of the output beam will be sampled and employed as feedback to permit phase locking electronics to create a feedback signal for the phase control actuators.



Figure 13: Conceptual outline of a coherently combined fiber laser array.

The number of unit cells required represents a significant advance:  $1000 \times$  the current state of the art pulsed demonstrations and close to  $100 \times$  the best continuous wave demonstrations. Thus the challenge here is the demonstration of robust schemes for beam combination of order 10,000 unit cells that employ technology that will be cost effective at these scales. This is a basic research problem best pursued by a combination of universities and national laboratories until a clear pathway is formed, at which point industry should be brought into the collaboration to assist with determining methods for cost control.

Advanced approaches to beam combination: The generic approach for coherent beam combination through active phasing illustrated in Fig. 13 can be implemented in different configurations with different advantages and disadvantages. These have been investigated in depth for the cw case, and while some configurations work equally well for ultrafast pulses, the norm is that the inherently broad linewidth brings additional issues. As mentioned, the aperture-tiling approach suffers from side-lobes due to imperfect aperture filling (i.e., packing fraction). While that can conceivably be addressed with diffractive optics and phase-plates, the strong dispersion of such elements may lead to degraded beam quality and contrast ratio. There are similar concerns for other combination schemes relying on diffractive elements and phase plates. For example, the use of Dammann gratings for stacking rather than tiling beams avoids the filling problem [126], but may suffer from dispersion. A beam-splitter tree [121] can avoid both the dispersion and the filling problem, but may be prohibitively deep in case of a large number of arms.

On the other hand, beam combination can also conceivably bring important advantages, beyond power scaling. One advantage is the possibility that the superposition (i.e., combination) of a large number of constituent beams might reduce the noise. If so it might be possible to improve the contrast ratio of the combined and compressed pulses. Furthermore, it is possible to simultaneously compress and combine pulses by coherent spectral stitching of multiple trains of longer, possibly transformlimited, pulses in multiple spectrally narrower beams. As a bonus, this opens up for the synthesis of shorter pulses, with broader spectra than can be supported by a single type of gain elements and with precise control of the electric field [127, 128]. The most obvious way is to combine two spectrally disjoint beams in a dichroic mirror, while a cascade of mirrors can be used to combine several beams. More attractive would be to combine a large number of pulse trains into a train of compressed pulses in a single element (e.g., a volume grating), but whether such an element can be realized is an open question. In any case the combination and compression problem may well be eased by the possibility to use a mixture of combines a number of spectrally disjoint and narrow beams followed by a shallow tree of dichroic mirrors to combine the resulting 16 beams. In all cases, the overall size of the combination and compression stage as well as power densities and damage warrant careful attention.

<u>Unit Cell Challenge: Sub-100fs, High Contrast, Efficient and Good Beam Quality:</u> Presently fiber lasers that produce millikoule pulse energies typically have pulse widths of more than 500 fs. Due to high B-integral (self phase modulation on the chirped pulse) and inadequate dispersion management, these 500-fs pulses tend to have contrast much less than the 10<sup>10</sup> required for the wakefield accelerator application. While beam quality is generally acceptable, it is obtained from fiber rods that are stiff and inflexible and likely to constrain packaging options (at least in their current format). Further, systems demonstrated to date typically have optical-to-optical efficiencies much less than those attained by CW fiber lasers, particularly at relevant repetition rates (10-20 kHz). This is because attempts to minimize B-integral and dispersion typically lead to short, large core fiber amplifiers that suffer from both incomplete pump absorption and inadequate gain saturation in the 10-20 kHz regime. Little R&D has been performed to address these issues.

<u>Maximum Wall Plug Efficiency Challenge:</u> Overall wall plug efficiency is a product of the efficiency of the individual unit cells, the beam combination system, and the electrical drive and cooling systems for the laser. Furthermore, there may be an interplay between the laser system and particle accelerator scheme that impacts overallsystem wall-plug efficiency. This is most apparent in terms of the laser wavelength. Fiber lasers can operate efficiently at both 1  $\mu$ m and 2  $\mu$ m. Impact of wavelength selection on the accelerator performance as well as the laser performance should be studied and understood prior to the construction of a large system. In the long run, the commercial companies that will manufacture large numbers of these systems can best address this issue. However, in the near term, universities and national laboratories could be helpful in assessing the impact upon these issues of R&D pathways developed in the two preceding challenges, as well as determining the optimum wavelength for maximum overall system efficiency.

<u>Reliability at High Energy and High Average Power:</u> High average power fiber lasers with good reliability are now commercial products. However, these systems do not operate with pulsed light, where high peak powers can lead to additional reliability issues. The long-term aging impact of pulsed laser effects needs to be studied and understood prior to deployment of a full system. Additionally, a beam combination system will require a high-energy beam combiner with high reliability. Finally, these systems may require additional high-energy, high average power components in order to operate as all-glass monolithic systems, particularly optical isolators and temporal gating devices such as acousto-optic modulators.

<u>Cost Control with Simply Manufactured Unit Cells</u>: A 10 TeV accelerator facility will probably have the most aggressive cost controls. Such a facility will require a significant number of laser systems to drive the full accelerator. For example, if the cost of a 10-TeV accelerator is capped at \$10B and half of that is devoted to constructing 10-GeV, stages, then the 1000 stages, each with its own laser, must cost less than \$5M apiece. As the laser is likely to represent the majority of this price, a cost target for the laser may be \$4M. If this laser requires 50,000 1-mJ unit cells, they must cost less than \$80 each. Higher-pulse-energy unit cells would be proportionately fewer but could cost more. Given the volumes of unit cells required (>5M), achieving the required price point is not inconceivable. However, simplicity in the unit cell design will be a must in order to keep the manufacturing costs contained.

# 2.4.2.3 Roadmap

Figure 14, below, details a 10 year plan for addressing the challenges listed above.

	FY13	FY14	FY15	FY16	FY17	FY18	FY19	FY20	FY21	FY22
Beam Combining	100 element 100 e low energy high e			) element h energy 4J/40k		W Demo, no				
l	demons	trations	demons	trations	ons efficiency spec, 10 contrast		06	40J/400 System	kW Integ Prototyp	rated e: 10 <sup>10</sup>
	Theoret	ical asses	sments	/		contrast, >30% w			all plug	
					Down s	elect to :				Laser R&D
Unit Cell	Dispersi	ion mana	gement	Sub 100	)-fs, 10 <sup>10</sup> (	contrast,	1mJ			
Development	Gain me assessm	edia effici nent	ency	puises	with >30%	wan piu	g demo	Unit C	ell R&D	
	High co	ntrast, hi	gh B-inte	gral			Con		ete	
Wall Plug Efficiency	Theoretical assessment of proposed schemes					Detaile chosen	d assessn schemes	nent of		
	Studies of the optimum operating wavelength				vstem		Industry efficien	/ led deve cy improv	elopment vement	of
Reliability at High	Amplifie	er lifetime	e studies							
Energy and High	Efficient, high energy beam combiner					Integrated system testing				
Average Power	Development of high energy/high average power components									
Cost Control with Simply Manufactured	Theore of prop	tical asses	ssment emes	]		Tech tra Industr	ansfer of	Unit Cell	to	
Unit Cells				1			T S	ech trans ystem to	fer of Ful Industry	I

Figure 14: Fiber Technology Development Roadmap

<u>Beam Combination</u>: This roadmap is designed to quickly scale the number of unit cells from the current 4 to 100, first at low energy, then quickly to higher energy. It is

assumed that these demonstrations will employ unit cells based upon existing state of the art. That is, they will deliver 500 fs-1 ps pulse widths and possibly have significant pedestals relative to the desired 10<sup>10</sup> contrast requirement. Further, these demonstrations will only consider efficiency of the beam combination scheme, and not the underlying unit cell's efficiency and cost. A low energy unit cell today might cost \$30k, for a total system cost of nearly \$3M. Additional support for 2-3 scientists to perform work using the system might bring an R&D effort into a range of \$2-3M/year over a 4-year period. Development of several concepts at lower unit cell numbers, in order to generate an early competition for the best ideas, should be a fruitful undertaking at this stage.

A 4 J, 40 kW system demonstration would require improved engineering and would presumably begin to take advantage of improved unit cells. This system might be useful for some interim particle accelerator experiments when complete. As several thousand unit cells may be involved, with significant engineering wrapped around the system, the cost may be on the order of \$10M/year for four years. This very preliminary cost estimate assumes cost reduction of unit cells to \$3k each (from \$30k each in the earlier efforts.) This requirement will force the beginning of cost reduction efforts.

Once this prototype is complete, the essential knowledge to construct a full scale 40 J/400 kW/40 fs high contrast laser should exist. This will likely be a larger undertaking and enable a 10 GeV accelerator with significant luminosity upon completion. Up to 40,000 unit cells might be required for this effort. Assuming ongoing cost reductions, the cost per unit cell could conceivably drop to \$1k each. Given the laser would require significant additional engineering and an appropriate facility. The budget for this prototype effort would likely be on the order of \$50M/year. It is expected that technology would be transferred to industry as part of this effort and production systems for a TeV class accelerator would be produced by industry at significantly less cost, in volume, post 2022.

<u>Unit Cell Roadmap</u>: There is no point in combining the outputs of lasers that cannot meet the end user requirements. Thus in parallel to beam combination experiments, significant work needs to be put into improving pulse quality and laser efficiency early. To this end, small scale experiments and R&D are needed to improve the dispersion management of fiber lasers. This might cost \$1M/year to simply look at stretching low energy pulses to 1-2 ns, run them through 40-50 m of fiber and some fiber components, and then recompress these pulses with good contrast.

An important issue with current pulsed laser systems is that they are not as efficient as their CW counterparts. This is because the fluence at 10-20 kHz repetition rates is not high enough to saturate the gain medium when a system is designed to operate at low (<6 radians) B-integral. However, rare earth ions other than ytterbium (such as neodymium, erbium or thulium) might offer lower saturation fluence and thus significantly improve the overall system efficiency without requiring the system to operate at excessively high B-integral. This could be a small-scale effort that would heavily leverage modeling capability to reduce to one the number of competing materials to be studied in a demonstration experiment. This undertaking is likely to cost  $\sim$ 1M/year for 5-10 years.

If that is not technically feasible, it will likely be necessary to compress pulses with good pulse contrast at B-integrals as high as 30 radians. Learning to do this is a significant R&D effort that may require new inventions. It might be a 3-4 year effort, costing \$2-3M/year in equipment and personnel, with efforts from 2-3 R&D groups.

Assuming these efforts are successful, a well-engineered unit cell showing good pulse contrast, sub-100-fs pulse widths, and >30% wall plug efficiency (counting all electrical inputs to the system), delivering 1 mJ/pulse at 20 kHz, should be constructed as a demonstration. An effort costing not more than \$2M/year over 4 years should be able to demonstrate a system such as this as a well-engineered device.

<u>Wall Plug Efficiency:</u> In the early years, what is predominantly needed here is a paper study examining and clearly detailing all the issues. This might be cost as little as \$250-\$500k and be done by a single PI. Additionally, R&D teams working on the particle acceleration schemes and on the laser schemes should look collaboratively at the overall system to understand how to maximize wall-plug efficiency. Once high-unit-cell beam combination demonstrations had been completed, a second study or an independent assessment of wall-plug efficiencies may also be useful. Finally, as the unit cell development activity begins to wind down, industry should be heavily engaged in order to improve component efficiencies for the single unit cell and critical parts of the beam combining system.

<u>Reliability at High Energy and High Average Power:</u> There are quite a few highaverage-power lasers and quite a few high-energy lasers; however, there are few if any lasers with both those attributes. Further, there is reason to believe that such systems may have unique reliability issues due to the combination of high energy and many orders of magnitude more pulses than current high energy systems. Overcoming photodarkening has been key to the success of CW fiber lasers. It will be necessary to validate that in the pulsed regime, this issue is no worse than in CW and that no new issues arise. To do this properly, several groups would need to study the effects over a period of several years. This is likely a \$1-2M/year, 5-year effort.

In addition to the amplifiers, it will be necessary to develop monolithic all-glass components such as optical isolators and couplers that can withstand the required energies and average powers. As each individual unit cell may be of relatively low average power, this may not be a difficult undertaking for most components and more a matter of validating that the pulse energy effects are not too detrimental.

However, the final beam combination optics will see quite high powers and energies; development of an efficient beam combiner and understanding the safe operating fluence for this combiner may be a significant undertaking. It might require a team of optical scientists and engineers with a facility for fabricating the required components. Assuming existing facilities can be employed, this may cost as little as 1-2M/year for four to five years.

<u>Cost Control</u>: Cost control is critical in the long run, but should probably be of minimal influence in the next 4-5 years; much cost-reducing technology development can occur in that time frame for other reasons. This we suggest only a small paper study to assess the potential end cost of various system concepts. As the R&D from the abovementioned efforts begins to generate significant results, involving industry more and more, and having them focus on cost reduction efforts, will likely be critical to final success.

#### 2.4.3 Solid-State Laser Technology Development Plan

Solid-state lasers have played an important role in the history of laser research and development, as evidenced by the first laser demonstration in 1960, which used sapphire as the host material. In this section, the term solid-state laser refers to a class of optically pumped laser in which active ions are doped in a crystalline or ceramic host material. Other types of lasers using solid-state media, such as optical fiber or glass host materials, are considered in other sections.

Diode-pumped solid-state lasers are an attractive enabling technology for accelerator applications because of their potential for peak power scaling at high average power in a single aperture. This section is meant to address some of the challenges associated with solid-state laser development for these applications, as well as to highlight areas for further investment. These challenges can be summarized as follows:

- Operation at high average power (kilowatt or greater) with near-diffractionlimited beam quality and high efficiency;
- Availability of large aperture gain media;
- Operation at high peak and high average power with sub-picosecond pulse duration and high efficiency;
- Coherent combining.

Some of the challenges are general to solid-state laser development, and not necessarily specific to the ultrashort pulse systems required for accelerators. These more general challenges are associated with achieving high average power.

For example, a particular challenge is to improve the beam quality of solid-state lasers with average output powers in the multi-hundred-watt or kilowatt regime. Central to this challenge is the removal of waste heat from the active medium. If the crystal tends to store too much heat, problems of efficiency, stability or even fracture of the gain medium may occur. The fundamental source of waste heat is the quantum defect, the energy difference between the pump and laser wavelength which is deposited in the medium through nonradiative transitions. This quantity is material-dependent; for example, the quantum defect of Yb-doped materials is small (e.g., 9% for Yb:YAG, assuming a pump wavelength of 940 nm and laser wavelength of 1030 nm), meaning that the amount of generated heat is intrinsically low. For comparison, the quantum defects for Nd:YAG (assuming pump wavelength of 808 nm and laser wavelength of 1064 nm) and Ti:sapphire (assuming pump wavelength of 532 nm and laser wavelength of 800 nm) are 0.24 and 0.34, respectively.

Thermo-optic material properties also play a critical role in the design of solid-state lasers that can operate at high average power with near-diffraction-limited beam quality. The ideal material exhibits a high thermal conductivity, a small change in refractive index with temperature, and a low coefficient of thermal expansion. One general strategy to improve these thermo-optic material properties is through cooling below room temperature. While general temperature dependence is known, measurements are required in order to provide accurate, quantitative values. Clearly, this data is needed in order to make critical assessments as to the desirability of various host materials and to provide engineering inputs for thermo-optic performance. However, material property measurements are typically only performed at room temperature. Future investment is necessary to identify new candidate materials as well as to perform further temperaturedependent characterization of existing materials.

Another challenge is the availability of large-aperture gain media. For simultaneous pulse energy and average power scaling, this will be a critical need. Compared to single crystals, ceramic laser materials can be fabricated in large sizes, and can be co-sintered to produce composite gain media with more advanced gain element designs that would otherwise be difficult to fabricate with single-crystal material. To date, only ceramic YAG has been developed to the point of commercial availability. The sesquioxides (e.g., Y<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, Sc<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, Lu<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>) are under development, but still far from commercial availability. Other material types, such as fluorides, may offer particular advantage for high peak power systems. Continued development of large aperture ceramic laser gain media of high optical quality (high transparency and low scattering loss) will be important.

In addition to laser material considerations, there are efforts focused on optimizing the geometry of the gain element for high-average-power, diffraction-limited solid-state lasers. Different geometries include rod, slab and thin disk. Each geometry has advantages and disadvantages, and working through this design space is important for future high-average power systems. Innovations in this area could substantially improve diffraction-limited average powers. In addition, there is research into compensating for thermo-optic distortion with active or passive means and combining multiple lowerpower lasers.

Ultrashort-pulse solid-state lasers, such as the ones required for accelerator applications, must confront additional challenges to those that are faced by high-average-power lasers. High peak power may result in undesired nonlinear effects as well as damage of optical components, and is usually mitigated by temporally broadening the pulses during amplification, known as chirped pulse amplification. It is interesting to note several inherent trades that exist in ultrashort solid-state lasers, and to discuss briefly the consequences and implications these trades may have on the laser system design.

For example, rare-earth doped materials with high thermal conductivity tend to have a narrow emission bandwidth. In general, the high electron-phonon coupling that is needed to obtain a broad emission band tends to limit thermal conductivity, presenting a trade between short pulse duration and average power scalability. Another approach to broad emission is to use structurally disordered hosts, such as mixed composition crystals and glasses, which leads to inhomogeneous broadening. However the structural disorder leads to short phonon scattering lengths and therefore poor thermal conductivity. These are general trends, and research into materials that can break the trend lines in the regime of simultaneously high peak and high average power will be important.

A second trade exists between the desire to operate at a high fluence to improve efficiency and the desire to operate at low fluence to mitigate the risk of optical damage and maintain a low B-integral. The latter also requires minimizing gain element length and choosing a material with a low nonlinear index of refraction. Optimizing this trade space is a difficult problem. Even with chirped pulse amplification, the saturation fluence can be significantly higher than the damage threshold, limiting extraction efficiency. Some material properties are of particular interest for this application. For example, materials with low nonlinear index of refraction that maintain a relatively high thermal conductivity at high dopant concentrations are of interest, despite the general trend of a decrease in thermal conductivity with increasing dopant concentration. Such a material would balance the need for materials with high thermal conductivity with the need for a short gain element to maintain a low B-integral.

In addition to the materials-related challenges, there are system-level design approaches worthy of further investment that may enable high-average-power ultrashort-pulse solid-state laser systems. For example, one can exploit the use of multiple laser host materials to provide a composite gain bandwidth. This can provide a broad emission bandwidth for the system, while using materials with relatively high thermal conductivity and capability of high average power handling.

Another system-level design decision will involve the operating temperature of the gain media. Cryogenic cooling typically reduces the saturation fluence, to the benefit of extraction efficiency. However, this generally comes at the expense of reduced gain bandwidth, and therefore an increase in the minimum pulse duration achievable.

It may be that the optimal approach to system design begins at low average power with room temperature gain media and/or media with low thermal conductivities, and continues through further stages of amplification with media at lower temperatures and higher thermal conductivities. Further research is needed to explore this large design space.

It is also worth investigating other system-level design strategies for high average power in ultrashort laser systems. One such strategy is the use of coherent beam combining of multiple solid-state lasers, whereby a higher average and peak power can be achieved than might otherwise be possible from a single aperture. To enable this, measurements on the phase noise of such systems will be necessary, followed by some system-level demonstrations.

# 2.4.4 High Average Power OPCPA for Laser Plasma Accelerator Applications

#### 2.4.4.1 Optical Chirped Pulse Amplification

Optical Parametric Chirped Pulse Amplification (OPCPA) [129, 130] is an ultrashort pulse amplification approach that uses phase-matched optical parametric interactions in a nonlinear crystal to convert pulse energy from nanosecond-long pump pulses into energy of duration-matched stretched ultrashort pulses, which subsequently are compressed to produce high energy femtosecond optical pulses. The principal difference between OPCPA and an optical-inversion based gain medium is that there is no energy storage during optical parametric amplification. This brings a very different set of advantages and disadvantages compared to optical-inversion amplifiers.

Overall, when seeking very high intensities and very short pulse durations, the advantages of OPCPA far outweighs its disadvantages, which is the main reason why over the last thirteen years OPCPA has seen very rapid development and have been extensively used in a number of multi-TW and PW class laser facilities [131-137].

One of the principal advantages of OPCPA is, in general, much larger bandwidth and, subsequently, much shorter achievable pulse durations, compared to inversionbased amplifiers. Indeed, pulse durations of only a few optical cycles have been reported with various OPCPA systems [137-140], and multi-TW peak powers are achievable with pulse durations at around 30 fs [138]. Furthermore, since there is no energy storage in the medium. quantum efficiency is in principle very high–each pump photon is "cut" into one signal and one idler photon. Consequently, no pump power is directly deposited in the gain medium, and thermal loading in OPCPA only occurs due
to (usually small) material absorption at pump, signal or idler wavelengths. As a result, thermal loading is orders of magnitude smaller compared to conventional energystorage amplifiers, and, in principle, correspondingly higher average powers can be achieved in OPCPA.

Negligible thermal lensing typically results in higher output beam quality. Also, due to the absence of energy storage as well as need to phase-match, OPA is immune to parasitic side-lasing, which usually limits high-power pumping of conventional inversion-based optical amplifiers. Finally, OPA is a high-gain process, which usually requires a much shorter material path. This, in combination with the fact that typically OPA crystals can be grown to a larger aperture at a lower cost, leads to much smaller nonlinear distortions in the compressed-pulse temporal shape [141]. Indeed, pre-pulse contrast ratio of down to  $4.4 \cdot 10^{-11}$  has been achieved with high-intensity OPCPA, which is orders of magnitude better than the contrast achieved at TW-PW peak powers with energy-storage CPA systems [142].

The main disadvantage of OPCPA is associated with the limited pump-to-signal energy conversion efficiency. Although quantum efficiency is high, the quantum defect (i.e., ratio between pump and signal optical frequencies) is generally quite low, with typical values in the range from 50-70%.

Furthermore, since there is no energy storage, conversion efficiency is directly determined by the spatial and temporal properties of the pump. Nonlinear back-conversion from signal to pump can occur after the pump has been completely depleted, which means that, for example, with Gaussian beams and pulse shapes, it is impossible to achieve complete power extraction across the full spatial and temporal profile of the pump. A complete energy extraction can only be achieved with specially-shaped flat-top beams and square temporal pulse profiles [143]. Typically, reported OPCPA conversion efficiencies are in the 25-35% range [143]. Also, in many cases, pump light is first converted to the second harmonic, which then is used to pump OPA, which approximately halves the overall plug-to-power conversion efficiency [144].

#### 2.4.4.2 High Average Power OPCPA

Since there is no pump power or energy storage in OPCPA systems, achievable peak and average powers and pulse energies are directly related to the corresponding performance characteristics of a pump laser. Therefore, a single-laser pumped OPCPA would have the same power limitations as the pump laser. For example, solid-state laser pumping would be limited in average power, while fiber-laser pumping would be limited in pulse energy. The advantage here only comes in cases when nanosecond pulsed lasers have better achievable performance characteristics compared to their ultrashort-pulse counterparts.

However, since the phase difference between pump and signal is transferred to the idler, [143] OPA can be pumped with multiple beams, thus in effect providing an avenue to combine multiple pump lasers [144-148] and to exceed the power characteristics of each individual pump. Multiplexing of multiple pump beams into a single amplified signal beam can be achieved through vector phase-matching, when each pump beam enters the nonlinear crystal at a different angle [144]. For example, some demonstrated OPA phase-matching geometries [144-148] allow positioning of pump beams symmetrically with respect to each other in a cone, with the cone apex constituting the intersection of all pump and idler beams and the single signal beam.

Such beam-combining OPCPA geometries permit use of either solid-state or fiberlaser pumps. Reaching 10 kW of OPCPA output power would require combining tens of solid-state laser pumps, while achieving joules of combined energy would require hundreds of fiber laser pumps.

Even though thermal loading of an OPCPA crystal is much smaller than that of a pumped energy-storage gain medium, when tens of kW of average pump power are applied to a nonlinear crystal, even a small amount of residual absorption could produce significant thermal effects, which could distort OPA output beam or degrade phase-matched pumping conditions. This thermal loading will depend on nonlinear-crystal losses at pump, signal and idler wavelengths. If all three wavelengths are well within the transparency range of a particular crystal, estimates show [148] that 10 kW of average power should be achievable with existing material choices.

#### 2.4.4.3 OPCPA for Laser Plasma Accelerator Applications

Due to the above-described properties, high average power OPCPA becomes advantageous over other approaches when:

- Very short pulse durations (much shorter than 100 fs) are needed. Such pulse durations are difficult to reach with other high average power laser systems, due to the limited number of available broad-band material choices.
- Very high pre-pulse contrast is needed. OPCPA is clearly superior to other approaches in this regard.

Additionally, OPCPA offers the advantage of more flexibility in choosing an operating wavelength. Pump and signal wavelengths can in many cases can be chosen by selecting a suitable phase-matching geometry with available nonlinear materials. This is a significant advantage for those laser-plasma acceleration applications that require longer operation wavelengths (e.g.,  $1-2 \mu m$ ).

Therefore, as inspection of laser requirements presented in Table 25 reveals, these advantages and the principal limitation associated with relatively low plug-to-optical efficiency make high average power OPCPA best suited for (i) "intermediate" 1-GeV LPA sources operating at 1 kHz, (ii) FEL drivers, (iii) FEL seeders, and (iv) high-luminosity hard X-ray sources. Indeed, all these applications require approximately10-fs to 30-fs pulses, with 1-3 J pulse energy, pre-pulse contrast of  $10^{-9}$  to  $10^{-10}$ , and repetition rates from 1 to 10 kHz. An exception is the parameter set for FEL seeders, which require somewhat longer pulses of <50 fs and lower energy of 1-10 mJ, but at much higher repetition rates of 100 kHz to 1 MHz. Most importantly, all these applications require average laser-driver power below 10 kW, and, therefore, overall power consumption of the system should be acceptable even at somewhat lower plug-to-optical efficiencies of >5%.

#### 2.4.4.4 OPCPA Development Roadmap

Although single-laser pumped OPCPA has already reached the parameters required for the applications envisioned here in terms of pulse energies (>1 J), pulse durations (10-50 fs), and pre-pulse contrast (down to  $10^{-10}$ ), but scaling of this approach to high average powers (and high repetition rates) requires significant further R&D. Primarily, this research has to explore beam-combining options as well as sustaining high average powers in nonlinear crystals. Note that OPA beam combining has been demonstrated

[142-146], but its scalability has not been explored yet. In more detail, the following general topics need to be addressed:

- <u>Scalability of pump-beam numbers in various OPA beam-combining</u> <u>geometries</u>. It is essential to explore the possible multiple-beam OPA pumping geometries and the maximum numbers of pump beams that can be accommodated in each phase-matching geometry. As part of this exploration. it is important to verify that broad gain bandwidths are compatible with these multiple-beam pumping approaches. It is also necessary to determine possible material as well as pump and signal wavelength choices, compatible with beamcombining geometries. It is also important to consider detrimental effects associated with parametric self-diffraction [148], which under certain conditions can cause degradation in OPA efficiency and output beam quality.
- <u>Peak power scalability in beam-combined OPA</u>. Combining multiple pump beams can result in unacceptably high peak intensities inside the nonlinear crystal, leading to optical damage. This could be addressed by simply increasing transverse size of pump and signal beams, but it is essential to determine whether this spot size scaling is compatible with various multiple-beam combining geometries.
- <u>Average power handling of nonlinear crystals</u>. Thermal loading of nonlinear materials will be the ultimate factor limiting achievable OPA output powers. It is essential to determine power scalability of each identified pump-combining geometry and material choice. Primarily this will be addressed by determining residual absorption at pump, signal and idler wavelengths, and by exploring thermal loading occurring due to this absorption at high optical powers.

# 2.4.5 CO<sub>2</sub> Laser Technology for Accelerator Applications

# 2.4.5.1 Applications of CO<sub>2</sub> Laser Technology

Medical Ion Therapy:

Using the radiation pressure acceleration (RPA) mechanism of generating proton beams from gas jet targets,  $CO_2$  systems have already demonstrated the benefits of longer wavelength operation, specifically higher charge and operation at gas jet versus solid target densities. Parameters achieved at BNL experiments so far with an input laser of 5 J in 5 fs include a total of  $10^{10}$  protons with an energy of 5 MeV and 2-4% rms energy spread. Further scaling of proton energy, as well as using different gases for accelerating heavier ion species, would extend the method to the medically interesting regime for cancer treatment facilities. RPA appears to be well enough understood theoretically to attempt such experiments as soon as possible. Longer term studies aimed at increasing repetition rate and delivery methods for high-charge ion beams would be the final step before construction of an operating treatment center utilizing  $CO_2$  lasers.

## Moderate energy LPA electron source:

Because the critical plasma density for LPA is an order of magnitude lower at 10  $\mu$ m than at near-IR wavelengths, applying a CO<sub>2</sub> system to laser wakefield acceleration corresponds to operation at a longer plasma wavelength. Furthermore, when operating

in the "bubble regime" where plasma electrons may be trapped and accelerated with small energy spread and emittance, the charge is proportional to the laser wavelength and square root of laser power. Therefore, a  $CO_2$  laser at  $10 \times$  longer wavelength is capable of accelerating the same charge per laser pulse as a near-IR system of  $100 \times$  greater power. Furthermore, the range of densities over which the plasma bubble forms is very small for near-IR systems, making stability of the process a concern, while at 10  $\mu$ m, stable operation should be much easier to achieve. However, accelerating gradient is lower; therefore use of a  $CO_2$  laser is not applicable to machines designed to achieve very high energies. In smaller electron accelerators where higher charge and compact, reliable operation are important,  $CO_2$  technology becomes very attractive.

#### Polarized Proton Source for Linear Collider:

Current designs for a polarized positron source at next generation linear colliders such as an ILC have very difficult requirements for the positron conversion targets. Mercury jets or other solid targets must dissipate significant energy from the incident electron beam of a few to several MeV, since only a small fraction of the incident energy is converted to positrons. Substituting a Compton backscatter gamma ray source and subsequent pair-production target relaxes the target constraints significantly. In order to provide laser-electron interactions at the repetition rate of a collider, regenerative cavities would be needed. Furthermore, multiple cavities and interaction points could be synchronized to achieve the required number of positrons. Such a regenerative cavity has already been demonstrated at BNL, producing a 3  $\mu$ s long pulse train with a envelope flatness of 3% rms. Further tests are required to demonstrate stable temporal and spatial profiles of the circulating pulses.

#### Compact X-ray/gamma source:

Applying CO<sub>2</sub>-driven LPA as described above to generate the electrons that scatter photons in a Compton backscattering configuration results in a very compact and reliable system. The same laser may be used for both LPA electron and incident photon sources by splitting the laser output into two branches with equal path lengths. For a given laser power, the number of photons reaching the interaction point is  $10\times$  higher for CO<sub>2</sub> than for near-IR lasers, so once again CO<sub>2</sub> systems can produce results similar to those of solid-state lasers with much higher peak powers. Furthermore, the ability to focus a near-IR laser beam down to approximately  $10\times$  smaller spot size and consequently higher scattering yield is difficult to achieve in practice, since electron beam focusing rarely permits spot sizes of 1 µm in a typical interaction point geometry. Therefore, such a machine provides several practical benefits that fit well with the needs of a small facility for medical/industrial/scientific applications at medium repetition rates.

#### 2.4.5.2 Current State-of-the-Art, Challenges, Identifying Path of Technological Solution

The two established short-pulse  $CO_2$  laser systems operating at BNL and UCLA are somewhat different in design. The BNL-ATF final amplifier is capable of operation at higher pressure, with current pulse parameters of 5 J and 5 ps. Further improvements including shorter seed pulse and chirped pulse amplification (CPA) will increase power to greater than 10 TW in the next few years. The UCLA Neptune laser operates in a regime in which power broadening of the gain spectrum allows direct amplification of 100-J, 3-ps pulses in the final amplifier.

## Identifying technological breakthroughs needed

Further demonstration of optical pumping of a CO2 laser at 2.9  $\mu$ m using ErCr:GGG solid-state lasers may enable very high pressure amplifiers to operate at 20-25 bar at which the rotational lines fully overlap into a smooth gain spectrum adequate for sub-ps pulse amplification. Optical pumping also allows higher gain since a single vibrational band may be pumped, in contrast to the uniform pumping of all bands achieved with electric discharge pumping.

#### Identifying proof-of-principle experiments and validation modeling

 $CO_2$  laser development has reached a level where the benefits to be realized from CPA should be demonstrated. As with solid-state systems, management of non-linear effects is critical to further advances in peak power. Furthermore, power (Stark) broadening of the rotational line structure, as utilized to amplify 3-ps pulses in the UCLA Neptune amplifier, should be further investigated through simulations.

#### Achievable key parameters:

## • Efficiency

Efficiency is inherently poor in current research lasers amplifying a single short pulse because the time scale for energy transfer into depleted rotational lines is very long relative to the pulse length. A train of pulses could increase extraction efficiency, as can regenerative amplifiers. The requirement for multiple pass energy extraction becomes more challenging in the final stage as the optical configuration becomes more complex and optical losses increase in either regenerative or multipass configuration, limiting efficiency. Present efficiency is  $\sim 2 \times 10^{-3}$  in a single pulse after several passes through the final stage amplifier.

#### • Power/energy

Energy is primarily limited by the aperture of the pumped gain region between the discharge electrodes. Also, high gas pressure is required to pressure broaden the individual rotational lines into a continuous gain spectrum. However, increasing the gas pressure and aperture is not possible beyond current levels because a uniform electrical discharge is increasingly difficult to produce above approximately 10 cm aperture and 10 bar pressure. One possible technological solution to remove this limitation is to use electron beam or optical pumping. Recent work suggests that ErCr:YSGG lasers are good candidates for optical pumping. The challenge then essentially becomes one of efficient high-energy operation of the pump laser.

#### • Pulse width

Sub-picosecond pulses require more sophisticated manipulation of the  $CO_2$  gain medium such as gas mixtures utilizing both oxygen and carbon isotopes to provide additional bandwidth.

## • Beam quality

Gas lasers such as  $CO_2$  systems suffer little beam distortion from thermal effects, and are capable of producing gaussian beam profiles independent of pumping level. Typical beam distortions arise from optical damage and can be managed by proper system design to achieve low  $M^2$  values and near diffraction-limited focal spot sizes. As with all high power lasers, beam self focusing and breakup from accumulated non-linear phase shift must also be given careful consideration. Calculations of accumulated B-integral are necessary, as there exists a smaller selection of optical materials for fabricating active and passive optical components to optimize system performance.

# • Cost estimate of a system designed for each particular application

The basic pressure vessel plus associated gas handling hardware, HV generator and electrical equipment to achieve several joules of output is clearly a function of the design. Using a single seed laser for multiple amplifiers can reduce unit cost considerably. Overall system cost of around \$1M is approximately ~30-50% seed laser system and the remainder for amplifier stages and optics. Finalstage, large-aperture amplifiers constructed in significant quantities could in principle cost as little as \$200-\$300k each, which is very comparable to solidstate technology. However, the market is not yet large enough to support any mass production, so it is difficult to predict actual future costs.

# *Timeline / milestones for the roadmap*

- Within two years, demonstrate scaling of peak power via CPA.
- Within two years, validate RPA scaling to 250 MeV ion energy for medical applications.
- Within five years, extend peak power to the 100-300TW level useful for a compact gamma source.

# 2.4.6 Facility Class Lasers for Particle Accelerator Applications

# 2.4.6.1 Introduction and State-of-the-Art

"Facility Class" lasers are laser systems that require their own building or facility and a dedicated team of scientists, engineers and technicians. Examples of the more well known of these lasers are the National Ignition Facility (NIF) at Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, the Omega Laser and Omega EP at the Laboratory for Laser Energetics, and Laser Mégajoule in Bordeaux, France. A more complete and upto-date list of facilities can be found at the ICUIL website [149]. Beamlines of these lasers systems typically produce hundreds of joules at over 20 kJ of pulse energy, and by direct chirped pulse amplification achieve pulse widths as short as 1 ps, while laser pumped laser systems, OPCPA, and Ti:Sapphire can attain much shorter pulse widths. While these lasers are awe-inspiring in their pulse energy and peak power, they are typically very limited in repetition rate, with the majority firing shots once every few hours. The fastest repetition rates for these high-energy systems may reach 10 Hz, but this is not common at present. The large apertures of these systems lead to beams that are not diffraction limited. In practice the beams are often spatially sculpted to be flat tops, with a goal of achieving a flat phase front with minimal contrast (high-frequency spatial noise) at the system output. When focused, most of the energy from a shot of a well engineered system will typically fall within an circle a few times bigger than the diffraction limit, with significant hot-spots that change location from shot to shot within this circle. Due to the long time between shots and scale of the typical facility, significant pointing jitter can increase the expected spot size further if one considers a spot as the range of spatial points the laser pulse might strike. Finally, to attain energies higher than 10-20 kJ per pulse, these lasers typically incoherently combine the output of multiple beam lines via spatial multiplexing, leading to even larger spot sizes.

To date, the majority of these systems have been flash-lamp pumped lasers based upon neodymium-doped phosphate laser glass. Cost constraints have traditionally driven the choice of flash-lamp pumping, and this in turn drives the choice of neodymium-doped phosphate glass. The high heat load from the flash-lamp pumping process has been one of the major repetition rate limiters. This process also tends to have very poor system efficiency. However, for the experiments performed at these facilities, this has not been a concern.

The primary R&D focus for these systems is the cost-effective conversion of the pump source from flash-lamps to diode lasers. This is needed in order to significantly increase the repetition rate (typical goals are of order 10 Hz) and correspondingly increase the efficiency of the system. The latter will be required to minimize the operating cost of the facility once the repetition rate and thus the average power increases significantly.

The most advanced demonstration of this type of laser completed to date is the Mercury laser system at Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory [150]. This diode pumped solid state laser system produced peak energy of 60 J at 10 Hz and 1047 nm, and 32 J at 523.5 nm in 10 ns pulses at a nominal electrical-to-optical efficiency of 5%. This system was based upon ytterbium doped SFAP crystals as the gain media, and employed a novel laser architecture with high speed flow of turbulent helium over the face of the crystals to remove excess heat from the laser gain medium with minimal distortion of the beam wave ront. As a result the Mercury laser is able to attain a beam quality that is less than  $5 \times$  the diffraction limit. A proposed follow-on (which remains uncompleted due to lack of funding) would employ the Mercury laser to pump a Ti:Sapphire laser system capable of attaining petawatt peak pulses (15 J, 15 fs) with sufficient beam quality to attain focused spots with  $10^{23}$ W/cm<sup>2</sup> intensity at 10 Hz, showing the extreme optical power densities attainable with a facility-class laser [151].

Building on the Mercury laser technology, LLNL is currently designing a diodepumped successor to the NIF laser capable of operating at 16 Hz [152]. Laser for Inertial Fusion Energy (LIFE) utilizes beamlines each capable of producing 8.1 kJ laser pulses at 1053 nm, with a few-nanosecond pulse duration, at 18% electrical efficiency. The design size for a single beam line is  $1.35 \times 2.2 \times 10.5$  m. Currently LIFE designs, planning, and detailed R&D roadmaps are being developed at LLNL under internal laboratory-directed funding. Execution of these plans and actual construction of a LIFE laser beam line is awaiting funding. Once complete, such a laser would make an excellent pump laser for femtosecond OPCPA or Ti:sapphire laser systems or, through direct CPA, to a picosecond laser system. In either case, conversion of the long pulse laser to a short pulse system results in a significant pulse energy reduction (3-10×).

#### 2.4.6.2 *R&D Challenges*

The LIFE laser development program (when funded) will address most of the critical R&D issues for this type of facility-class laser for the next 10 years. These R&D issues include: cost and availability of pump diode lasers and diode laser drivers; thermal management of the laser gain media to minimize impact on beam quality; minimizing system footprint (a major facility cost driver); high-energy repetition-rated Pockels cells; and demonstration of a complete operational beam line. Converting a LIFE laser into a short pulse laser system (as required for most particle accelerator applications) would require additional R&D beyond the LIFE laser system. Once complete, lessons learned from the LIFE laser beam line development program may be employed to develop laser systems with several times more energy and/or average power.

<u>Diode Laser R&D Challenges</u>: Facility-class lasers will employ diode lasers that operate in a pulsed mode at low repetition rate. The technical viability of these diode lasers has been shown through the Mercury laser program (even-more-advanced diode laser technology is available today). However, a facility-class laser will require so many of these diode lasers that their cost will drive the cost of the facility. Thus reducing the diode laser cost to an acceptable level is a critical technical challenge to be overcome. This is believed to be an attainable goal and the diode laser community and LLNL have jointly authored a publication [153] detailing how the cost goals might be achieved.

Laser Architecture R&D Challenges: The two key challenges for the laser architecture are how to minimize the laser footprint (a facility cost driver) and how to extract enough heat from the laser gain medium to prevent beam quality degradation. Laser footprint is driven in large part by the size of the spatial filters between gain stages. Thus the ability to make more compact spatial filters is key to a reduced system footprint. Aggressive cooling such as that demonstrated in the Mercury laser system can minimize thermal impacts, but choice of gain media and system architecture to minimize or eliminate thermal degradation of the laser beam are also critical to overall system performance. There may be a number of approaches to this problem worth considering.

<u>High Energy Repetition Rated Pockels Cells</u>: In large aperture facility class laser systems a laser pulse typically passes through the gain media multiple times. This both increases the effective gain of the system (which is critical, given the large pulse energies involved) and provides for efficient conversion of pump power to laser power by ensuring all possible laser energy is extracted from the gain media. Furthermore, to minimize diode laser cost by minimizing total required diode laser power, the diode laser pump is typically run for the full upper-state lifetime of the gain media. To prevent loss of laser energy through parasitic lasing and to enable multiple passes through the gain media, Pockels cell switches are required. Development of large aperture Pockels cells capable of operating at 10-20 Hz repetition rates or higher is thus a key technology goal.

<u>Demonstration of a Complete Beam Line</u>: Many lessons were learned in the construction of the Mercury laser system. However, any future facility based upon high-energy, high-repetition-rate laser systems would need to first construct a single laser beam line in order to validate the proposed technology operates as designed and to

work out any issues that may arise in the laser system. Thus the demonstration of a complete beam line is a critical final step in any realistic development plan.

<u>Technology for Short Pulses</u>: A diode pumped high energy, facility class laser typically is designed to operate in the few nanosecond pulse width regime. Short pulses, down to a few hundred fs, may be possible via direct application of CPA to the laser system. Typically grating damage thresholds and other laser design considerations result in significant reduction of output pulse energy in performing this operation. Further development of large-aperture, high-damage-threshold dielectric gratings would be beneficial to this goal. Shorter pulse widths (less than 100 fs) may be attainable with a facility-class laser via two additional R&D paths. First, one might consider the design and development of Ti:Sapphire laser technology utilizing the frequency doubled output of the facility class laser as a pump laser system would also be a viable R&D path. Second, it is conceivable that a facility-class laser could be employed as a pump laser for an OPCPA system in order to attain sub-100-fs pulse widths.

#### 2.4.6.3 Summary and Applicability to Particle Acceleration

A review of the requirements for the various accelerator applications suggest that facility-class laser technology may be useful for some gamma-gamma collider applications, medical laser applications and possibly some proposed laser wakefield accelerator schemes based upon high pulse energy, lower repetition rates (tens to hundreds of Hz). In the LPA case, a Ti:Sapphire laser intermediary would be required, which would severely limit efficiency of the overall system. The best match of requirements and technology for facility-class lasers is likely in the medical laser applications. However, it should be noted that the system described here are fundamentally diode-pumped solid-state lasers, so lessons learned in developing these systems may be applicable to high repetition rate systems with more-modest pulse energy (<100 J).

There exist several proposals for accelerators, which operate in excess of 1 kHz (Table 25). At these frequencies, the diode technology changes from pulsed format to CW format, with a driver cost that is roughly  $10 \times$  higher than that of pulsed diode systems due to necessarily lower power per bar as well as microchannel packaging required for thermal management. Likewise, thermal management of the gain media and of all laser hardware becomes paramount. Material selection will be limited to robust materials with high thermal conductivity and fracture toughness. While the diodes in this situation can be long lived, the solid state laser system is still subject to a pulsed energy threat. Where possible, the peak power on the optics needs to be limited to below GW levels, where long term degradation would probably occur at these very high repetition rates.

For example if we assume that an LIFE-like laser system is capable of 30 gigashots before optics need to be replaced (~60 yrs at 16 Hz), then at 1 kHz, the replacement time is 1 yr, and at 15 kHz only 23 days. With these statistics in mind, laser designers for these accelerators will need to make an effort to format pulses to mitigate peak power on optics and choose gain media with low saturation cross sections. Large optics will need to be utilized to spread the power load on CPA components like gratings that are very temperature sensitive. Therefore, accelerators requiring high energy (> 10 J) and high repetition rate (> 100 Hz) will require extensive design to achieve efficiency, thermal robustness, and longevity.

For lasers with repetition rates slower than hundreds of Hz, the development of a LIFE or similar laser system would be complementary to many laser based particle accelerator needs. R&D specific to converting such a LIFE-like laser system to short pulse capability would still be required, in order to enable use of these systems in particle accelerator applications. This latter R&D may need to be directly funded by the particle accelerator community, as this development is not within the known scope of an existing facility.

# 2.5 References

- 1. W.P. Leemans and E. Esarey, *Physics Today* 62, 44 (2009).
- 2. T. Tajima and J.M. Dawson, Phys. Rev. Lett. 43, 267 (1979).
- 3. E. Esarey, C.B., Schroeder, W.P. Leemans, Rev. Modern Phys. 81, 1229 (2009).
- 4. W.P. Leemans *et al.*, *Nature Physics* **2**, 696 (2006).
- 5. C.B. Schroeder, E. Esarey, C.G.R. Geddes, C. Benedetti, and W.P. Leemans, *Phys. Rev. ST Accel. Beams* **13**, 101301 (2010).
- 6. A. Pukhov and J. Meyer-ter-Vehn, Appl. Phys. B 74, 355 (2002).
- 7. W. Lu et al., *Phys. Rev. ST Accel. Beams* **10**, 061301 (2007).
- 8. K. Nakajima et al., Phys. Rev. ST Accel. Beams 10, 061301 (2007).
- 9. T. Tajima and A. Chao, private communication; H. C. Wu, T. Tajima, D. Habs, A. Chao, J. Meyer-ter-Vehn, *Phys. Rev. ST Accel. Beams* **13**, 101303 (2010).
- 10. M. Rosing and W. Gai. Longitudinal and transverse wake field effects in dielectric structures. *Phys. Rev. D*, 42:1829–1834 (1990).
- 11. A. Mizrahi and L. Schachter. Optical Bragg accelerators. *Phys. Rev. E*, 70:016505 (2004).
- 12. X. E. Lin. Photonic band gap fiber accelerator. Phys. Rev. ST-AB, 4:051301 (2001).
- 13. R. H. Siemann. Energy efficiency of laser driven, structure based accelerators. *Phys. Rev. ST-AB*, 7:061303 (2004).
- 14. P. Bermel, R. Byer, B. Cowan, J. Dawson, R. J. England, R. Noble, M. Qi, R. Yoder, et al. *Proceedings of the ICFA Mini-Workshop on Dielectric Laser Acceleration*, Menlo Park, CA (2011).
- K. Soong, R. L. Byer, C. McGuinness, E. Peralta, E. Colby, "Experimental Determination of Damage Threshold Characteristics of IR Compatible Optical Materials," Proceedings of the 2011 Particle Accelerator Conference, New York, NY (2011).
- R. J. England, et al. "Experiment to Demonstrate Acceleration in Optical Photonic Bandgap Structures," Proceedings of the 2011 Particle Accelerator Conference, New York, NY (2011).
- 17. ATLAS Collaboration, "Performance of the ATLAS Trigger System in 2010", CERN-PH-EP-2011-078 (2011).
- 18. A. Chao, *Physics of Collective Beam Instabilities in High Energy Accelerators*, John Wiley&Sons (1993).
- Z. Wu, C. Ng, C. McGuinness, E. Colby, "Design of On-Chip Power Transport and Coupling Components for a Silicon Woodpile Accelerator," Proceedings of the 2011 Particle Accelerator Conference, New York, NY (2011).
- 20. E. R. Colby, R. J. England, R. J. Noble, "A Laser-Driven Linear Collider: Sample Machine Parameters and Configuration," Proceedings of the 2011 Particle Accelerator Conference, New York, NY (2011).
- 21. R. H. Siemann, "Energy efficiency of laser driven, structure based accelerators," Phys. Rev. ST-AB **7**, 061303 (2004).

- 22. S. M. S. Sears, et al., "Production and characterization of attosecond electron bunch trains," Phys. Rev. ST-AB **11**, 061301 (2008).
- 23. P. Hommelhoff, et al., "Field Emission Tip as a Naonometer Source of Free Electron Femtosecond Pulses," Phys. Rev. Lett. **96**, 077401 (2006).
- 24. Private communication.
- 25. RDR, <u>http://www.linearcollider.org/about/Publications/Reference-Design-Report</u>
- 26. D. Asner *et.al.*, "Higgs physics with a γγ collider based on CLIC 1", Eur. Phys. J. C **28**, 27–44 (2003).
- 27. R. Tomas, "Overview of the Compact Linear Collider", Phys. Rev. ST Accel. Beams 13, 014801 (2010). Two parameter sets for  $E_{CM} = 0.5$  and 3 TeV are given. Here, the former is used.
- 28. Private communication.
- 29. For example, E. Saldin et al., Proc. PAC2009, Vancouver, BC, Canada, WE6PFP083.
- 30. For example, G. Klemz *et al.*, "Design study of an optical cavity for a future photon collider at ILC", Nucl. Instr. Meth. A **564**, 212 (2006).
- 31. J. Urakawa, "Development of a compact x-ray source based on Compton scattering using 1.3 GHz superconducting RF accelerating linac and a new laser storage cavity", submitted to Nucl. Instr. Meth. A.
- 32. W. Sandner, private communication.
- 33. O. Brüning (ed.) et al, "LHC Design Report". CERN-2004-003-V-1.
- C. Adolphsen et al., "A Large Hadron Electron Collider at CERN Report on the Physics and Design Concepts for Machine and Detector". CERN-LHeC-Note-2011-003 GEN.
- 35. EuroNNAc workshop, CERN, Switzerland, 3 6 May, 2011: http://indico.cern.ch/event/EuroNNAc
- W.P. Leemans *et al.*, "The Berkeley Lab Laser Accelerator (BELLA): A 10-GeV laser plasma accelerator," Proc. 14th Advanced Accelerator Concepts Workshop, Annapolis, Maryland, 13-19 Jun 2010. Published in AIP Conf.Proc.1299:3-11,2010.
- 37. F. L. Zheng et al., Euro. Phys. Lett. 95, 55005 (2011).
- F. L. Zheng et al., "Generating sub-TeV quasi-monoenergetic proton beam by an ultrarelativistically intense laser in the snowplow regime," arXiv:1101.2350v2 [physics.plasm-ph] 17 Jan 2011.
- 39. X. Q. Yan et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 103, 135001 (2009).
- 40. A. Henig et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 103, 245003 (2009); B. Aurand et al., to be published.
- 41. H. A. Bethe and E. E. Salpeter, *Quantum Mechanics of One- and Two-Electron Atoms*, pp 295-322, Springer-Verlag (1957).
- 42. A. N. Grum-Grzhimailo et al., Phys. Rev. A 81, 043408 (2010).
- 43. S. Borbély et al., Phys. Rev. A 77, 033412 (2008).
- 44. S. Geltman, J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys. 33, 1967 (2000).
- 45. J. Bauer et al., J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys. 34, 2245 (2001).
- 46. G. A. Kyrala and T. D. Nichols, Phys. Rev. A 44, R1450–R1453 (1991).
- 47. P. Zeitoun, M. Fajardo, and G. Lambert, "Coherent and compact", Nature Photonics **4**, 739 (2010).
- 48. S. Schulz et al., "All-optical synchronization of distributed laser systems at Flash", in Proceedings of PAC 2009, number TH6REP091, page 4174, Vancouver (Canada), 2009.
- 49. E. Saldin, E. Schneidmiller, Yu. Shvyd'ko and M. Yurkov, NIM A 475, 357 (2001).
- 50. G. Geloni, V. Kocharyan and E. Saldin, "Scheme for generation of highly monochromatic X-rays from a baseline XFEL undulator", DESY 10-033 (2010).
- 51. G. Lambert et al., "Injection of harmonics generated in gas in a free-electron laser providing intense and coherent extreme ultraviolet light", Nature Physics 4, 296 (2008).
- 52. D. Ratner, A. Chao and Z. Huang, "Two-chicane compressed harmonic generation of soft x rays", Phys. Rev. ST AB **14**, 020701 (2011).

- 53. L.-H. Yu et al., "High-Gain Harmonic-Generation Free-Electron Laser", Science **289**, 932 (2000).
- 54. G. Stupakov et al., "Using the beam-echo effect for generation of short-wavelength radiation", Phys. Rev. Lett. **102**, 074801 (2009).
- 55. P. Schmüser, M. Dohlus and J. Rossbach, *Ultraviolet and Soft X-Ray Free-Electron Lasers*, Springer Verlag, 2008.
- 56. E. L. Saldin, E. A. Schneidmiller, and M. V. Yurkov, "Study of noise degradation of amplification process in a multistage HGHG FEL," Optics Comm. **202**, 169 (2002).
- 57. L. Giannessi, "Harmonic generation and linewidth narrowing in seeded FELs," in Proceedings of the 2004 FEL Conference, 37 (2004).
- 58. G. Stupakov, "Noise amplification in HGHG seeding," and G. Stupakov, Z. Huang, and D. Ratner, "Noise amplification in echo-enabled harmonic generation (EEHG)," in Proceedings of the 2010 FEL Conference (2010).
- 59. G. Geloni, V. Kocharyn, and E. Saldin, "Analytic studies of constraints on the performance for EEHG FEL seed lasers", DESY 11-200 (2011).
- 60. N. Yampolsky, "Description of modulated beam dynamics," in preparation (2011).
- 61. A. McPherson et al., "Studies of multiphoton production of vacuum-ultraviolet radiation in the rare Gases", JOSA B **4**, 595 (1987).
- 62. X.F. Li, A. L'Huillier, M. Ferray, L.A. Lompre, and G. Mainfray, "Multiple-harmonic generation in rare gases at high laser intensity" Phys. Rev. A **39**, 5751 (1989).
- 63. J. Rothhardt et al., "High average and peak power few-cycle laser pulses delivered by fiber pumped OPCPA system", Opt. Express **18**, 12719 (2010).
- 64. A. Willner et al., "A new XUV-source for seeding a FEL at high repetition rates", in Proceedings of SPIE Optics + Optoelectronics, Paper 8075-20, Prague (2011).
- J. Pupeza et al., "Power scaling of a high-repetition-rate enhancement cavity", Opt. Lett. 35, 2052-2054 (2010).
- 66. F. Albert et al., "Isotope-specific detection of low-density materials with laser-based monoenergetic gamma-rays", Optics Letters **35**, 354 (2010).
- 67. J. Meyer-ter-Vehn and H.-C. Wu. Eur. Phys. J. D 55, 433 (2009).
- 68. H.-C. Wu, J. Meyer-ter-Vehn, J. Fernandez, B.M. Hegelich, "Uniform Laser-Driven Relativistic Electron Layer for Coherent Thomson Scattering", Phys. Rev. Lett. **104**, 234801 (2010).
- 69. H. Eickhoff and U. Linz, Reviews of Accelerator Science and Technology 1, 143 (2008).
- 70. W.T. Chu et al., Rev. Sci. Instrum. 64, 2055 (1993).
- 71. Y. Hirao et al., Nucl. Phys. A 538, 541c (1992).
- 72. T. Haberer et al., Radiother. Onc. 73, 186 (2004).
- 73. S. V. Bulanov and V. S. Khoroshkov, Plasma Phys. Rep. 28, 453 (2002).
- 74. T. Tajima, D. Habs and X. Yan, Reviews of Accelerator Science and Technology 2, 201 (2009).
- M. Borghesi, J. Fuchs, S. V. Bulanov, A. J. Mackinnon, P. K. Patel and M. Roth, Fusion Sci. Technol. 49, 412 (2006).
- 76. S. C. Wilks et al., Phys. Plasmas 8, 542 (2001).
- 77. R.A. Snavely et al. Phys. Rev. Lett. 85, 2945 (2000).
- T. Esirkepov, M. Borghesi, S. V. Bulanov, G. Mourou and T. Tajima, Phys. Rev. Lett. 92, 175003 (2004).
- 79. S. Steinke et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 215001 (2010).
- 80. A. Henig et al. Phys. Rev. Lett. 103, 245003 (2009).
- I. Hofmann, J. Meyer-ter-Vehn, X. Yan, A. Orzhekovskaya and S. Yaramishev, Phys. Rev. ST-AB 14, 031304 (2011).
- 82. L. Yin et al., Phys. Plasmas 14, 056706 (2007).
- 83. B. J. Albright et al., Phys. Plasmas 14, 094502 (2007).

- M. Hegelich, presented at 53rd annual meeting of the APS Division of Plasmas, Vol. 16, No. 16 (2011).
- 85. S. S. Bulanov et al., Med. Phys. **35**, 1770 (2008); S. S. Bulanov, et al., Phys. Rev. E **78**, 026412 (2008).
- 86. D. Haberberger et. al., Opt. Exp. 18, 17865 (2010).
- 87. D. Haberberger et al., Nature Physics 7, 2130 (2011).
- 88. V. Malka et al., Nature Physics **4** (2008).
- 89. Fuchs et al., Phys. Med. Biol. 54, 3315-3328 (2009).
- 90. R.J. Mears, L. Reekie, I.M. Jauncey and D.N. Payne, "Low noise erbium doped fiber amplifier operating at 1.54 μm," Electronics Letters, vol. 23, pp. 1026-1027 (1987).
- B.J. Ainslie, S.P. Craig and S.T. Davey, "The absorption and fluorescence spectra of rare earth ions in silica based monomode fiber," Journal of Lightwave Technology, vol. 6, pp. 287-293 (1988).
- 92. H.M. Pask, R.J. Carman, D.C. Hanna, A.C. Tropper, C.J. Mackechnie, P.R. Barber and J.M. Dawes, "Ytterbium-doped silica fiber lasers: versatile sources for the 1-1.2μm region," IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics, vol. 1, pp. 2-13 (1995).
- 93. S.L. Yellen, A.H. Sheppard, R.J. Dalby, J.A. Baumann, H.B. Serreze, T.S. Guido, R. Soltz, K.J. Bystrom, C.M. Harding and R.G. Waters, "Reliability of GaAs-based semiconductor diode lasers:0.6-1.1μm," IEEE Journal of Quantum Electronics, vol. 29, pp. 2058-2067, (1993).
- 94. P. Leisher, M. Reynolds, A. Brown, K. Kennedy, L. Bao, J. Wang, M. Grimshaw, M. DeVito, S. Karlsen, J. Small, C. Erbert, R. Martinsen and J. Haden, "Reliability of high power diode laser systems based on single emitters," Proceedings of the SPIE, vol. 7918, pp. 791802-1-7 (2011).
- 95. T. Koenning, K. Alegria, Z. Wang, A. Segref, D. Stapleton, W. Fassbender, M. Flament, K. Rotter, A. Noeske and J. Biesenbach, "Macro-channel cooled, high power, fiber coupled diode lasers exceeding 1.2kW of output power," Proceedings of the SPIE, vol. **7918**, pp. 79180E-1-8 (2011).
- V. Gapontsev, V. Fomin and A. Yusim, "Recent progress in scaling of high-power fiber lasers at IPG Photonics," 22nd Solid State and Diode Laser Technology Review Technical Digest, 29 June-2 July, 2009, pp. 142 (2009).
- G.D. Goodno, L.D. Book and J.E. Rothenberg, "Low-phase-noise, single frequency, single-mode 608W thulium fiber amplifier," Optics Letters, vol. 34, pp. 1204-1206 (2009).
- D.J. Richardson, J. Nilsson and W.A. Clarkson, "High power fiber lasers: current status and future perspectives [Invited]," Journal of the Optical Society of America B, vol. 27, pp. B63-B92 (2010).
- 99. M.Y. Cheng, Y.C. Chang, A. Galvanauskas, P. Mamidpudi, R. Changkakoti and P. Gatchell, "High-energy and high-peak-power nanosecond pulse generation with beam quality control in 200-μm core highly multimode Yb-doped fiber amplifiers," Optics Letters, vol. **30**, pp. 358-360 (2005).
- 100. F. Di Teodoro, M.J. Hemmat, J. Morais and E.C. Cheung, "High peak power operation of a 100µm core, Yb-doped rod type photonic crystal fiber amplifier," Fiber Lasers VII: Technology, Systems, and Applications, Proc. SPIE, vol. **7580**, pp. 758006 (2010).
- 101. See product sheet DC-200/40-PZ-Yb-03 at http://www.nktphotonics.com/dcfibers?cid=5215
- A. Galvanauskas, report at 2nd Joint ICFA-ICUIL Workshop on "High Power Laser Technology for Future Accelerators," September 20-22, 2011.
- 103. Raydiance (<u>http://www.raydiance.com/</u>), IMRA (<u>http://www.imra.com/</u>), Calmar (<u>http://www.calmarlaser.com/</u>), Polar Onyx (<u>http://www.polaronyx.com/</u>), Fianium (<u>http://www.fianium.com/</u>), Active Fiber Systems (<u>http://www.afs-jena.de/</u>)

- A. Galvanauskas, Z. Sartania and M. Bischoff, "Millijoule femtosecond all-fiber system," CLEO 2001, paper CMA1, 2001).
- 105. T. Eidam, J. Rothhardt, F. Stutzki, F. Jansen, S. Hadrich, H. Carstens, C. Jauregui, J. Limpert and A. Tunnermann, "Fiber chirped-pulse amplification system emitting 3.8GW peak power," Optics Express, vol. 19, pp. 255 (2011).
- 106. Y. Zaouter, D.N. Papadopoulos, M. Hanna, J. Boullet, L. Huang, C. Aguergaray, F. Druon, E. Mottay, P. Georges and E. Cormier, "Stretcher-free high energy nonlinear amplification of femtosecond pulses in rod-type fibers," Optics Letters, vol. 33, pp. 107-110 (2008).
- 107. J.W. Dawson, M.J. Messerly, H.H. Phan, J.K. Crane, R.J. Beach, C.W. Siders and C.P.J. Barty, "High-energy, short-pulse fiber injection lasers at Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory," IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics, vol. 15, pp. 207-219 (2009).
- M. Rever, S. Huang, . Yahus, V. Smirnov, E. Rotari, I. Cohanoshi, S. Mokhov, L. Glebov and A. Galvanauskas, "200 fs, 50W fiber-CPA system based on chirped volume Bragg gratings," CLEO/IQEC (2009).
- 109. V. A. Kozlov, J. Hernández-Cordero, and T. F. Morse, "All-fiber coherent beam combining of fiber lasers," Opt. Lett. 24, 1814-1816 (1999).
- 110. T. M. Shay, J. T. Baker, A. D. Sancheza, C. A. Robin, C. L. Vergien, A. Flores, C. Zerinque, D. Gallant, C. A. Lu, B. Pulford, T. J. Bronder, and A. Lucero, "Phasing of High Power Fiber Amplifier Arrays," in Advanced Solid-State Photonics, OSA Technical Digest Series (CD) (Optical Society of America, 2010), paper AMA1.
- 111. Eric C. Cheung, James G. Ho, Gregory D. Goodno, Robert R. Rice, Josh Rothenberg, Peter Thielen, Mark Weber, and Michael Wickham, "Diffractive-optics-based beam combination of a phase-locked fiber laser array," Opt. Lett. **33**, 354-356 (2008).
- Radoslaw Uberna, Andrew Bratcher, Thomas G. Alley, Anthony D. Sanchez, Angel S. Flores, and Benjamin Pulford, "Coherent combination of high power fiber amplifiers in a two-dimensional re-imaging waveguide," Opt. Express 18, 13547-13553 (2010).
- 113. S. J. Augst, A. K. Goyal, R. L. Aggarwal, T. Y. Fan, and A. Sanchez, "Wavelength beam combining of ytterbium fiber lasers," Opt. Lett. 28, 331-333 (2003).
- 114. Igor V. Ciapurin, Leonid B. Glebov, Larissa N. Glebova, Vadim I. Smirnov, and Eugeniu V. Rotari, "Incoherent combining of 100-W Yb-fiber laser beams by PTR Bragg grating," Proc. SPIE, Vol. 4974, 209 (2003).
- 115. K. Regelskis, K. Hou, G. Raciukaitis, and A. Galvanauskas, "Spatial-Dispersion-Free Spectral Beam Combining of High Power Pulsed Yb-Doped Fiber Lasers," in Conference on Lasers and Electro-Optics/Quantum Electronics and Laser Science Conference and Photonic Applications Systems Technologies, OSA Technical Digest (CD) (Optical Society of America, 2008), paper CMA4.
- 116. Armen Sevian, Oleksiy Andrusyak, Igor Ciapurin, Vadim Smirnov, George Venus, and Leonid Glebov, "Efficient power scaling of laser radiation by spectral beam combining," Opt. Lett. **33**, 384-386 (2008).
- 117. C. Wirth, O. Schmidt, I. Tsybin, T. Schreiber, T. Peschel, F. Brückner, T. Clausnitzer, J. Limpert, R. Eberhardt, A. Tünnermann, M. Gowin, E. ten Have, K. Ludewigt, and M. Jung, "2 kW incoherent beam combining of four narrow-linewidth photonic crystal fiber amplifiers," Opt. Express 17, 1178-1183 (2009).
- 118. G. Mourou, private communication.
- 119. L. Siiman, T. Zhou, W.Z. Chang and A. Galvanauskas, "Femtosecond pulses from coherently combined parallel chirped pulse fiber amplfiers," CLEO 2011 (2011).
- L. Daniault, M. Hanna, L. Lombard, Y. Zaouter, E. Motlay, D. Goular, P. Bourdon, F. Druon and P. Georges, "Coherent beam combining of two femtosecond fiber chirped-pulse amplifiers," Optics Letters, vol. 36, pp. 621-623 (2011).

- 121. E. Seise, A. Klenke, S.Breitkopf, J. Limpert and A. Tünnermann, "88 W, 0.5 mJ femtosecond laser pulses from two coherently combined fiber amplifiers," Optics Letters, vol. **36**, pp. 3858-3860 (2011).
- 122. L. Daniault, M. Hanna, D.N. Papadopoulos, Y. Zaouter, E. Mottay, F. Druon and P. Georges, "Passive coherent beam combining of two femtosecond fiber chirped-pulse amplfiers," Optics Letters, vol. 36, pp. 4023-4025 (2011).
- 123. A. Klene, S. Demmler, J. Rothardt, E. Seise, S. Breikopf, J. Limpert and A. Tünnermann, "Coherently-combined two channel femtosecond fiber CPA system producing 3mJ pulse energy," accepted by Optics Express (ID: 153561).
- 124. A. Dubietis et al., "Powerful femtosecond pulse generation by chirped and stretched pulse parametric amplification in BBO crystal", Opt. Commun. **88**, 433 (1992).
- 125. I. N. Ross et al., "The prospects for ultrashort pulse duration and ultrahigh intensity using optical parametric chirped pulse amplifiers", Opt. Commun. **144**, 125 (1997).
- 126. James R. Leger, Gary J. Swanson, and Wilfrid B. Veldkamp, "Coherent laser addition using binary phase gratings," Appl. Opt. **26**, 4391-4399 (1987).
- 127. Shu-Wei Huang, Giovanni Cirmi, Jeffrey Moses, Kyung-Han Hong, Siddharth Bhardwaj, Jonathan R. Birge, Li-Jin Chen, Enbang Li, Benjamin J. Eggleton, Giulio Cerullo, and Franz X. Kärtner, "High-energy pulse synthesis with sub-cycle waveform control for strong-field physics", Nature Photonics **5**,475–479 (2011).
- 128. Wei-Zung Chang, Tong Zhou, Leo A. Siiman, and Almantas Galvanauskas, "Femtosecond pulse coherent combining and spectral synthesis using four parallel chirped pulse fiber amplifiers", Advanced Solid State Photonics, San Diego, Jan 29 – Feb 1, 2012.
- 129. I. N. Ross et al., "The prospects for ultrashort pulse duration and ultrahigh intensity using optical parametric chirped pulse amplifiers", Opt. Commun. **144**, 125 (1997).
- 130. X. Yang et al., "Multiterawatt laser system based on optical parametric chirped pulse amplification", Opt. Lett. 27 (13), 1135 (2002).
- 131. Y. Kitagawa et al., "Prepulse-free petawatt laser for a fast ignitor", IEEE J. Quantum Electron. 40 (3), 281 (2004).
- C. N. Danson et al., "Vulcan petawatt: design, operation, and interactions at 5×10<sup>20</sup> Wcm<sup>-2</sup>", Laser Part. Beams 23, 87 (2005).
- 133. L. J. Waxer et al., "High-energy petawatt capability for the Omega laser", Opt. Photon. News 16 (7), 30 (2005).
- 134. V. V. Lozhkarev et al., "200 TW 45 fs laser based on optical parametric chirped pulse amplification", Opt. Express **14** (1), 446 (2006).
- 135. A. Dubietis, R. Butkus, and A. P. Piskarskas, "Trends in chirped pulse optical parametric amplification", IEEE J. Sel. Top. Quantum Electron. **12** (2), 163 (2006).
- 136. F. Tavella et al., "Dispersion management for a sub-10-fs, 10 TW optical parametric chirped-pulse amplifier", Opt. Lett. **32** (15), 2227 (2007).
- 137. S. Adachi et al., "5-fs, multi-mJ, CEP-locked parametric chirped-pulse amplifier pumped by a 450-nm source at 1 kHz", Opt. Express **16** (19), 14341 (2008).
- 138. S. Witte et al., "Generation of few-cycle terawatt light pulses using optical parametric chirped pulse amplification:, Opt. Express **13** (13), 4903 (2005).
- 139. V. Bagnoud et al., "High-dynamic-range temporal measurements of short pulses amplified by OPCPA", Opt. Express **15** (9), 5504 (2007).
- 140. H. Kiriyama et al., "Prepulse-free, multi-terawatt, sub-30-fs laser system", Opt. Express 14 (1), 438 (2005).
- 141. L. J. Waxer et al., "High-conversion-efficiency optical parametric chirped-pulse amplification system using spatiotemporally shaped pump pulses", Opt. Lett. **28** (14), 1245 (2003).
- 142. D. Kezys et al., "Multibeam pumping of OPA by radiation of fibre amplifiers", Lithuanian Journal of Physics, Vol. **51**, No. 2, pp. 137–142 (2011).

- 143. A. Dubietis et al.,"Combining effect in a multiple-beam pumped optical parametric amplifier", J. Opt. Soc. Am. B **15** (3), 1135–1139 (1998).
- 144. G. Tamošauskas et al., "Optical parametric amplifier pumped by two mutually incoherent laser beams", Appl. Phys. B **91** (2), 305–307 (2008).
- 145. S. Ališauskas et al., "Prospects for increasing average power of optical parametric chirped pulse amplifiers via multi-beam pumping", Opt. Commun. **283** (3), 469–473 (2010).
- 146. T. Kurita et al., "Experimental demonstration of spatially coherent beam combining using optical parametric amplification", Opt. Express 18(14), 14541–14546 (2010).
- 147. Z.M. Liao et al., "Energy and average power scalable optical parametric chirped-pulse amplification in yttrium calcium oxyborate," Optics Letters 31, 1277 (2006).
- 148. R. Danielius et al., "Self-diffraction through cascaded second-order frequency-mixing effects in Beta-barium borate", Opt. Lett. 18(8), 574–576 (1993).
- 149. http://www.icuil.org/events-a-activities/facilities.html
- 150. A. Bayramian et al., "Compact, Efficient Laser Systems Required For Laser Inertial Fusion Energy," Fus. Sci. & Tech. **60**, 28-48 (2011).
- 151. A.J. Bayramian et al., "High Average Power Petawatt Laser Pumped by The Mercury Laser for Fusion Materials Engineering," Fus. Sci. & Tech. **56**, 295-300 (2009).
- 152. A. Bayramian et al., "The Mercury Project: A High Average Power, Gas-Cooled Laser For Inertial Fusion Energy Development," Fus. Sci. & Tech. **52**, 383-387 (2007).
- 153. R. Deri et al., "Semiconductor Laser Diode Pumps for Inertial Fusion Energy Lasers," LLNL White Paper LLNL-TR-465931 (2011).

# **3** Activity Reports

#### **3.1** Sixth International Accelerator School for Linear Colliders

Barry Barish and Weiren Chou mail to: <u>barish@ligo.caltech.edu</u>, <u>chou@fnal.gov</u>

*The Sixth International Accelerator School for Linear Colliders* took place from November 6 to 17, 2011 at the Asilomar Conference Center, Pacific Grove, California, U.S.A. (<u>http://www.linearcollider.org/school/2011/</u>) This school continued the successful series: 2006 in Japan, 2007 in Italy, 2008 in the U.S., 2009 in China and 2010 in Switzerland. This year's school was jointly organised by the ILC GDE, CLIC and the ICFA Beam Dynamics Panel. SLAC hosted the school.

The school was aimed at PhD students, postdocs and young researchers, especially young experimentalists. The response to the school was overwhelming. We received 231 applications from 51 countries; most of the candidates presented strong credentials. However, the school could only accommodate a limited number. Through a difficult and rigorous selection process, the Curriculum Committee accepted 63 students from 18 countries. The committee members carefully read the CV and recommendation letter of each applicant, and discussed among themselves before making the decision to admit or reject an applicant. For personal reasons five admitted students did not come. Another three students from India did not receive U.S. visa and could not come. The fifty-five students who attended the school were a talented and highly motivated group. They

successfully met the challenge of an intensive 10-day education program and did well in the final examination.

The curriculum consisted of lectures, homework assignments and a final exam. The first three days were plenary sessions with introductory lectures: general introduction, ILC, CLIC muon collider, linac basics and beam instrumentation. After that the students divided into two parallel classes. Class A, accelerator physics, had 26 students and included four lectures: sources, linacs, damping rings and beam delivery system. Class B, RF technology, had 29 students and included three lectures: room temperature RF, superconducting RF, high power and low level RF. All lecturers were carefully chosen and are renowned scientists in their respective field. They not only gave lectures during the day, but also gave tutorials and helped students with their homework in the evenings. They designed the examination problems and graded them. The final exam on the last day lasted four-and-a-half hours. All 55 students took the final exam. The lecture slides and homework problems can be found on the school web site.

The exam problems were different for Class A and B but were equally challenging. Most students did well as shown in the figures of exam scores. The top 11 students were honored at the banquet and each was awarded a certificate and a book (*Reviews of Accelerator Science and Technology*, Volume 3, edited by A. Chao and W. Chou, and published by World Scientific in 2010).

In addition to lectures, the students paid a site visit to SLAC. This gave them an opportunity to learn about real accelerators. The students visited three places: LCLS, NLCTA and FACET. The students also had an excursion visiting the well-known and popular Monterey Bay Aquarium, which gave them a much needed break during their busy school work.

Throughout the school period, the students were encouraged to make new friends since this was a once-in-a-lifetime opportunity for many of them to meet with other young talented people from different origins who shared the same interest (accelerators) and career goals (future colliders). Some of the friendships nurtured at the school will last a lifetime.

The Local Committee (LC) was chaired by Vinod Bharadwaj. He and other LC members Naomi Nagahashi, Alex Chao and Nick Arias (all from SLAC) played a pivotal role in making the school a success. Fermilab Conference Office (Cynthia Sazama and Suzanne Weber) spent an enormous amount of time and effort helping organize the school and did an outstanding job. The LC and Fermilab Conference Office arranged everything for the school: visa applications, airport pickups, housing assignments, meals, coffee breaks, reception, banquet, photos, excursion, A/V, computers, printers, lecture slides duplication and the SLAC site visit. All logistics was well taken care of so the teachers could concentrate on teaching and the students could focus on studying and learning. We were thankful for their dedication and wonderful work.

The school received generous sponsorship from a number of funding agencies and institutions all over the world: U.S. DOE Office of Science, NSF, Fermilab, SLAC, Stanford Univ., ILC GDE, CERN, DESY, CPAN, KEK, Kyoto Univ., IHEP, Peking Univ. and Tsinghua Univ.

We carried out a student survey on the last day of school. The results will be given to the lecturers and committee members for improvements for future schools. Based on the interest, demand and success of the first six schools, it was decided to continue in 2012. The seventh school will take place in Asia. The venue and dates are yet to be decided.







# 4 Workshop and Conference Reports

# 4.1 2011 Dielectric Laser Acceleration Workshop (DLA2011)

Peter Bermel<sup>1</sup>, Robert L. Byer<sup>2</sup>, Eric R. Colby<sup>3</sup>, Benjamin M. Cowan<sup>4</sup>, Jay Dawson<sup>5</sup>, R. Joel England<sup>3</sup>, Robert J. Noble<sup>3</sup>, Minghao Qi<sup>6</sup>, Rodney B. Yoder<sup>7</sup>

Mail to: noble@slac.stanford.edu

#### Abstract:

The first ICFA Mini-workshop on Dielectric Laser Accelerators was held on September 15-16, 2011 at SLAC National Accelerator Laboratory. We present the results of the Workshop, and discuss the main conclusions of the Accelerator Applications, Photonics, and Laser Technologies working groups. Over 50 participants from 4 countries participated, discussing the state of the art in photonic structures, laser science, and nanofabrication as it pertains to laser-driven particle acceleration in dielectric structures. Applications of this new and promising acceleration concept to discovery science and industrial, medical, and basic energy sciences were explored. The DLA community is presently focused on making demonstrations of high gradient acceleration and a compatible attosecond injector source—two critical steps towards realizing the potential of this technology.

#### 4.1.1 Introduction

Dielectric Laser Acceleration (DLA) refers to the use of optical to infrared (IR) lasers to drive high-gradient particle acceleration inside of a vacuum channel in a dielectric photonic crystal medium. DLA is a promising and rapidly progressing field of research and development in particle accelerator technology. The high breakdown threshold of dielectric materials at optical frequencies, relative to metals in the RF regime, makes possible significant improvements in accelerating gradient. Efficient, inexpensive, and commercially available lasers spanning a widening wavelength range can enable cost-effective accelerator systems for a variety of applications. Furthermore, the amenability of DLA structures to industrial fabrication techniques makes inexpensive commercialized mass-production a possibility. The field of DLA has achieved remarkable progress in recent years, with detailed design studies of photonic crystal and planar structures [1-4], experimental demonstration of net acceleration, and advances in fabrication techniques.

To assess the state of the field and discuss future directions, the first Dielectric Laser Accelerator Workshop was held on September 15–16, 2011 at SLAC National Accelerator Laboratory. The workshop consisted of three working groups: (1) Accelerator Applications, (2) Photonic Structures and Optical Materials, and (3) Laser Technology Requirements. While the Photonics and Laser Technology working groups were tasked with discussing particular structures and laser systems, the Accelerator Applications group was tasked with discussing how DLA technology might be applied to various types of accelerators. The applications of particle accelerators are highly varied, from small systems for medical use, where compactness and cost are of paramount concern, to high-energy colliders where accelerating gradient and power efficiency are key. The following charge was put to the working groups:

- 1. Identify the state-of-the-art in each field as it pertains to laser-driven particle acceleration.
- 2. Outline general parameters for potential industrial, medical, compact light source, and linear collider applications.
  - a) Identify interface requirements between the accelerator, photonic devices, and laser systems in each case.
  - b) Identify critical parameters that make-or-break performance in each case.
- 3. Identify key areas needing R&D, and sketch an R&D roadmap in each of the three subject areas.
- 4. Increase awareness of efforts in adjacent disciplines, identify synergies, and grow collaborations between the accelerator physics, photonics, and laser R&D communities.

#### 4.1.2 Accelerator Application

Although DLA is a relatively new area of scientific research, the field has advanced along multiple fronts in the last few years. Recent work has yielded new structure designs, laser technology, injection mechanisms, fabrication techniques, experimental diagnostics, and simulation tools. There are now three distinct types of DLA structures that have been explored in detail: planar structures, which include gratings [1] and/or dielectric stacks [2]; photonic crystal fibers [3]; and three-dimensional photonic crystal structures fabricated using integrated circuit technology [4]. Efficient, short pulse lasers now exist in wavelengths spanning nearly the entire 1 to 2 micron range, and efforts are underway to reach longer wavelengths using parametric techniques.

The near-term goal common to virtually all projects in the DLA community is the demonstration of high accelerating gradient. In this context, high gradient means well beyond the 30 to 100 MV/m regime of current widely-used acceleration techniques. By contrast, dielectrics have been demonstrated [5,6] to withstand electric field stresses well in excess of 1 GV/m, which is an order of magnitude higher than the breakdown limits for traditional microwave cavities. Developing accelerator structures that effectively exploit this capability will require laser systems, dielectric materials, structure topologies, and power couplers that together provide high gradient and damage threshold, while minimizing field enhancement. Several groups are experimentally exploring microtip-based electron emitters for direct injection of optically bunched beams, and we expect demonstrations of acceleration in DLA structures to occur in the one-year time frame. It therefore makes sense to consider how current technology might

93

scale or be integrated to achieve operational accelerator systems suitable for various types of applications. To this end, we discuss below applications for DLA in three main areas: discovery science, basic energy science, and medical science.

#### 4.1.2.1 High-Energy Colliders

Due to the growing cost and size of high-energy physics (HEP) facilities based on traditional RF accelerator technology, it is clear that revolutionary new accelerator concepts are needed to continue into the 10 TeV center-of-mass energy range and beyond. DLA is poised as a particularly promising advanced concept for a future HEP The key parameters for a DLA-based collider are: gradient, wall-plug collider. efficiency, and luminosity. Gradient is clearly critical to keep the accelerator length, and hence civil construction cost, reasonable. Since laser technology has made great strides in wall-plug-to-optical efficiency, the accelerator design requires maximizing optical-tobeam efficiency. The DLA beam power is generated by accelerating low-charge, lowemittance bunches at high repetition rate. The small beam emittances allow these bunches to be focused to the very small spot sizes needed to achieve the desired luminosity, the high repetition rates allow feedback to stabilize the beams to collide at the interaction point, and the very low bunch charge reduces the beamstrahlung loss. Indeed, at multi-TeV collider energies, a high repetition rate small bunch charge accelerator may be the only route that is sufficiently free of beamstrahlung backgrounds to be used for high energy physics.

Energy efficiency is critical due to the high beam power requirements of a linear collider. The bunch charge that can be efficiently accelerated in a DLA is limited due to beam loading to the fC level, with optimal efficiencies in the tens of percent [7]. Picosecond-scale trains of optical bunches can increase the charge to several hundred fC, but to achieve the needed average current, high repetition rates are required. Fortunately, repetition rates in the tens of MHz are well within the operating regime of fiber laser technology. With high average power mode-locked fiber lasers that have efficiencies approaching 40% expected to become commercially available on the 5 to 10 year time scale, future linear collider wallplug efficiencies of 10% or higher appear reasonable.

For a linear collider, the emittance must be preserved throughout the several km of acceleration, so misalignments must be small enough that they do not result in significant emittance growth. In particular, it is estimated that with conventional magnetic focusing, the quadrupole alignment would have a tolerance of about 1 micron, and the accelerator structures would need to be aligned to 100 nm. Furthermore, the transverse quadrupole jitter must be below 0.1 nm. This is based on a maximum centroid motion of ten percent of the beam size from magnetic center vibration, assuming 1000 quads and a normalized emittance of 0.1 nm. Jitter larger than this makes tuning challenging. For an optical accelerator structure as monolithic units, so these elements are by nature aligned permanently.

A key mechanism for misalignment resulting in emittance growth is the beam breakup (BBU) instability. In BBU, transverse wakefields interact resonantly with the bunch betatron motion to drive transverse oscillations. A simple BBU model [8] was used to estimate the effect of misalignment. For 150 fC bunch train charge, it was found that a 30 nm average misalignment resulted in 2.2 nm normalized emittance growth from a cold beam over 500 GeV of acceleration in 1 km. A scan of emittance growth vs. bunch charge was conducted, and it was found that accelerating sufficient charge with tolerable beam degradation for high-energy physics applications requires about 50 nm alignment. Beam stability may be improved by using a shorter focusing period, for instance with optical focusing, as well as via BNS damping. More detailed modeling is required to evaluate mitigation strategies, and single-wafer scale experimental tests are needed. While achieving such tolerances over several km is a challenge, we note that the high repetition rate of a DLA collider provides information at MHz frequencies, which can be used for feedback stabilization, and stabilization better than  $1 \text{nm}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$  has already been demonstrated over similar lengths scales at the LIGO facility [9].

#### 4.1.2.2 X-ray Light Sources

The development of an affordable tabletop X-ray light source would open new avenues of basic energy science research and make these avenues more accessible to smaller research facilities and university laboratories. Such a light source would not only benefit from the compact size of DLA devices, but would be highly suited to the production of extremely short (sub-femtosecond) light pulses, given the time structure of the electron beams produced in DLAs. The relatively smaller bunch charges in the DLA scheme lead to lower photon flux but with high brightness and brilliance; photon production may be on the order of one per electron; and photon energy is restricted by the available beam energies and device scaling. However, the high repetition rates employed in the DLA scheme could be used to compensate for the lower energy output per bunch.

For X-ray photon generation from an electron beam in the 10 to 100 MeV range, undulator periods would be on the order of tens of microns, making laser-driven dielectric undulator structures a natural strategy. The micro-undulator proposed in Ref. [10], which utilizes a pair of gratings transversely illuminated by a laser pulse to produce a net deflecting force on particles traveling in the vacuum channel between them, is adaptable to undulator periods from tens to hundreds of microns, and could be designed for operation over a wide range of IR wavelengths. A hard X-ray source (0.1 Å) at 1 micron wavelength would require beam injection at 2 GeV with sub-wavelength bunches. In addition, a resonant deflecting structure proposed in Ref. [11] could operate on relatively low laser power at very high repetition rate, and the interaction length would depend only on the structure; a scheme for generating the requisite 180 degree phase shift per undulator half-period is still under development. Both soft (60 nm) and hard (0.1 Å) X-rays could be achieved in this paradigm. The low emittances and spot sizes required for FEL operation at this scale are achievable using compact injector technology that could be micro-machined and integrated into a DLA structure. This approach is discussed in Section 4.1.3.1.

#### 4.1.2.3 Medical Devices

Given the compactness, low shielding requirements, and small beam spots of DLAs, they could be highly advantageous for a variety of medical and industrial end uses, in which low- to moderate-energy electron beams are used for direct irradiation or converted to X-rays via a beamstrahlung target. The relatively low demands on beam quality and energy spread make this application one of the most promising for DLA-based devices.

The main parameters of interest for these applications are energy, dose rate, and irradiated volume. The most promising energy range for direct electron irradiation of tissue is 1 to 6 MeV, for which the stopping range is 1 to 3 cm (leading to minimal surrounding tissue damage). A DLA device that is contained in a millimeter-scale module could be used for cancer treatment (for example, inserted directly into tumors during operation), neuron ablation, or intracoronary radiation therapy. External beam radiotherapy could also benefit from a substantial reduction in size and cost possible with DLAs.

#### 4.1.2.4 Summary and Outlook for DLA Applications

Dielectric laser accelerators hold promise for applications where high average brightness beams are required, and in each case represent a significant improvement over existing technology. These improvements strongly rely on the ability of DLA to provide high gradient, so the immediate goal is to demonstrate that gradient. A number of further technical and physics issues must be addressed for all DLA applications. The beam dynamics of a very low-charge bunch may have unique features that must be taken into account, for which further analysis and modeling is needed. Operation at very high repetition rate places demands on the drive laser as well as on structure cooling and temperature stability, both of which need study. High average power, high repetition rate lasers are available today at 1 micron wavelength. In addition, a suitable attosecond source of electrons must be completed and demonstrated. Finally, progress has been made on the efficient coupling of drive lasers into a DLA structure. Coupling for 1D structure has been tested, and coupling for 2D and 3D photonic structures will be tested in 1-2 years.

#### 4.1.3 Photonic Accelerator Structures and Optical Materials

Dielectric laser accelerators are designed to couple high-quality optical laser light sources to charged particles, in order to accelerate them to relativistic speeds. Periodic dielectric structures, known as photonic crystals, using materials with a so-called photonic band gap (PBG), confine light to a vacuum channel in the material, in a fashion similar to a metal waveguide, but with losses many orders of magnitude lower [12]. PBGs allow for optical confinement of modes within cavities and waveguides, via the introduction of defect state(s) that break the symmetry of the crystal. Exemplary devices include Omniguides, in which a 1D photonic crystal is wrapped around into a cylinder to confine light in a hollow core [13]; 2D arrays of rods with one or more rods removed [14]; and 3D stacks of rods (known as woodpile structures) [15] or alternating rod and hole layers with one or more dielectric regions removed [16, 17].

Since the accelerating mode is confined to a low-loss vacuum channel, dielectric laser accelerators based on photonic band gap designs allow efficient coupling of laser light to charged particle beams. Developing prototype structures for testing requires simulating optimal designs, and choosing the proper materials and fabrication methods. A number of promising designs with 1D, 2D, and 3D periodicity have been proposed and were reviewed the DLA Workshop. Many of these designs are being fabricated and beam tested now or in the near future. Designs are also needed for coupling laser power to and from the accelerator waveguides.

#### 4.1.3.1 Current State of the Art in PBG Accelerator Design and Fabrication

Several proposed DLA topologies [1, 4, 18] have been under recent investigation. Significant progress has been made in the fabrication of partial or full prototypes of these structures with geometries optimized for accelerator use [19, 20, 21] as seen in Fig.1: (a) a structure where the beam is accelerated by a transversely incident laser beam in the gap between two gratings, (b) a glass photonic bandgap (PBG) hollow-core optical fiber, and (c) a silicon "woodpile" photonic crystal waveguide.



**Figure 1:** Recently constructed prototypes of (a) the 1D dual grating accelerator structure with 800 nm period. (Stanford University), (b) The 2D photonic capillary wafer accelerator structure with transverse size about 700 microns (Income Inc.). (c) 9-layer half structure of the 3D photonic woodpile with rectangular defect region where the particle beam traverses into the page (Stanford University).

The 1D dual grating design has been recently fabricated, in part thanks to the relatively straightforward aspect of the design [21], and initial electron beam tests are currently in progress at SLAC. The prototype shown in Fig. 1(a) has a period of 800 nm and was fabricated at Stanford University. Being made from fused silica, it is expected that these structures can sustain an acceleration gradient up to 1.2 GV/m. The field enhancement is moderate, since there is no true 3D photonic bandgap to strongly confine light to within the small aperture region. Similar structures have also been proposed for focusing, position monitoring, and deflection devices [22, 23]. The 2-D photonic wafer of Fig. 1(b) is about a millimeter thick (drawn as glass fiber, then cut to about 1000 wavelengths sections) and is based on the holey fiber photonic crystal waveguide, in which a 2D photonic bandgap structure is turned into the transverse cross-section for a 3D waveguide. Borosilicate prototypes have been drawn for guides wavelengths between 1 and 7 µm. This is expected to support acceleration gradients up to 1 GV/m [24]. The woodpile structure of Fig. 1(c) is one of the more challenging structures to simulate and fabricate (due to its 3D periodicity), requiring multiple fabrication steps and sub-micron alignment. However, due to its complete 3D photonic bandgap, it can maximize the spatial and temporal confinement of laser light, allowing for relatively modest power inputs to drive gradients of 1 GV/m at 1.5 µm, approaching the damage threshold of silicon [25, 26].

Two additional structures based on 1D Bragg reflecting layers have been proposed and are in development at UCLA and Purdue; these are shown in Fig. 2: (a) the Micro-Accelerator Platform (MAP), a semi-resonant slab-symmetric structure, and (b) a 1D Ominiguide cylindrical Bragg accelerator. The MAP structure of Fig. 2(a) proposed by Travish et al. from UCLA uses two distributed Bragg reflector (DBR) stacks with a vacuum defect to confine light, with a grating for input power coupling [27]. It operates in a resonant fashion which can be tuned to a desired laser wavelength by design, or possibly afterwards via an electrostatic tuning mechanism between the two DBR stacks. Preliminary prototypes of this structure have been fabricated and have undergone initial electron beam testing at SLAC. The on-chip Omniguide of Fig. 2(b) represents an adaptation of the fiber-drawn Omniguide structure [13], which uses an omnidirectional 1D photonic crystal rolled into a cylinder to confine light to a hollow core. The physics of its operation at wavelengths in the PBG can be understood much like traditional metallic waveguides, but with losses many orders of magnitude lower.



**Figure 2:** Proposed structures that are in development: (a) The 1D MAP Bragg reflector accelerator structure (UCLA) and (b) The 1D Omniguide dielectric accelerator. The particle beam traverses the cylindrical accelerator cavities on a path indicated by the dashed line (Purdue University).

The low emittances and spot sizes required for these structures are achievable using compact injector technology that could be micro-machined and integrated into a DLA structure. The approach relies on field enhancement by emitting tips in a cathode region, producing micro-bunches that are then trapped in an accelerating bucket. Such micronscale injectors would also have clear advantages for the production of extremely small beams and would be intrinsically matched to the structure. Physics studies of such emitters and their characterization are underway at various facilities, including Stanford, Vanderbilt, MPQ-Garching, and UCLA. Current experimental demonstrations of laserenhanced field emission from nanometric tips have concentrated on the production of small, well-collimated, and ultrashort electron bunches with femtosecond or better timing precision [28, 29]. To date, very low normalized emittances (about 1 nm) and high brightness have been obtained, with 10 to 1000 electrons per bunch using tip radii of 10 to 100 nm. Using low-power lasers, for which repetition rates of 150 MHz or more are easily obtained, average currents can be near 100 pA. Although the bunch charges generated thus far are approximately a factor of 10 lower than what is ultimately desired for DLA, this approach appears to be a promising avenue of research for making compatible low-emittance electron sources.

In addition, development of integrated MEMS-type diagnostics, such as beam position monitors, will be required for any DLA application to measure and control the beams. A concept for a BPM using a variant of the grating structure has recently been

proposed by Soong [30]. The concept uses a dual-grating with a tapered grating period to produce a linear variation in operating wavelength along the dimension transverse to the beam axis. Light emitted by wakefield excitation by the electron beam (via the inverse of the acceleration process) would then have a different center wavelength depending on transverse position of the electrons, permitting a high-resolution measurement of beam position from the power spectrum of emitted light.

# **4.1.3.2** Short-Term Roadmap for Development of Photonic Crystal DLA Structures

A ten year roadmap for DLA development is presented in Table 1. Near-term research in dielectric laser acceleration will focus primarily on demonstrating gradient in prototype structures and refining the materials and fabrication techniques for building DLA accelerator modules that can sustain the requisite laser fluence levels. This will be followed by development of second generation structures with power handling components (SOI waveguides, splitters, and efficient couplers), and design of other required accelerator components such as beam position monitors and focusing elements that are amenable to integrated MEMS and CMOS based fabrication. Once the basic principles for fabricating multi-component systems is established, a variety of applications can be explored, including portable light sources and medical sources, with the goal of producing a device capable of producing 1 GeV of net acceleration within 10 years.

Time Scale	Anticipated Developments				
	Demonstrate acceleration in first-generation DLA structures				
	Explore and test new fabrication approaches, such as:				
	<ul> <li>Generation of elements by reactive ion etching</li> </ul>				
	Atomic Layer Deposition (ALD)				
	Nanoimprint Lithography (NIL)				
1-2 Years	Test novel materials for DLAs:				
	Silicon carbide (moissainite)				
	Artificial diamonds				
	Develop a community computational resource:				
	<ul> <li>Hardware adequate for running large simulations</li> </ul>				
	• Operating system suitable for a large cluster				
	• Installed software (MEEP, MPB, VORPAL, HFSS)				
	Develop second generation DLA structures using experimental data				
2-3 Years	Simulation of all required photonic components:				
	<ul> <li>Accelerator couplers and nonlinear compensators</li> </ul>				
	• Diagnostics, focusing, and deflecting structures				
	Demonstrate photonic coupling				
3-5 Years	Demonstrate techniques for avoiding deleterious nonlinear effects:				
	Low-nonlinearity materials				
	Pulse stretching and compressing				
	Demonstrate prototype portable x-ray source				
5-10 Years	Demonstrate internal-beam radiotherapy source				
	Demonstrate 1 GeV DLA electron accelerator				

Table 1: Roadmap for near-term development of DLA research

#### 4.1.3.3 Summary and Outlook for Photonic Structures

Photonic crystals offer a promising path forward for dielectric laser accelerator systems. They provide the ability to strongly confine light, enhancing its interaction with charged particles, while limiting losses to many orders of magnitude below alternatives such as fiber optics or metal waveguides. A variety of proposed designs were explored in the workshop, including dual gratings, 1D Bragg stacks and gratings (the MAP structure), 2D photonic crystal capillary wafers, 3D woodpile structures, and on-chip Omniguides. The most significant trade-off consideration in development of these structures was found to be between simplicity/ease of fabrication and ultimate potential performance. Prototypes of four of the five structures have been fabricated and two have already been tested with electron beam. Omniguides have been manufactured, but speed-of-light TM mode structures suitable for acceleration remain to be prototyped.

#### 4.1.4 Lasers for Dielectric Particle Accelerators

The laser requirements for a DLA based accelerator reflect the stringent power and efficiency requirements for future linear colliders as well as the unusual pulse format of the electron beam: namely very high rep rates with low per-pulse energy but high average power. In addition, because each laser pulse can drive an entire bunch train in the DLA scenario, sub-picosecond pulse lengths are not required. Below, we discuss the laser requirements, the state of the art in fiber lasers (the recommended laser technology for this application), and present a baseline design for a modular system designed to drive many stages of acceleration.

Requirement	Woodpile	PCF Fiber	Gratings	Resonant Structure
Pulse energy	200nJ	1µJ	10µJ	1-10µJ
Average Power	20W, 200 W (goal)	100W, 1kW (goal)	1kW, 10kW (goal)	1kW
Wavelength	>2 µm, longer pref	1μm, longer pref?	Not important	Not important
Pulse widths	1ps	1ps	0.1-0.2 ps	1.8-10 ps
CEP Locking	<1 degree optical phase angle	<1 degree optical phase angle	<1 degree optical phase angle	<1 degree optical phase
Repetition Rate	100 MHz, 1 GHz (goal)	100 MHz, 1 GHz (goal)	100 MHz, 1 GHz (goal)	100MHz to 1GHz
Wall Plug Efficiency	30% min, 40% Goal	30% min, 40% Goal	30% min, 40% Goal	30% min, 40% Goal
Beam quality	Maintain eff. req. when beam is coupled	Maintain eff. req. when beam is coupled	Top Hat	Maintain eff. req. when beam is coupled
Intensity Noise	Consistent with CEP phase angle req	Consistent with CEP phase angle req	Consistent with CEP phase angle req	Consistent with CEP phase angle req
Pulse Shape	Flat-top super- Gaussian (m=?, flatness?)	Flat-top super- Gaussian (m=?, flatness?)	Flat-top super- Gaussian (m=?, flatness?)	Flat followed by ramp

 Table 2: Laser requirements for four DLA structures, with "goal" parameters for a future linear collider

#### 4.1.4.1 Laser Requirements for a DLA Based Collider

The laser requirements for four examples of DLA accelerator structures are presented in Table 2, with the goal, in parentheses, corresponding to requirements for a future linear collider consistent with beam parameters and pulse format outlined in Section 4.1.2.1. For the DLA application the pulse envelope is of order 1 picosecond. Thus carrier envelope phase locking (CEP) may not be required, although the optical phase of the base carrier wave needs to be locked to the phase of the accelerating electron beam. The nominal laser type will probably be a fiber laser because of its efficiency and robust, low maintenance operation. To achieve a uniform acceleration of the electron packet, a flat top super-Gaussian pulse in time will be used to maintain a constant electric field across the pulse. Fiber lasers at 1 micron wavelengths and hundreds of Watts of average power have already been demonstrated to be capable of meeting most of these parameter requirements and higher power (>1kW) mode-locked systems at longer wavelengths (e.g. 2 micron Thulium-doped lasers) are expected to be commercially available in the near future. Consequently, the current state of the art in laser systems is not far from what will eventually be required for large-scale accelerators based upon dielectric laser acceleration.

#### 4.1.4.2 State-of-the-Art in Fiber Lasers

To date only fiber laser systems truly offer the potential to attain the combination of reliability and efficiency that would be ultimately required to make a laser based particle accelerator. The beam quality of fiber lasers is typically superior compared to other lasers of similar power and pulse energy. High power fiber laser systems [31-33] leverage the waveguide properties of optical fiber in order to achieve exceptional wall plug efficiencies (>30%) and diffraction limited beam quality with high average output powers (>10kW). Pulsed fiber laser systems with pulse widths of a few nanoseconds are limited to around 4MW peak power in a single fiber waveguide due to self-focusing [34]. This limit has been attained with 1ns pulses and high quality beams with >4mJ output have been demonstrated from  $100\mu$ m-class core diameter fiber rods [35].

Ultrafast fiber lasers have demonstrated significant powers and pulse energies approaching the limits discussed with regards to nanosecond pulses above. Commercial fiber laser systems with up to  $50\mu$ J pulse energies and sub-picosecond pulses are currently available from a number of vendors [36]. Given the current rate of development, one could reasonably expect to see mJ-class commercial systems with sub-picosecond pulses available in the next 5 years.

Recent results for chirped pulse amplification (CPA) in fiber rods have demonstrated 11W of average power with 2.2mJ pulse energies and <500fs pulses [37]. Similar rods have been employed to amplify non-stretched pulses to the 1 $\mu$ J level [38]. Systems with a very small amount of chirp (<100ps) have been shown to achieve a few hundred nano-joules of pulse energy in <250fs pulses with excellent pulse fidelity [39]. Low energy pulses have been generated via CPA using chirped volume Bragg gratings (CVBG) and attained <200fs pulse width, which is a promising technology for significantly reducing the size of CPA systems [40].

At present, there are two common fiber lasers that operate in the wavelength region longer than the Yb:fiber laser at 1 micron. One is the ytterbium-erbium (Yb,Er) system at around 1550 nm, the other is the 2000-nm-region Tm-doped system. The system is limited to a maximum optical efficiency of 65%, though in practice due to losses in the

energy-transfer process the efficiency tends to fall in the 30-40% range. Tm-doped fibers are more promising, because it is possible to pump the Tm ions at around 800 nm, where efficient diodes are readily available. One can in theory obtain a pump-to laser efficiency of 82%. In practice, efficiencies in the 60-70% range have been obtained in multi-hundred-Watt lasers [41]. We could expect the wall-plug Tm:fiber laser efficiency to exceed 30% with careful attention paid to pump coupling and power supply efficiency.

#### 4.1.4.3 Baseline Design and Options

An outline of one possible baseline design for the DLA laser system for a TeV scale accelerator is shown in Fig. 3. The design is modular to enable easy scaling to the TeV level, with timing across a long accelerator as one of the significant technical challenges. This challenge would be somewhat reduced for a 100-1000 MeV application and the design should be directly applicable to those applications as well.



**Figure 3:** The laser system baseline design is shown. The red outlined boxes highlight the challenging portions of the system. A total of M local oscillators will be built and split N times, giving a total of M×N laser coupled accelerator structures.

The baseline design begins by producing a carrier (envelope) phase-locked oscillator with its repetition rate matched to a stable RF reference frequency source in the range of 100 MHz to 1 GHz, with 1 GHz being the target. This oscillator will serve as the clock for the accelerator. The global oscillator or clock will be distributed via optical fiber to local oscillators, which are phase-locked to the global oscillator. Each structure will require a phase control loop to allow for acceleration through successive structures. Both fast and slow control of the phase will be necessary. By monitoring the energy linewidth as well as the timing of the electron bunches, successful acceleration through the structures may be confirmed.

In order to get to the pulse energy necessary per structure for TeV scale acceleration (200 nJ to 10  $\mu$ J), the pulses will undergo chirped pulse amplification (CPA) [42]. The design discussed here uses dispersion control immediately following the power

amplifier. In this configuration, the dispersion controller—whether it is fiber [43], grating pairs [42], chirped mirrors [44], or chirped volume Bragg gratings [45]—will set the dispersion so that after passing through the remaining elements, the pulse will be compressed to the optimal pulse length in the accelerator structure.

The baseline design looks to be a manageable system, with the toughest challenges coming from the requirements for the oscillators, the power amplifier, and the delivery optics. In addition, it will be necessary to repeat the local system multiple times, with each local system phase-locked to the global oscillator.

#### 4.1.4.4 R&D Challenges and Opportunities

Power delivery and coupling to accelerator structures as well as timing issues are unique requirements for DLA. The DLA community should not expect or anticipate that these issues in particular will be solved or addressed by others and thus they are key areas for targeted R&D investments. The other areas such as kW power scaling of short pulses, compact stretchers and compressors and cost control have synergies with other laser applications. In these areas, coordination of efforts with other communities interested in development of short pulse fiber lasers would be beneficial to everyone from an overall cost perspective.

#### **Timing issues**

As the acceleration process of DLA is linear with the electric field, the optical phase must be well controlled. Poor synchronization would result in either a decrease of efficiency or an electron energy spreading or even defocusing. Frequency comb technologies can detect and control both the repetition rate of the delivered pulses and the carrier to envelop phase (CEP). The technology used to generate frequency combs in ultra-high finesse Fabry Perot cavities is able to control phase noise in the range 0.01 Hz to 100 KHz. Further stabilization will necessitate control systems operating above 100 KHz and requires important efforts in feedback loops electronics as well as ultrafast ultra low noise detectors. This is a special need for the DLA application but no fundamental obstacles are foreseen.

#### Short pulses at KW average power

Depending on the accelerating technology adopted, driving lasers should deliver femtosecond pulses (from 100 fs to 10 ps) with average powers ranging between few 10 W to 10 KW. For grating or resonant structures where wavelength is not restricted, Yb-doped fiber laser and amplifier technology at 1  $\mu$ m is rather close to fulfilling the requirements in terms of average power, pulse energy and duration. Thulium doped materials are probably the best candidates around 2  $\mu$ m, and average power in excess of 1 KW (CW operation) has been recently reported for Tm-doped fiber laser. Further research is needed to produce and amplify fs to ps pulses at such high average power in Tm-doped fibers, but this is a topic that other communities beyond DLA have an interest to solve as well.

#### Stretcher and compressor

Limiting the intensity during amplification in the fibers requires enlarging the fiber core and/or stretching the pulse in time before amplification and recompress it after in chirp pulse amplification (CPA) scheme. Dispersing optical devices are widely available at 1  $\mu$ m but do not exist at longer wavelength and therefore will require specific developments. Conventional gratings, chirped volume Bragg gratings, prisms or bulk materials are expected to offer workable solutions.

#### Power delivery and coupling

Once the laser beam is generated it must be propagated to the structures and efficiently coupled into it. One can either propagate the beam in free space or in wave guides like fibers, the latter fitting better with a monolithic architecture. Free space propagation presents no restrictions and will involve lenses, windows, mirrors and standard optical elements, whereas beam delivery in fibers might suffer from distortions. In fact, among the options, the required laser peak power can reach 100 MW (10  $\mu$ J in 100 fs) in the case of gratings and 1 MW or less for the others. Propagation of such pulses in any standard large mode area fiber will lead to pulse distortion due to excessive non-linear phase accumulation. It therefore implies that recompression of the pulses should take place at the output of the delivery fiber and just before coupling to the structure.

Coupling power into the structure efficiently is by far the biggest challenge to be addressed. Care must therefore be taken in the coupler design to avoid impedance mismatch, which would lead to localized regions of intense electric field. Initial results in simulating such couplers for the woodpile structure using silicon-on-insulator (SOI) waveguides indicate coupling efficiencies from the input waveguide to the accelerating mode close to 100% [46].

#### 4.1.4.5 Potential Game-Changers

Fiber lasers have had the fortunate advantage of constantly witnessing gamechanging developments. The development of ceramic gain media has resulted in a significant decrease in cost, compared to the traditional crystal gain media. Material engineering to increase the thermal conductivity of ceramic gain media is one foreseeable future game-changer that would result in a lower price-per-watt of laser power. Similarly, material engineering to increase the doping levels of ceramics would also be an avenue to high laser power, and a potential game-changer.

For the specific application of dielectric laser accelerators, the development of a longer-wavelength fiber laser source would be a major breakthrough. While efficient high-power fiber lasers at 1 micron have already been well developed, the practical limitation of nanofabrication (as well as laser-damage considerations for silicon) would dictate a preference to operate at a wavelength longer than 1.5 microns. Alternatively, improvements in lithography techniques (and material choices) would make current 1 micron fiber lasers a viable source and drastically change the focus of the laser development.

#### 4.1.4.6 Laser Technology Outlook

The laser requirements for dielectric laser accelerators (DLA) are challenging, but are believed to be attainable without the need for revolutionary advances beyond current state of the art. The main areas of development needed to achieve the laser requirements specified in Table 2 are timing accuracy and distribution (combined with phase sensing and feedback at the point light is coupled to the electron beam), power scaling of longer wavelength fiber lasers and beam transport and coupling to the accelerator structure. Pulse energies, pulse widths and repetition rates for the DLA applications are well within what has already been demonstrated to date by fiber laser technology. Further, fiber laser technology offers a compact, robust form factor that is naturally compatible with the demanding reliability requirements for an accelerator facility. The next efforts in fiber laser technology for DLA based systems are needed in  $2\mu$ m systems, timing control, laser beam transport, and power coupling to accelerator structures.

#### 4.1.5 Conclusion

The field of dielectric laser acceleration has broadened to include researchers in lasers, photonic structures, and the particle accelerator community. Over fifty individuals from four countries participated in this first ICFA Mini-workshop. An important outcome was that potential new collaborators met at this meeting and discussions for joint research began, including a new, international initiative in robust optical materials development

The Accelerator Applications group discussed the general DLA parameters for high energy colliders, compact X-ray sources, and also medical devices to treat cancer. Achieving anticipated DLA gradients of 0.3 to 1.0 GeV/m will revolutionize these applications in terms of compactness and reduced cost. The working group identified the low-energy micro-sources as one of the outstanding issues to be solved. Electron emitters capable of producing atto-second electron bunches with hundreds of fC per bunch are necessary for injecting particles into the accelerator. Studies are underway by at least four groups on nanotip emitters for DLA injector application. The most demanding DLA application is colliders where requirements on gradient, power efficiency, and luminously all must be satisfied. The key attribute of a DLA collider is that the beam power is obtained by accelerating low charge, low emittance bunches at high repetition rate. Small spots at the final focus can then be achieved and the repetition rate allows feedback to stabilize the beams. The low bunch charge reduces beamstrahlung and at multi-TeV energies this may be the only route that is sufficiently free of this background to be used for lepton colliders. DLA applications to compact Xray sources and medical devices will probably occur sooner than the more challenging collider. In both cases electron beams of order many MeV are needed and these can be generated on single monolithic wafers, vastly simplifying the sub-micron alignment issues. A measure of the perceived importance of compact X-ray sources is the recently awarded DARPA contracts to develop compact electron accelerators and photon generators for table top X-ray machines. Within four years the first single wafer DLA structures for this application will come out of this program and be ready for scaling up to higher energies.

The state of the art in photonics structures and laser systems are both encouraging. Several photonic structures have already been prototyped by different researchers, and

60 MeV electron beam tests of structures have begun at the SLAC laser acceleration facility. The beam tests are intended to directly measure the achievable acceleration gradients of prototype structures during the next 1-2 years. The Photonics group identified several areas for focused research including new fabrication techniques, damage resistant materials, and photonic power couplers. The expectation is that within 5-10 years photonics structures will be developed for applications like a portable X-ray sources and a compact 1 GeV DLA electron accelerator. The Laser group came to the important conclusion that the current state of the art in laser systems is not far from what will eventually be required for large-scale accelerators based upon dielectric laser acceleration. High peak power and high average power micron-scale fiber lasers are now available, and these are almost suitable for the DLA application. The group identified important research areas for the next five years including reliable control of repetition rate and carrier-to-envelope phase at MHz rates, short pulse, high average power lasers, and the interface between the laser and accelerator for power delivery and coupling. The structures and laser R&D are occurring in parallel paths with several groups addressing these different topics. Although significant investment remains, there is the potential for a tremendous return in the form of compact devices for high energy physics, X-ray sources, and medical applications with smaller space requirements and orders of magnitude in cost reduction.

#### 4.1.6 Acknowledgments

We thank the participants of the DLA2011 Workshop for their presentations and discussions which are summarized in this report. The workshop participants are: Eric Colby, R. Joel England, Benjamin Cowan, Rodney B. Yoder, Seth Foreman, Yen-Chieh Huang, Catherine Kealhofer, L.K. Len, Rosa Letizia, Chris McGuinness, C.K. Ng, Claudio Pellegrini, Tor Raubenheimer, Levi Schachter, Rebecca Seviour, James Spencer, David Sutter, Gil Travish, Greg Werner, Carl Bauer, Martin Fejer, Alan Fry, Charles Rudy, Mark Kasevich, John Byrd, Minghao Qi, Peter Bermel, Mike Messerly, David Stowe, Walter Mok, Jianyun Zhou, Esperanza Arab, Daniel Bennis, Michael Minot, Paul Pax, Edgar Peralta, Chia-Ming Chang, Ziran Wu, Ken Leedle, Domenico Pinto, Robert J. Noble, Patrick Lui, James Rosenzweig, Jay Dawson, Robert L. Byer, Peter Moulton, Konstantin Vodopyanov, Ken Soong, Edgar Peralta, Charles Rudy, Stephen Wolf, Eric Cormier, Igor Makasyuk, Martin Morf, Rodian Tikhoplav, Behnam Montazeri, James Harris, and Olav Solgaard.

We thank the organizers of DLA 2011 for putting together the workshop, SLAC for hosting it, and the U.S. Department of Energy for providing funding. We acknowledge support from Department of Energy contract DE-AC03-76SF00515, Tech-X Corporation (BMC) and the Defense Threat Reduction Agency (RBY) for the preparation of this report.

#### 4.1.7 References

- 1. T. Plettner, P.P. Lu, and R.L. Byer, "Proposed few-optical cycle laser-driven particle accelerator structure", Phys. Rev. ST Accel. Beams 9, 111301 (2006).
- 2. J. Zhou *et al*, "Fabrication of a prototype all-dielectric micro-accelerator", in Fourteenth Advanced Accelerator Concepts, Annapolis, MD, 2010, edited by G. Nusinovich and S. Gold (AIP 2010), pp. 433-438.

- 3. C.-K. Ng *et al*, "Transmission and radiation of an accelerating mode in a photonic band-gap fiber", Phys. Rev. ST Accel. Beams, **13**, 121301 (2010).
- 4. B. M. Cowan, "Three-dimensional dielectric photonic crystal structures for laser-driven acceleration "Phys. Rev. ST Accel. and Beams **11**, 011301 (2008).
- 5. B. C. Stuart et al, Phys. Rev. Lett. 74, 2244, (1995).
- 6. M. Thomson et al, Phys. Rev. Lett. 100, 214801, (2008).
- 7. R. H. Siemann. "Energy efficiency of laser driven, structure based accelerators," Phys. Rev. ST-AB **7**, 061303, 2004.
- 8. R. H. Siemann and A. Chao, "Transverse wakefield in a dielectric tube with frequency dependent dielectric constant", SLAC internal note ARDB-378.
- 9. A. Schino, NIM-PRA 598, 737 (2009).
- 10. T. Plettner and R.L. Byer, "Proposed dielectric-based microstructure laser-driven undulator", Phys. Rev. ST Accel. Beams **11**, 030704 (2008).
- 11. G. Travish and R.B. Yoder, "Laser-powered dielectric-structures for the production of high-brightness electron and x-ray beams", in Laser Acceleration of Electrons, Protons, and Ions; and Medical Applications of Laser-Generated Secondary Sources of Radiation and Particles, Prague, Czech Republic, 2011, edited by K. W. D. Ledingham *et al*, (SPIE, Bellingham, WA, 2011), Vol. 8079 of Proceedings of SPIE, p. 80790K.
- 12. J.D. Joannopoulos, S.G. Johnson, J.N. Winn, R.D. Meade, Photonic Crystals: Molding the Flow of Light, 2nd ed. (Princeton, Princeton, NJ, 2008).
- S.G. Johnson, M. Ibanescu, M. Skorobogatiy, O. Weisberg, T.d. Engeness, M. Soljacic, S.A. Jacobs, J.D. Joannopoulos, Y. Fink, Opt. Express 9, 748 (2001).
- 14. P.R. Villeneuve, S. Fan, and J.D. Joannopoulos, Phys. Rev. B 54, 7837 (1996).
- 15. S.Y. Lin, J.G. Fleming, D.L. Hetherington, B.K. Smith, R. Biswas, K.M. Ho, M.M. Sigalas, W. Zubrzycki, S.R. Kurtz, J. Bur, Nature **394**, 251 (1998).
- 16. S.G. Johnson, J.D. Joannopoulos, Appl. Phys. Lett. 77, 3490 (2000).
- 17. M. Qi, E. Lidorikis, P.T. Rakich, S.G. Johnson, J.D. Joannopoulos, E.P. Ippen, H.I. Smith, Nature **429**, 538 (2004).
- 18. X. E. Lin, Phys.Rev.ST-AB 4, 051301(2001).
- C. McGuinness, et al., "Fabrication and Measurements of a Silicon Woodpile Accelerator Structure," Proc. of 2011 Particle Accelerator Conference, New York, NY, p. 343.
- J. Spencer, et al., "Coupler Studies for PBG Fiber Accelerators," Proc. of 2011 Particle Accelerator Conference, New York, NY, p. 346.
- 21. E. A. Peralta, R. L. Byer, E. Colby, R. J. England, C. McGuinness, K. Soong, "Fabrication and Measurement of Dual Layer Silica Grating Structures for Direct Laser Acceleration," Proc. of 2011 Particle Accelerator Conference, New York, NY, p. 280.
- 22. T. Plettner, R. L. Byer, B. Montazeri, "Electromagnetic forces in the vacuum region of laser-driven layered grating structures," J. Mod. Opt. **58**, 1518 (2011).
- 23. K. Soong, E. A. Peralta, R. L. Byer, E. Colby, "Simulation Studies of the Dielectric Grating as Accelerating and Focusing Structure," Proc. of 2011 Particle Accelerator Conference, New York, NY, p. 292.
- 24. R.J. Noble, J.E. Spencer, and B. Kuhlmey, "Hollow-core photonic band gap fibers for particle acceleration", SLAC-PUB-14031 (2011), to appear in Phys. Rev. ST Accel. Beams.
- 25. B.M. Cowan, Phys. Rev. ST Accel. Beams 11, 011301 (2008).
- 26. C. McGuinness, E. Colby, R.J. England, J. Ng, R.J. Noble, E. Peralta, K. Soong, J. Spencer, D. Walz, R.L. Byer, SLAC Publication 14228, 1 (2011).
- 27. E. Arab, G. Travish, N. Vartanian, J. Xu, R. Yoder, Proc. Particle Accelerator Conf. 9, 4556 (2009).
- 28. M. Kruger, M. Schenk, and P. Hommelhoff, "Attosecond control of electrons emitted from a nanoscale metal tip", Nature **475**, 78 (2011).

- 29. P. Hommelhoff, C. Kealhofer, and M.A. Kasevich, "Ultrafast electron pulses from a tungsten tip triggered by low-power femtosecond laser pulses", Phys. Rev. Lett. **97**, 247402 (2006).
- 30. K. Soong, "The Supporting Cast Behind Particle Accelerators," talk delivered at 2011 SPRC Symposium, Stanford, CA (2011).
- V. Gapontsev, V. Fomin and A. Yusim, "Recent progress in scaling of high-power fiber lasers at IPG Photonics," 22nd Solid State and Diode Laser Technology Review Technical Digest, 29 June-2 July, 2009, pp. 142 (2009).
- 32. G.D. Goodno, L.D. Book and J.E. Rothenberg, "Low-phase-noise, single frequency, single-mode 608W thulium fiber amplifier," Optics Letters, **34**, pp. 1204-1206 (2009).
- D.J. Richardson, J. Nilsson and W.A. Clarkson, "High power fiber lasers: current status and future perspectives [Invited]," Journal of the Optical Society of America B 27, pp. B63-B92 (2010).
- 34. M.Y. Cheng, Y.C. Chang, A. Galvanauskas, P. Mamidpudi, R. Changkakoti and P. Gatchell, "High-energy and high-peak-power nanosecond pulse generation with beam quality control in 200-μm core highly multimode Yb-doped fiber amplifiers," Optics Letters **30**, pp. 358-360 (2005).
- 35. F. Di Teodoro, M.J. Hemmat, J. Morais and E.C. Cheung, "High peak power operation of a 100μm core, Yb-doped rod type photonic crystal fiber amplifier," Fiber Lasers VII: Technology, Systems, and Applications, Proc. Of SPIE, Vol. 7580, pp. 758006 (2010).
- 36. Raydiance (http://www.raydiance.com/ ), IMRA (http://www.imra.com/ ), Calmar (http://www.calmarlaser.com/ ), Polar Onyx (http://www.polaronyx.com/ ), Fianium (http://www.fianium.com/ ).
- 37. T. Eidam, J. Rothhardt, F. Stutzki, F. Jansen, S. Hadrich, H. Carstens, C. Jauregui, J. Limpert and A. Tunnermann, "Fiber chirped-pulse amplification system emitting 3.8GW peak power," Optics Express **19**, pp. 255 (2011).
- 38. Y. Zaouter, D.N. Papadopoulos, M. Hanna, J. Boullet, L. Huang, C. Aguergaray, F. Druon, E. Mottay, P. Georges and E. Cormier, "Stretcher-free high energy nonlinear amplification of femtosecond pulses in rod-type fibers," Optics Letters 33, pp. 107-110 (2008).
- J.W. Dawson, M.J. Messerly, H.H. Phan, J.K. Crane, R.J. Beach, C.W. Siders and C.P.J. Barty, "High-energy, short-pulse fiber injection lasers at Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory," IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics 15, pp. 207-219 (2009).
- 40. M. Rever, S. Huang, Yahus, V. Smirnov, E. Rotari, I. Cohanoshi, S. Mokhov, L. Glebov and A. Galvanauskas, "200 fs, 50W fiber-CPA system based on chirped volume Bragg gratings," CLEO/IQEC (2009).
- 41. P.F. Moulton, G.A. Rines, E. Slobodtchikov, K.F. Wall, G. Frith, B. Sampson and A. Carter, "Tm-doped fiber lasers: fundementals and power scaling," IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics 15, pp. 85 (2009).
- 42. P. Maine, D. Strickland, P. Bado, M. Pessot, and G. Mourou, "Generation of Ultrahigh Peak Power Pulses by Chirped Pulse Amplification," IEEE Journal of Quantum Electronics, vol. 24, 2 (1988).
- 43. A. Galvanauskas, M.E. Fermann, D. Harter, K. Sugden, and I. Bennion, "All-fiber femtosecond pulse amplification circuit using chirped Bragg gratings," Applied Physics Letters **66**, 1053 (1995).
- 44. R. Szipöcs, K. Ferencz, C. Spielmann, and F. Krausz, "Chirped multilayer coatings for broadband dispersion control in femtosecond lasers," Optics Letters **19**, 3 (1994).
- G. Chang, M. Rever, V. Smirnov, L. Glebov, and A. Galvanauskas, "Femtosecond Ybfiber chirped-pulse-amplification system based on chirped-volume Bragg gratings," Optics Letters 34, 19 (2009).

46. Z. Wu, C. Ng, C. McGuinness, E. Colby, "Design of On-Chip Power Transport and Coupling Components for a Silicon Woodpile Accelerator," Proc. of 2011 Particle Accelerator Conference, New York, NY, p. 241.

# 4.2 50<sup>th</sup> ICFA Advanced Beam Dynamics Workshop on Energy Recovery Linacs (ERL2011)

Horoshi Kawata, ERL Office, KEK, Japan Mail to: <u>hiroshi.kawata@kek.jp</u>

The 50th ICFA Advanced Beam Dynamics Workshop on Energy Recovery Linacs (ERL2011) was held on KEK, Tsukuba, Japan, from October 16 through October 21, 2011. Figure 1 shows a group photo with Dr. Atsuto Suzuki of director general of KEK.



Figure 1: Group photo of ERL2011.

Energy Recovery Linacs (ERLs) are emerging as a powerful new paradigm of electron accelerators as they hold the promise of delivering high average current beams while maintaining beam quality of linacs. Envisioned ERL applications include accelerators for the production of synchrotron radiation, free electron lasers, high-energy electron cooling devices and electron-ion colliders. The workshop is held every two years, providing discussion about the ERL technologies and also the applications. The discussion working groups were organized such as Working Group 1: Electron Sources, Working Group 2: Beam Dynamics, Working Group 3: Superconducting RF, Working Group 4: Instrumentation and Controls, and Working Group 5: Unwanted Beam Loss. All of the working groups were held in rather small meeting rooms (Fig.2) to realize easy free discussion to create new ideas about the technologies for ERL.


Figure 2: Working group discussion.

Figure 3: Plenary session.

The workshop was a success with 140 participations from 9 countries worldwide. The number of overseas participants are 61, including 26 (USA), 13 (Germany), 11 (China), 4 (UK), 3 (Russia), 2 (Switzerland), 1 (Korea), 1 (Slovenia). All of the presentation files have been presented in ERL2011 Indico-page of the Scientific grogram at ERL 2011 site:

http://erl2011.kek.jp/scientific\_program/index.html

Please visit the site to find the detail of the presentation. It is also possible to find many photos which were taken during the workshop at the ERL 2011 site, too: http://erl2011.kek.jp/

It was decided that the next ERL workshop would be held in BINP of Novosibirsk in 2013. Figure 4 show the presentation of the workshop bell from myself to Dr. G. Kulipanov of BINP (Budker Institute of Nuclear Physics) at the end of the workshop.



**Figure 4:** Presentation of the workshop bell from H. Kawata to G. Kulipanov of BINP, chair of ERL2013. Wavelength *vs.* angle and power *vs.* wavelength required for ionization of hydrogen atoms.

ERL2011 was organized by joint hosts of KEK and JAEA, under the aegis of JSSRR (The Japanese Society for Synchrotron Radiation Research) and PASJ (Particle Accelerator Society of Japan). The conference was funded mainly through registration

fees. Financial supports were received from Tsukuba City and Tsukuba EXPO'85 Memorial Foundation and also following Company exhibitors; Furukawa C&B Co., Ltd., Hamamatsu Photonics K.K., Hitachi, Ltd., Hitachi Zosen Corporation, KYOCERA Corporation, Mitsubishi Electric Corporation, Mitsubishi Electric TOKKI Systems Corporation, Mitsubishi Heavy Industries, Ltd., MTT Corporation, NICHICON CORPORATION, NIHON KOSHUHA Co., Ltd., R & K Company Limited., Seki Technotron Corp., SAES Getters S.p.A., Sun Instruments, Inc., TOSHIBA Corporation, Toshiba Power Systems Company, TOYAMA CO., LTD., TSUJI ELECTRONICS CO.,LTD., Vaclab Inc.

# 4.3 FFAG 2011

## Chris Prior, Rutherford Appleton Laboratory, UK Mail to: <u>chris.prior@stfc.ac.uk</u>

The latest in the series of annual workshops on fixed field alternating gradient accelerators, FFAG'11, was held in the United Kingdom during the week 11<sup>th</sup>-16<sup>th</sup> September 2011.

The structure saw the first two days devoted to a training school for students new to FFAG studies. The school took place at the Cockcroft Institute on the Daresbury Campus near Manchester, with lectures covering a range of topics including beam optics, magnets, rf, modelling and applications. The venue was chosen so that participants could learn about EMMA, the world's first non-scaling FFAG, currently at the commissioning phase. Students were taken on a tour of the machine and heard talks on the design principles and the physics programme.

Students and lecturers then travelled south to Oxford to join the main group of delegates for the workshop proper at Trinity College. The programme covered the whole gamut of FFAG topics, starting with status reports from the centres with operating machines. From the UK we heard about EMMA: the problems and successes, particularly in demonstrating for the first time the principle of "serpentine" (out of bucket) acceleration. The experimental programme was described, as well as plans for the immediate future. There was disappointment at the news that EMMA might be shutting down in the next 18 months because of the closing of the ALICE facility at Daresbury, whose linac serves as the injector. This decision has been based on both scientific and financial considerations.

From Japan, talks covered the status of FFAGs at KURRI, including the most recent results on an intensity upgrade for the existing facility through H<sup>-</sup> charge exchange injection. Future plans at KURRI involve a 1  $\mu$ A, 150 MeV, pulsed neutron source based on a 30 MeV linac and an FFAG, an ADSR experiment up to 700 MeV and development of the proton cancer therapy unit, possibly including BNCT. In addition, a new accelerator research centre is being established at Kyushu University, about 500 km south-west of Kyoto. A 150 MeV FFAG is being transferred from KEK, where it is no longer required, to form the foundation of the centre. The design is being developed with a timescale aimed at re-construction by 2014. This FFAG will be used to study a wide range of physics including earth, environmental and biological sciences, astronomy, unstable nuclei etc.

Other talks on the first day of the workshop covered theoretical advances in scaling and non-scaling FFAGs and some exotic ideas such as an FFAG in which the beam orbit moves vertically under acceleration.

The second day of the workshop was directed towards simulation and experiments. Studies of the EMMA experiments on correcting closed orbits, injection and extraction were described, together with work on resonance crossing. General simulation techniques were covered, including the use of field maps and high order terms, and the very special problems raised by having fixed fields and varying orbits were addressed. Several talks were aimed at high intensity proton FFAGs, in particular space charge effects. We heard about an FFAG design that could possibly be used as a new H<sup>-</sup> injector into the ISIS synchrotron, and about modelling an isochronous proton FFAG for ADSR. The afternoon closed with a special open session on the PRISM project, an FFAG-based experiment to study longitudinal phase space rotation of an intense muon beam. This provoked a lively discussion well into the evening.

The programme then moved into more practical aspects of FFAG designs – magnets, rf – and applications. There was a full session devoted to medical applications, with talks on the PAMELA study, recently completed at Oxford, on compact scaling hadron FFAGs, proton and carbon FFAGs for therapy, and ideas for superconducting gantry design.

The final morning was devoted to a discussion headed "Towards the Future". A list of proposals was presented for possible experiments that could be carried out on EMMA. With closure pending unless a new injector can be acquired, the more major suggestions would fall outside the likely lifetime of the machine, but a proposal to look at induction acceleration might be feasible and progress is being made on the hardware that would be required. An optimistic shopping list for future FFAG work in the UK might contain improvements and additions to the EMMA diagnostics, EMMA upgrades, PAMELA prototyping, PIP (a 6 MeV proton FFAG for neutron generation), FFAG studies for ADSR, and prototype FFAG medical gantries. The advantages of using FFAGs for high power proton acceleration were reviewed and the challenges that remained were identified. In the prevailing economic climate, if progress is to be made, the importance of international collaboration was stressed. This led nicely to a proposal put forward by Yoshi Mori (KURRI) that the ERIT-FFAG at Kyoto University would provide excellent opportunities for many of the most interesting studies. The ring has a mean radius of 2.35 m and, with large acceptances, would allow studies of emittance growth and collective effects caused by space charge. Ionisation cooling could be explored using its internal target, and the machine could be used as a proof-of-principle experiment for beta beam production (protons on a Beryllium target, deuterons on 'Li). It has available up to 250 kV of rf at 25 MHz, and an 11 MeV H<sup>-</sup> linac injector that would allow charge exchange injection studies. The meeting ended with agreement to pursue this suggestion further. Subsequently an international committee was set up comprising Y. Mori (KURRI), C. Johnstone (FNAL), C. Prior (RAL) and S. Machida (RAL, secretary) tasked with collecting proposals and coordinating an experimental programme.

About 40 people took part in the workshop, supplemented at intervals by special invited guests. Accommodation was in Trinity's Jackson Building, and a buffet lunch was provided each day in the College Dining Hall. On the Thursday evening, a reception was held in Trinity's Fellows' Garden followed by a candle-lit workshop banquet attended by participants and other guests.

During the meeting, the International FFAG Workshop Committee met to decide on future venues. It was agreed that FFAG'12 would be held at Osaka University (Chair, A. Sato) and dates were provisionally set for 11<sup>th</sup>-12<sup>th</sup> November for the FFAG school and 13<sup>th</sup>-16<sup>th</sup> November for the main workshop. FFAG'13 will be hosted by TRIUMF in Canada, subject to confirmation, and FFAG'14 is likely to be held at Brookhaven National Laboratory.

I should like to thank the Daresbury Laboratory and Trinity College for making available their excellent facilities and taking such good care of the participants. Special thanks are due to Sue Waller (workshop secretary) whose organisational skills and attention to detail ensured that everything ran smoothly. Sponsorship was provided by STFC/ASTeC, the Cockcroft Institute and the John Adams Accelerator Institute. And of course, thanks to all who attended, without whom the workshop could not have been a success.



# 4.4 International Workshop on Beam Cooling and Related Topics (COOL2011)

Igor Meshkov (JINR) and Markus Steck (GSI) Mail to: <u>meshkov@jinr.ru</u>

The traditional Workshop on Beam Cooling and Related Topics (COOL'11) was held in Alushta (Crimea, Ukraine) in September 11-16, 2011. COOL'11 was jointly hosted by the Joint Institute for Nuclear Research (Dubna, Moscow region) supported by the BINP SB RAS and the Scientific Council of RAS on charged particle accelerators. About 50 participants discussed new ideas and trends, new results and new technologies at facilities with the application of beam cooling - 9 reports, electron cooling - 22 reports, stochastic cooling - 9 reports, muon and (ionisation) frictional cooling - 4 reports, cooling and storage in traps - 2 reports, medical applications and laser cooling.

Among them were the new projects of facilities under development: NICA, FAIR, ELENA at CERN, Cryogenic Storage Ring at MPI, LEPTA at JINR, EI Collider at Jlab, eRHIC at BNL.

The five days meetings and a poster session included the discussions about novel ideas under development such as coherent electron cooling, frictional cooling and others. The participants presented the newest results of the investigations in the facilities and experiments with cooling all around the World: US - Tevatron (Fermilab), RHIC (BNL), EU - AD: ALPHA, ATRAP, ASACUSA (CERN), COSY (FZJ), ESR & SIS-18 (GSI), TSR (MPI), Japan - S-LSR (Kyoto University), China – CSRm and CSRe (IMP CAS), Russia - LEPTA (JINR).

On September 13 COOL a meeting of the PAC was organized. The main topic was the host laboratory for the next COOL. Two applications had been sent to Igor Meshkov (Co-Chairman of COOL'11): from CERN and FZ Juelich (Germany). 12 experts attended and 4 experts expressed their opinion by e-mails to I. Meshkov. By a close voting the result was: COOL in 2013 will be hosted by CERN at a venue either at Chamonix or Annecy (France).

At the PAC meeting the representative of Jefferson Lab (US) presented a proposal for hosting of the workshop COOL in 2015. The proposal was met by the PAC members with good acceptance. A final decision will be taken (as usually done before) at the COOL'13 Workshop.

# **5** Recent Doctoral Theses

# 5.1 High Current Proton Fixed-Field Alternating-Gradient Accelerator Designs

Sam Tygier, University of Manchester, M13 9PL, UK Mail to: <u>sam.tygier@hep.manchester.ac.uk</u>

## **Graduation date:** July 2012 **Supervisors:** Prof. Roger Barlow and Dr. Hywel Owen

#### Abstract:

To make energy production sustainable and reduce carbon dioxide emissions it is necessary to stop using fossil fuels as our primary energy source. The Accelerator Driven Subcritical Reactor (ADSR) could provide safe nuclear power. It uses thorium as fuel, which is more abundant than uranium, and produces less long lived waste. An ADSR uses neutron spallation, caused by a high power proton beam impacting a metal target, to drive and control the reaction.

The beam needs to have an energy of around 1 GeV and a current of 10 mA with a very high reliability, the combination of which is beyond the capabilities of existing particle accelerators. Cyclotrons and synchrotrons both have trouble producing such a beam, while a suitable linac would be several hundred meters long, and expensive. A

more compact accelerator design would allow multiple accelerators to be combined to improve reliability.

This thesis examines the use of a Fixed-Field Alternating-Gradient (FFAG) accelerator as the proton driver. FFAGs are compact, and can simultaneously achieve higher energies than a cyclotron at higher repetition rates than a synchrotron. However, it is still a challenge to reach the high currents required. A 35 to 400 MeV non-scaling FFAG was designed to demonstrate issues encountered at high currents.

Two methods were investigated in order to increase the number of particle bunches that could be simultaneously accelerated. One uses multiple solutions to the harmonic conditions for acceleration, and the second injects bunches after the acceleration has started. Neither was found to give significant practical improvement in current.

Space charge is a destructive force at high currents. Software was developed to simulate the effect of space charge in an FFAG using several models. Space charge tune shifts were measured for a range of energies and currents, and peak currents of above 1 A were found to be unstable. In order to provide 10 mA of average current, acceleration would need to occur in around 100 turns, which will require a very rapid RF sweep.

# 5.2 Novel FFAG Gantry and Transport Line Designs for Charged Particle Therapy

**Richard Fenning** 

School of Engineering and Design, Brunel Univ., Uxbridge, Middlesex, UB8 3PH, UK Mail to: <u>richardfenning@yahoo.co.uk</u>

**Graduation date:** February 2012 **Supervisors:** Dr. A. Khan and Dr. T. R. Edgecock

#### Abstract:

This thesis describes the design of novel magnetic lattices for the transport line and gantry for a proton therapy complex. The designs use non-scaling Fixed Field Alternating Gradient (ns-FFAG) magnets and were made as part of the PAMELA project. The main contributions are a design process for near-perfect FFAG dispersion suppression and the lattice designs for the FFAG transport line and gantry.

The primary challenge when designing an FFAG gantry is that particles with different momenta take up different lateral positions within the magnets. This dispersion causes problems at three points: the entrance to the gantry, which must be rotated without distortion of the beam; at the end of the gantry where reduced dispersion is required for entry to the scanning system; and a third of the way through the gantry, where a switch in curvature of the magnets is required. Due to their non-linear fields, dispersion suppression in conventional FFAGs is never perfect. However, as this thesis shows, a solution can be found through manipulation of the field components, meaning near-perfect dispersion suppression can be achieved using ns-FFAG magnets (albeit at a cost to the other optical parameters). Other challenges in the gantry lattice design, such as height and the control of the optics, are tackled and a final gantry design presented and discussed.

The starting point for the transport line is a straight FFAG lattice design. This is optimised and matched to a 45° bend. Fixed field solutions to the problem of extracting to the treatment room are discussed, but a time variable field solution is decided on for

practical and patient safety reasons. A matching scheme into the gantry room is then designed and presented.

# 6 Forthcoming Beam Dynamics Events

# 6.1 51<sup>st</sup> ICFA Advanced Beam Dynamics Workshop on Future Light sources (FLS2012)

Jefferson Laboratory invites you to attend the International Workshop on Future Light Sources in Newport News, Virginia, USA, on March 5-9, 2012, sponsored by the International Committee on Future Accelerators. ICFA sponsored a Workshop on Future Light Sources in 2006 at DESY and in 2010 a Workshop at SLAC. The continuing success of x ray FELs such as FLASH, LCLS, and SACLA drives the need to consider technologies appropriate to providing extended capabilities of XUV to x ray light sources for maximum user utilization.

The workshop is intended to discuss technologies appropriate for a next phase of photon user facilities providing high peak and average photon brightness focusing on the EUV to x ray region, especially CW machines. Intended to complement the ongoing series of ICFA Workshops on ERL technology this meeting will focus more on approaches utilizing FELs. Working sessions will be devoted to Storage ring-based light sources, ERL-based light sources, FEL-based light sources, Electron sources, Undulators, Timing and electron and photon diagnostics, Compact light sources (Compton backscattering sources, laser plasma wakefield sources, etc.), Experimental beamline needs, and Science needs for future light sources.

Attendance will be open but limited to approximately 160 scientists.

Jefferson Lab is served by three nearby airports and is only a 2.5 hour drive from Washington, DC. We will utilize on-site facilities for plenary and side meetings and thereby keep the registration cost low. Many nearby hotels are available at modest cost as well as our own on-site Guest House.

Principal Organizers are Swapan Chattopadhyay, George R. Neil and Gwyn P Williams.

In a correction to the previous notice, proceedings will be issued consisting of all oral papers. Papers will be submitted at the conference in camera-ready form complying to JACOW format. See <u>www.jacow.org</u> for author information and templates. The website is now open. For more information see

http://conferences.jlab.org/FLS2012/index.html

# 6.2 52<sup>nd</sup> ICFA Advanced Beam Dynamics Workshop on High Intensity and High Brightness Hadron Beams (HB2012)

The 52<sup>nd</sup> ICFA Advanced Beam Dynamics Workshop on High-Intensity and High-Brightness Hadron Beams, HB2012, will be held in Beijing from September 17 to 21, 2012. This workshop is a continuation of the successful biennial HB workshop series started about ten years ago (2002 at Fermilab, 2004 at GSI, 2006 at KEK, 2008 at ORNL and 2010 at PSI). HB workshop series is a platform for presenting and discussing new progresses, status and future developments of high intensity and high brightness hadron beams, including beam physics, linear and circular hadron machines, technical systems and accelerator projects (under construction or in design) around the world.

The workshop web site is:

http://hb2012.ihep.ac.cn

We look forward to your contribution and active participation in making HB2012 both a stimulating and memorable workshop.

Co-Chairs of HB2012:

Jiuqing Wang (IHEP), <u>wangjq@ihep.ac.cn</u> Jingyu Tang (IHEP), <u>tangjy@ihep.ac.cn</u>

# 6.3 XXIII Russian Particle Accelerator Conference (RuPAC2012)

The XXIII Russian Particle Accelerator Conference (RuPAC-2012) will be held in Peterhof, St. Petersburg (Russia) from 24 to 28 September, 2012. The Conference is organized by Russian Academy of Sciences, Scientific Council of RAS on charged particle accelerators, State Atomic Energy Corporation ROSATOM, St. Petersburg State University and the D.V. Efremov Scientific Research Institute of Electrophysical Apparatus (NIIEFA, St. Petersburg) with the assistance of Joint Institute for Nuclear Research (JINR, Dubna), Budker Institute of Nuclear Physics (BINP, Novosibirsk) and Russian Foundation for Fundamental Research.

The goal of the event is to facilitate information interchange and discussion of various aspects of accelerator science and technology, beam physics, new accelerator development, upgrade of existing facilities, and use of accelerators for basic and applied research.

The working languages of RuPAC-2012 are both Russian and English. The Conference proceedings will be published and presented at JACoW in English only.

The Scientific secretary of the RuPAC-2012 Organizing Committee: Elena Kotina (<u>rupac2012@apmath.spbu.ru</u>).

The secretary of the RuPAC-2012 Program Committee: Ekaterina Akhmanova (ahmanova@jinr.ru).

Abstracts submission via JACoW SPMS at:

http://oraweb.cern.ch/pls/rupac2012/profile.html .

JACoW responsible person: Maksim Kuzin (kuzin@inp.nsk.su).

The Organizing Teams of RuPAC-2012 look forward to welcoming you to the conference. For further information about the program and how to register, see <a href="http://www.apmath.spbu.ru/rupac2012/">http://www.apmath.spbu.ru/rupac2012/</a>

# 6.4 15<sup>th</sup> Beam Instrumentation Workshop (BIW2012)

The organizers would like to welcome you to the 15th biennial Beam Instrumentation Workshop (BIW12), to be held in Newport News, Virginia, April 15-19 2012. This workshop is dedicated to exploring the physics and engineering challenges of beam diagnostics and measurement techniques for charged particle accelerators. BIW12 is being hosted by Thomas Jefferson National Accelerator Facility. The meeting program will include tutorials on selected topics, invited and contributed talks, as well as plenary and poster sessions and vendor exhibits. The recipient of the 2012 Faraday Cup Award, sponsored by Bergoz Instrumentation, Inc., will also be announced.

The conference website is <u>http://www.jlab.org/conferences/BIW12</u>, and includes program information, abstract submission, and registration links. Abstract submission is now open on the following topics:

- Beam charge and current monitors
- Beam loss detection
- Beam position monitoring
- Data acquisition technologies
- Feedback and beam stability
- Longitudinal diagnostics and synchronization
- Overview and commissioning of facilities
- Transverse profiles, screens, and wires
- Transverse and longitudinal emittance measurements
- Tune monitors and measurements

The workshop dinner will be held at the Virginia Living Museum (<u>http://www.thevlm.org/</u>) on Wednesday April 18, and your banquet ticket will include admission to this lovely museum with elements of a native wildlife park, science museum, aquarium, botanical preserve and planetarium. There will be an OPTIONAL guided tour of the Mariner's Museum (<u>http://www.marinersmuseum.org</u>) at 10:00 AM Friday, April 20 following the conference.

### Please Plan to Attend – Registration is now Open

We hope that you enjoy the workshop, and find it intellectually stimulating. If there is anything we can do to make your conference experience and stay in Newport News, Virginia more enjoyable, just ask us at <u>BIW12\_admin@jlab.org</u>.

Kevin Jordan BIW 2012 Workshop Chair for the BIW 2012 International Program Committee

# 7 Announcements of the Beam Dynamics Panel

# 7.1 ICFA Beam Dynamics Newsletter

#### 7.1.1 Aim of the Newsletter

The ICFA Beam Dynamics Newsletter is intended as a channel for describing unsolved problems and highlighting important ongoing works, and not as a substitute for journal articles and conference proceedings that usually describe completed work. It is published by the ICFA Beam Dynamics Panel, one of whose missions is to encourage international collaboration in beam dynamics.

Normally it is published every April, August and December. The deadlines are 15 March, 15 July and 15 November, respectively.

### 7.1.2 Categories of Articles

The categories of articles in the newsletter are the following:

- 1. Announcements from the panel.
- 2. Reports of beam dynamics activity of a group.
- 3. Reports on workshops, meetings and other events related to beam dynamics.
- 4. Announcements of future beam dynamics-related international workshops and meetings.
- 5. Those who want to use newsletter to announce their workshops are welcome to do so. Articles should typically fit within half a page and include descriptions of the subject, date, place, Web site and other contact information.
- 6. Review of beam dynamics problems: This is a place to bring attention to unsolved problems and should not be used to report completed work. Clear and short highlights on the problem are encouraged.
- 7. Letters to the editor: a forum open to everyone. Anybody can express his/her opinion on the beam dynamics and related activities, by sending it to one of the editors. The editors reserve the right to reject contributions they judge to be inappropriate, although they have rarely had cause to do so.

The editors may request an article following a recommendation by panel members. However anyone who wishes to submit an article is strongly encouraged to contact any Beam Dynamics Panel member before starting to write.

## 7.1.3 How to Prepare a Manuscript

Before starting to write, authors should download the template in Microsoft Word

format from the Beam Dynamics Panel web site:

#### http://www-bd.fnal.gov/icfabd/news.html

It will be much easier to guarantee acceptance of the article if the template is used and the instructions included in it are respected. The template and instructions are expected to evolve with time so please make sure always to use the latest versions.

The final Microsoft Word file should be sent to one of the editors, preferably the issue editor, by email.

The editors regret that LaTeX files can no longer be accepted: a majority of contributors now prefer Word and we simply do not have the resources to make the conversions that would be needed. Contributions received in LaTeX will now be returned to the authors for re-formatting.

In cases where an article is composed entirely of straightforward prose (no equations, figures, tables, special symbols, etc.) contributions received in the form of plain text files may be accepted at the discretion of the issue editor.

Each article should include the title, authors' names, affiliations and e-mail addresses.

## 7.1.4 Distribution

A complete archive of issues of this newsletter from 1995 to the latest issue is available at

http://icfa-usa.jlab.org/archive/newsletter.shtml.

This is now intended as the primary method of distribution of the newsletter.

Readers are encouraged to sign-up for electronic mailing list to ensure that they will hear immediately when a new issue is published.

The Panel's Web site provides access to the Newsletters, information about future and past workshops, and other information useful to accelerator physicists. There are links to pages of information of local interest for each of the three ICFA areas.

Printed copies of the ICFA Beam Dynamics Newsletters are also distributed (generally some time after the Web edition appears) through the following distributors:

Weiren Chou	<u>ch</u>
Rainer Wanzenberg	rai
Susumu Kamada	<u>Su</u>

<u>chou@fnal.gov</u> rainer.wanzenberg@desy.de Susumu.Kamada@kek.jp North and South Americas Europe<sup>++</sup> and Africa Asia<sup>\*\*</sup> and Pacific

++ Including former Soviet Union.

\* For Mainland China, Jiu-Qing Wang (wangjq@mail.ihep.ac.cn) takes care of the distribution with Ms. Su Ping, Secretariat of PASC, P.O. Box 918, Beijing 100039, China.

To keep costs down (remember that the Panel has no budget of its own) readers are encouraged to use the Web as much as possible. In particular, if you receive a paper copy that you no longer require, please inform the appropriate distributor.

## 7.1.5 Regular Correspondents

The Beam Dynamics Newsletter particularly encourages contributions from smaller

institutions and countries where the accelerator physics community is small. Since it is impossible for the editors and panel members to survey all beam dynamics activity worldwide, we have some Regular Correspondents. They are expected to find interesting activities and appropriate persons to report them and/or report them by themselves. We hope that we will have a "compact and complete" list covering all over the world eventually. The present Regular Correspondents are as follows:

Liu Lin Sameen Ahmed Khan Jacob Rodnizki Rohan Dowd Liu@ns.lnls.br Rohelakan@yahoo.com Jacob.Rodnizki@gmail.com Rohan.Dowd@synchrotron.org.au

LNLS Brazil SCOT, Oman Soreq NRC, Israel Australian Synchrotron

We are calling for more volunteers as Regular Correspondents.

Name	eMail	Institution
Rick Baartman	baartman@lin12.triumf.ca	TRIUMF, 4004 Wesbrook Mall, Vancouver, BC, V6T 2A3, Canada
Marica Biagini	marica.biagini@lnf.infn.it	LNF-INFN, Via E. Fermi 40, C.P. 13, Frascati, Italy
John Byrd	jmbyrd@lbl.gov	Center for Beam Physics, LBL, 1 Cyclotron Road, Berkeley, CA 94720-8211, U.S.A.
Yunhai Cai	yunhai@slac.stanford.edu	SLAC, 2575 Sand Hill Road, MS 26 Menlo Park, CA 94025, U.S.A.
Swapan Chattopadhyay	swapan@cockroft.ac.uk	The Cockcroft Institute, Daresbury, Warrington WA4 4AD, U.K.
Weiren Chou (Chair)	<u>chou@fnal.gov</u>	Fermilab, MS 220, P.O. Box 500, Batavia, IL 60510, U.S.A.
Wolfram Fischer	wfischer@bnl.gov	Brookhaven National Laboratory, Bldg. 911B, Upton, NY 11973, U.S.A.
Yoshihiro Funakoshi	yoshihiro.funakoshi@kek.jp	KEK, 1-1 Oho, Tsukuba-shi, Ibaraki-ken, 305-0801, Japan
Jie Gao	gaoj@ihep.ac.cn	Institute for High Energy Physics, P.O. Box 918, Beijing 100039, China
Ajay Ghodke	ghodke@cat.ernet.in	RRCAT, ADL Bldg. Indore, Madhya Pradesh, 452 013, India
Ingo Hofmann	i.hofmann@gsi.de	High Current Beam Physics, GSI Darmstadt, Planckstr. 1, 64291 Darmstadt, Germany
Sergei Ivanov	sergey.ivanov@ihep.ru	Institute for High Energy Physics, Protvino, Moscow Region, 142281 Russia
In Soo Ko	isko@postech.ac.kr	Pohang Accelerator Lab, San 31, Hyoja-Dong, Pohang 790-784, South Korea
Elias Metral	elias.metral@cern.ch	CERN, CH-1211, Geneva 23, Switzerland
Yoshiharu Mori	mori@rri.kyoto-u.ac.jp	Research Reactor Inst., Kyoto Univ. Kumatori, Osaka, 590-0494, Japan
George Neil	neil@jlab.org	TJNAF, 12000 Jefferson Ave., Suite 21, Newport News, VA 23606, U.S.A.
Toshiyuki Okugi	toshiyuki.okugi@kek.jp	KEK, 1-1 Oho, Tsukuba-shi, Ibaraki-ken, 305-0801, Japan
Mark Palmer	mark.palmer@cornell.edu	Wilson Laboratory, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY 14853-8001, USA
Chris Prior	c.r.prior@rl.ac.uk	ASTeC Intense Beams Group, STFC RAL, Chilton, Didcot, Oxon OX11 0QX, U.K.
Yuri Shatunov	Yu.M.Shatunov@inp.nsk.su	Acad. Lavrentiev, Prospect 11, 630090 Novosibirsk, Russia
Jiu-Qing Wang	wangjq@ihep.ac.cn	Institute for High Energy Physics, P.O. Box 918, 9-1, Beijing 100039, China
Rainer Wanzenberg	rainer.wanzenberg@desy.de	DESY, Notkestrasse 85, 22603 Hamburg, Germany

7.2 ICFA Beam Dynamics Panel Members

The views expressed in this newsletter do not necessarily coincide with those of the editors. The individual authors are responsible for their text.